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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIREHRESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
"Directors”) of Greater China Financial Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would
like to present the financial results of our Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The pandemic continued to impact the global economy, and
China was no exception. Although we saw recovery in some
areas, the ongoing nature of the pandemic coupled with the
emergence of new variants led to fluctuating market conditions,
creating uncertainty and hindering the stable growth of the
market as a whole.

Despite the difficult operating environment, we have remained
committed to taking strategic steps to enhance our capabilities
and diversify our direction to better serve our customers. We
have also committed to manage our risks prudently. However,
the challenging economic environment and the impact of the
pandemic have resulted in an unexpected increase in impairment
losses, which has affected our financial performance.

We are taking several measures to mitigate the impact of these
losses, including tightening our credit policy and improving our
risk management framework. We understand that this situation
may be challenging, and we want to assure you that we are
taking the necessary steps to address the difficulties we face.
We remain optimistic about the long-term prospects for our
business and are committed to delivering value to our clients and
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
business partners and clients for their continued support and |
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would also like to express my gratitude to our management team ~ T ¥ AREBEEHAE B -
and staff for their contribution to the Group.
Liu Kequan FE
Chairman ZmR
Hong Kong BB
Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEESNWmE D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding, industrial
property development and loan financing operations including
the provision of loan financing, financial guarantee services,
loan referral and consultancy services. The segment revenue
and results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
("FY2022") are stated in the table below:

X 1% B R I R =
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For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-—A=+—HLEE

BEE
AIRTS) - REERE

2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Segment Revenue from: REUTEEZZEEA:
Industrial property development TERAYMFERRE 17,308 13,656
General trading —RES - -
Loan financing | (Note 1) EXREE (M) 109,166 185,524
Loan financing Il (Note 2) EXEEN (MEE2) 65,699 76,861
Others HA 9,778 8,826
201,951 284,867
Segment (loss) profit from: REUTREZSE (BE)EF:
Industrial property development TERAYMEERRE 1,254 (4,716)
General trading —RES (22,260) (354)
Loan financing | (Note 1) EXREE (M) (76,454) (128,150)
Loan financing Il (Note 2) EXREEN (MsE2) (60,715) (82,856)
Others HA (2,887) (3,199)
(161,062) (219,275)
Note 1:  Loan financing | represents the provision of loan financing, Bt BER@EEEESRIRREERRE -
financial guarantees, loan referral and consultancy services in BMEER BREN NEHRG -
Hong Kong and Beijing.
Note 2:  Loan financing Il represents the provision of micro-financing,  A7it2 - EBEXRBBIEERRIEHRNEER EXN

loan referral and consultancy services in Ningbo.

L)\ &EEI u/jﬂ&ﬁ&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Industrial Property Development

Revenue from the segment mainly represents warehouse storage
income generated from warehouse operation. The Group's
warehouse is located in Taicang, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.
It is divided into six units and the total area is approximately
48,600 square meters. Revenue from the warehouse operation
recorded an increase of HK$3,652,000 from approximately
HK$13,656,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
("FY2021") to approximately HK$17,308,000 for FY2022,
resulting in a segment profit of approximately HK$1,254,000 for
FY2022 (FY2021: segment loss of approximately HK$4,716,000).
The average occupancy rate of the Group's warehouse during
FY2022 was approximately 98.6% and was primarily used as
storage of small electric and non-electric power tools.

The Group's warehouse operation maintained high percentage of
occupancy rate during FY2022 due to the advantageous location
of its warehouse and long term relationship with the tenants.
The Group's management anticipates that the Group's warehouse
occupancy can maintain at a rate of over 95% for the year of
2023.

General Trading

The Group confronted difficulties in the operation of liquor
trading and no sales revenue was generated during FY2022.
The segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$22,260,000
for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$354,000) due to the
impairment loss of deposit paid.

Loan Financing |

The Group’s loan financing | services comprise the provision
of loan financing, financial guarantees, loan referral and
consultancy services in Hong Kong and Beijing. Revenue from
the segment for FY2022 was approximately HK$109,166,000
(FY2021: approximately HK$185,524,000), resulted in a segment
loss of approximately HK$76,454,000 (FY2021: approximately
HK$128,150,000). The segment loss is mainly a result of the
decrease in segment revenue as the economy in the PRC
continued to slow down and the provision for financial guarantee
as the financial status of the asset partners (the “Asset Partners”)
to which financial guarantee has been provided continued to
deteriorate.

THERAMERRE

DM IBMATBIEEEEBEACEERF
BWA-AEBZEEMRPETHE KR
M- ®E9AENEEET 2HEEL 548,600F
Ko BBHNEEEKWARBEZE_TS=-_—F
+ZA=+—BHLFE(ZE=_—8F)2
#713,656,000/% JT i 513,652,000 T E = F
T ZEE 417,308,000 T B T - =
B F 818 7 2B %% F 491,254,000 0 (=&
——BFEBES1E 494,716,000 L) c B =
T AEEEECFHEEAXRAEY
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RZBE-_WF rEEREEBRFRS M
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T _WFAENEREREEEmMESEE
#922,260,000/8 7 ( —Z — —BF 4 : £9354,000
EIT) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loan Financing Business in Beijing

In the first half of 2022, with the rapid change of the COVID-19
pandemic situation, most provinces in the PRC, especially
the Yangtze River Delta region, were severely affected by the
pandemic, impacting the steady economic recovery of China.
Currently, medium and micro sized enterprises and individuals
are still the economic drivers of domestic consumption and
capital investment recovery. Witnessing the rapid development
of the increasing emerging e-commerce consumption brands,
the Group expects that these new consumption brands would
have huge development potential. The Group will empower the
emerging e-commerce brands relying on its resources strength
and flexible cooperation model. Also, the Group will continue to
broaden the cooperation industries, optimize its business model,
and improve risk control strategies as time changes to grasp the
financing needs of emerging customers and provide them with
better service.

People get used to working at home, living at home and
shopping online in the post-pandemic era, during which time,
online shopping based on live-stream platforms has emerged
strongly outperformed other industries. The live commerce sector
is currently dominated by excellent performance of Tik Tok, a
mobile application managed by ByteDance Ltd. (“ByteDance”).
The Group's Beijing team keeps pace with the times to seize the
opportunity of live commerce by combining the guarantee license
and factoring license business, and cooperates with several live
bases jointly funded by governments and certain flow providers
under ByteDance to optimise business model and improve its
capability of risk management. It provides e-commerce operators
with channels to conducting live commerce at the platform
of Tik Tok with comprehensive supply chain related financial
services under multiple models, such as factoring and guarantee,
factoring transfer and traffic attraction.

The impairment loss resulted in the segment will be further
discussed under the heading “Significant Impairment”.

Loan Financing Business in Hong Kong

The Group’s loan financing operation in Hong Kong is mainly the
provision of mortgage loan. There was no new loan drawdown
during FY2022, and no outstanding loan as at 31 December
2022. The Group will continue to implement a prudent strategy
with stringent internal loan management system in the loan
financing operation in Hong Kong to identify suitable high net
worth customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Loan Financing Il

The Group’s loan financing Il services comprise the provision
of micro-financing, loan referral and consultancy services in
Ningbo, the PRC. Revenue from the segment for FY2022
was approximately HK$65,699,000 (FY2021: approximately
HK$76,861,000), resulted in a segment loss of approximately
HK$60,715,000 (FY2021: approximately HK$82,856,000).

The segment loss was mainly due to the impairment loss on
other receivables recognised for FY2022 as the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic during year affected some of our customers.
The relevant impairment of the segment will be further discussed
under the heading “Significant Impairment”.

The acquisition of Xin Yunlian Investment Limited (“Xin Yunlian™)
and its subsidiaries and associated company (collectively, the
“Xin Yunlian Group”) was completed on 31 July 2020. The
major activities of the Xin Yunlian Group are the operation of an
e-commerce platform, provision of financial services (including
micro-financing and loan referral operations), and advertising
business. All operations are targeted to the 5.6 million tobacco
retailers in the PRC. As at 31 December 2022, there were
approximately 4.8 million tobacco retailers registered on the
e-commence platform of the Xin Yunlian Group. The above
acquisitions have created synergies, as the Group leveraged its
knowledge, expertise, experience and financial resources in the
loan financing business in China to guide and enable the Xin
Yunlian Group to provide loan financing business for tobacco
retailers. The combined network of client base and financial
institutions covered by the Group is expected to form a stronger
platform for cross selling and achieve growth in the loan referral
business and the small and micro enterprises finance business. In
addition, the profit guarantee of not less than RMB153 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$168 million) for the five years
ending 31 December 2024 will also provide a positive impact on
the financial position of the Group as a whole in the years ahead.

EREEN

AEEMNEFREIREBIER B KRG
NEER BERENEABRARE =8
FRBEZ DI 2 WAL £65,699,0008 7T (=
T —BfF:476,861,00087C) r MEL 2
o 20 E5 18 49 560,715,000 T (Z T = —§f
F 1 #982,856,000/8 7T ) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Model

W ERSRESRS ONI) B R A F (Wangxin Xin
Yunlian Financial Information Service (Zhejiang) Company
Limited™, “Xin Yunlian Financial”) is the exclusive financial service
provider of FIEF B E F B B R A A (Zhongyan Xin
Shangmeng E-commerce Limited*, “Zhongyan E-commerce”).
Xin Yunlian Financial is a wholly-owned subsidiary of /T #T
EHZ R B R A 7 (Zhejiang Xin Yunlian Cloud Technology
Company Limited*), which is indirectly controlled as to 51%
by Xin Yunlian. Zhongyan E-commerce is owned as to 49% by
AT EH S FRHE B R A A (Zhejiang Xin Yunlian Digital
Technology Company Limited*), which is owned as to 51%
by Xin Yunlian. Zhongyan E-commerce shares its e-commerce
platforms with Xin Yunlian Financial to publish notices and
advertisements to over 4.8 million registered tobacco retailers
in the PRC. In addition, Xin Yunlian Financial also uses the
official accounts, other new media platforms as well as through
tobacco monopoly administration at province and city levels to
promote their services to the customers. With the authorization
of registered users of the e-commerce platform, Xin Yunlian
Financial can access the readily available customer database. The
Group also provides financial service to qualified tobacco retailers
in need that are identified through telephone marketing or site
visiting.

The services provided by Xin Yunlian Financial include the referral
of potential borrowers for loan services to financial institutions
with a focus on retailers licensed to distribute tobacco products
in the PRC. Considering the financial needs of tobacco retailers in
making tobacco orders, store improvement and other operating
matters, Xin Yunlian Financial has launched a tobacco credit loan
service, through which the tobacco retailers can apply for credit
loan on-line with their tobacco retail license. Target clients can
directly contact Xin Yunlian Financial through the e-commerce
platform, WeChat official account, customer service hotline and
Xin Yunlian Financial mobile application to inquire about loan
services.

*  For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M}EJE“-J' &73 *ﬁ'

After a review of the funding needs of potential borrowers
and a preliminary assessment of their credit profile, Xin Yunlian
Financial will refer the potential borrowers to appropriate banks
for suitable financial products. The banks in cooperation with Xin
Yunlian Financial will, based on their respective concerns, mitigate
credit risks in further by assessing such potential borrowers. For
the customers passing risk assessment, those banks will remit
loans to the account designated by the borrowers. Since credit
risk is the main risk inherent in the financial services business,
with the support of the e-commerce platform which allows
Xin Yunlian Financial to assess the tobacco retailers based on
actual and verifiable transactions, Xin Yunlian Financial is able
to effectively manage and supervise the credit risk of potential
borrowers to be referred by them to financial institutions.

In terms of loan transactions through referral, Xin Yunlian
Financial, as an intermediary agency, will charge the banks or
borrowers referral fees.

During FY2022, Xin Yunlian Financial continued to cooperate
with regional banks in the PRC to provide funding to the
potential borrowers. The loan products are mainly one-year credit
loan and repayable by instalment. The interest rate ranges from
6.5% to 24% per annum depending on the credit assessment of
each individual borrower. A referral fee of approximately 3% is
charged by Xin Yunlian Financial depending on the terms of the
banks.

From a regional perspective, the top ten provinces with the
largest business scale are Guangdong Province, Hunan Province,
Sichuan Province, Yunnan Province, Henan Province, Shaanxi
Province, Hebei Province, Shandong Province, Jiangsu Province
and Guizhou Province.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Policy

The 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China
proposed the Second Centenary Goal on the new journey of
the new era. The report specifies the call to: “accelerate the
development of the digital economy, further integrate it with
the real economy, and build internationally competitive digital
industry clusters”, and highlights that: “We must fully and
faithfully apply the new development philosophy on all fronts,
continue reforms to develop the socialist market economy,
promote high-standard opening up, and accelerate efforts to
foster a new pattern of development that is focused on the
domestic economy and features positive interplay between
domestic and international economic flows. We will modernize
the industrial system, and in pursuing economic growth, we
must continue to focus on the real economy.” In the Party’s
20th National Congress Report Counseling Reader ( (E &)
T+ RI|EHEFEAK) ), the article titled “Strengthening and
Refining Modern Financial Regulation” emphasizes proposals to
deepen the supply-side structural reform of financial services. It
is necessary to comprehensively strengthen the financial ability
to serve the real economy, and resolutely curb the shift from
the substantial to fictitious, and improve the inclusive financial
system, supply improved financial services for small and micro
enterprises and “agriculture, rural areas and farmers”, enhance
the level of financial services for new citizens, and consolidate
and expand our achievements in financial poverty alleviation.
The People’s Bank of China issued the Notice of Promoting the
Establishment of a Long-term Mechanism for Boosting Financial
Sector’s Confidence, Willingness, Capability, and Expertise in
Lending to Micro and Small Enterprises ( (B A HEBN 7 & @8

2022, which proposes to strive to improve financial institutions’
willingness, ability and sustainability of serving small and micro-
sized enterprises, accelerate the establishment of a long-term
mechanism, strike a balance among increasing the availability of
credits, optimizing credit structure and preventing and controlling
credit risks, advance efforts to increase the quantity, expand
the coverage and reduce the cost of financing for small and
micro-sized enterprise, support the bailout and development of
small and micro businesses, stabilize the macro economy, and
contribute to the high-quality economic development. The report
states that we must ensure and improve the people’s wellbeing
in the course of pursuing development and encourage everyone
to work hard together to meet the people’s aspirations for a
better life. The tobacco industry is part and parcel of the real
economy. Tobacco retailers, as the “minimum” retail unit, are the
“capillaries” that ensure and improve public wellbeing, and the
basic terminal to satisfy the people's aspirations for a better life,
and play an important role in promoting sustainable economic
and social development.

BEEEN WK DT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Guided by the promotion of the integrated development of the
real economy and the digital economy, Zhongyan E-commerce
and Xin Yunlian Financial will be dedicated to consistent
innovation in financial technology, and focus on tobacco retailers
as vertical service scenarios, to achieve digital empowerment
and product technology innovation in a way that creates
leading digital solutions; while working closely with various
banking institutions to further strengthen product development,
consolidate the leading position in the financial sector of the
tobacco industry, and join hands with various banking institutions
to practice inclusive finance, promote common prosperity and
support the high-quality development of the real economy.

For the micro-financing operation, as at 31 December 2022,
loans and interest receivables of the Group was approximately
HK$337,380,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$342,298,000) with interest rates ranging from 5% to 22%
(31 December 2021: 5% to 24%) per annum.

Others

Others segment represents the operation of securities brokerage,
margin financing, provision of asset management services,
provision of insurance brokerage and agency service in Hong
Kong and advertising service in the PRC. Revenue from the
segment for FY2022 was approximately HK$9,778,000
(FY2021: approximately HK$8,826,000), resulted in a segment
loss of approximately HK$2,887,000 (FY2021: approximately
HK$3,199,000). In the future, the Group will continue to
implement strict cost control measures to increase the return on
assets of the others segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT IMPAIRMENT

During FY2022, an impairment loss, net of reversal of
approximately HK$239,236,000 (FY2021: approximately
HK$176,049,000) was resulted in the loan financing and general
trading operations of the Group.

One of the major operations of the loan financing segment of
the Group is to act as a financing arrangement intermediary
between the Asset Partners and the fund partners (the “Fund
Partners”) to provide financial referral, financial guarantee
services and financing service in the PRC. The Group had long
established a strategic cooperation with a major Asset Partner
which is engaged in the import of parallel import vehicles
business (the “Parallel Importer”), through which the Parallel
Importer will introduce its customers that are engaged in the
trading of parallel import vehicle business (the “Parallel Trader”)
to the Group for financing arrangement, and the Parallel
Importer has agreed to provide counter-guarantees to the Group
for the Parallel Traders introduced by them, and a parcel of land
of the pier owned by the Parallel Importer was pledged to the
Group as the collateral for such counter-guarantees.

Loan and interest receivables from the Parallel Traders arises
when the Group granted the loans to the Parallel Traders and
trade and other receivables from the Parallel Traders arises when
the Group earns consultancy, financial guarantee and/or other
financial services income from the Parallel Traders for financing
arrangement services provided to the Parallel Traders.

For the year under review, the financial status of the Asset
Partners continued to worsen and thus further provision was
made to reflect the difficulty in the repayment as a result.

Secondly, the Group also provides financial referral and guarantee
services to the tobacco retailers subsequent to the acquisition
of Xin Yunlian Group in July 2020. In FY2022, the operation
of such financial referral and guarantee services continued to
be a major segment of the Group. With the guarantee services
provided by the Group, a default payment receivables included
in the trade and other receivables will arise as the Group would
repay on behalf of the borrowers referred by the Group once
non-repayment is noted, and the Group will then follow up for
repayment from the borrowers subsequently.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M}EJE“-J' &73 *ﬁ'

Since the second half of 2021, the Group has established co-
operation with various financial institutions which would provide
loan funding to the approved tobacco retailers referred by
the Group while the Group provided guarantee service to the
financial institutions in the event of non-repayment from the
borrowers. The operations were processed automatically via the
bank’s electronic platform between the bank, the borrowers
and the Group as the guarantor. The repayment by the Group
on behalf of the borrowers would be automatically recorded
as default payment receivables. Normally, the Group should
follow up immediately upon default payment directly with the
various tobacco retailers involved which were located in different
areas and arrange repayment with them accordingly. However,
due to the COVID-19 situation and a lack of manpower and
mobility across different areas in the PRC as a result of COVID-19
restriction, the direct follow up process with the borrowers were
delayed and thus the recovery rate was unsatisfactory during
the period under review, leading to the impairment on other
receivables.

The breakdown of the impairment loss recognized during the
year is as below:

B —FT¥FE rA5ECHZHE/M
BEREYAERER ZSRBBRAELAEE
ETHEHEEETEFRBERES mA
SERERATERNBATRASBEER
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TEM THBFELHEEER - AM AR
COVID-1989 18 5% K2 COVID-198) IR | & 2 b &
Tﬂﬂﬂlit‘lﬁ/\j]&umébli{Ti ETZZEE&E(EIT%\
ARFELE it RO EBENE KR ES

AR B HEMEYWFIAHIRRE-
RANFERER RERBERBARNT :

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-—A=+—HLEE

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment %t T 71| & H#ER 2 BB E 1B
loss) recognized on: (EHRER) -
— Trade and other receivables — & W BR R R E A LK R 99,771 127,169
- Loans and interest receivables —EREFREFE 1,449 51,459
— Other deposits —Ei\ﬁﬂ?zizi 20,533 (248)
— Loans to and interest receivables from —E R T —EIEIEAR#E 25
a non-controlling interest JE WELFI B, 117,501 68
— Loans to and interest receivables from —ERF— A& QA RERKEF S
an associate (18) (2,399)
239,236 176,049
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The impairment loss is mainly due to the impairment on the
loans to and interest receivables from a non-controlling interest
and the amount was included upon the completion of the
acquisition of the loan financing operation in July 2020, and the
deposit paid in relation to the trading business. During FY2022,
the financial status of the non-controlling interest continued to
deteriorate and thus significant impairment was recognized for
the year. The impairment on the trade and other receivables as
further impairment is provided for the loan financing segment,
and the impairment on the deposit paid in relation to the trading
of liquor business.

For the impairment in the loan financing Il segment, the
management of the Company are responsible for developing
and maintaining the processes for measuring expected credit loss
under the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the impairment
assessment on financial assets at amortised cost are performed in
accordance with HKFRS 9, which involves key parameters such as
(i) exposure at default (“EAD"); (ii) probability of default (“PD");
(iii) loss given default (“LGD") or 100% minus recovery rate upon
default (“Recovery Rate”); and (iv) discount rate.

The Group has been providing financial referral and guarantee
services to the tobacco retailers subsequent to the acquisition
of the Xin Yunlian Group in July 2020. The operation of such
financial referral and guarantee services increased significantly as
more regional financial institutions were interested in providing
funding to the approved tobacco retailers. With the guarantee
services provided by the Group, a default payment receivables
included in the trade and other receivables will arise as the Group
would repay on behalf of the borrowers referred by the Group
once non-repayment is noted, and the Group will then follow up
for repayment from the borrowers subsequently.

Before approving the financial referral and offering guarantee
services by the Group, all tobacco retailers will undergo a
detailed credit assessment process. The major assessment criteria
a tobacco retailer must fulfill are as follows:

— a tobacco retailer should obtain the Tobacco License granted
by China National Tobacco Corporation and has in active
tobacco retail operation for over 1 year,

— a tobacco retailer should maintain a monthly turnover in the
tobacco retail operation of not less than RMB10,000 on a
regular basis; and

— the age of the license owner of the tobacco retailer should
be ranged from 22 to 55 years old.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M}EJE“-J' &73 *ﬁ'

Upon fulfillment of the major assessment criteria and based
on the financial data provided by the tobacco retailer, a credit
ranking ranging from A to E will be assigned to each tobacco
retailer. Tobacco retailer with a credit ranking of E will be rejected
directly while the others from A to D will be forwarded to the
funding banks for further assessment including but not limited
to the personal credit report assessment and/or other financial
related big data assessment within their respective banking
systems. Upon approval of this final credit assessment performed
by the bank, a loan will be granted to the tobacco retailer.

For the operation of financing referral between the Asset
Partners and the Fund Partners, before approving and authorizing
the relevant loans and/or the provision of financing arrangement
services, all potential Asset Partners will undergo an evaluation
process with factors considered including:

(1) corporate and team structure of the Asset Partners (and its
referral);

(2) internal risk management;

(3) historical financial records;

(4) position of the Asset Partners in the industry; and
(5) availability of collaterals.

Only those with satisfactory evaluation results will be accepted as
borrowers and granted the loan receivables and/or accepted as
the Group's customers for financial referral or financial guarantee
services.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss rate of default
payment receivables were approximately 80% (i.e. probability
of default 100% and recovery rate 20%) with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Secondly, during the year, the Group had no sales revenue
generated from the trading segment given that there are
difficulties in the operation of liquor trading in the PRC due
to the COVID-19 pandemic situation, the management of the
Group having considered the overdue status of deposit paid and
the adverse industrial environment of the liquor trading business,
is of the view that the credit risks in the deposit paid to the liquor
supplier have significantly increased and the supplier is vulnerable
to non-repayment. The Group have taken necessary action to
follow up the recovery of the deposit paid. At 31 December
2022, a loss rate of 100% was assigned to the other deposit
paid (i.e. probability of default 100% and recovery rate 0%)
(2021: approximately 27%, i.e. probability of default 100% and
recovery rate 73%) with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent professional valuer.

Thirdly, the Group considers there is a significant financial
difficulty in relation to the non-controlling interest as the non-
controlling interest had become an enforceable person in a
litigation of for an amount of approximately RMB200 million and
the assets of the non-controlling interest were even subjected
to judicial auction during the year due to a disputes amongst
its shareholders in which the Group had no involvement. At 31
December 2022, a loss rate of approximately 77% was assigned
to the loans to and interest receivables from non-controlling
interest (i.e. probability of default 77% and recovery rate 0%)
(2021: approximately 0.1%, i.e. probability of default 0.3% and
recovery rate 73%) with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent professional valuer.

For the impairment of goodwill, a cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. The management of the Company have performed
impairment assessment semi-annual and annually for the Tobacco
CGU.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Valuation of impairment loss on goodwill have been performed
by an independent professional valuer in accordance with HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets issued by the HKICPA. The valuation
method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation

BEREBEENGEED BB LEEHEMIR
BEEGAMASRMNET B G ERIE36
REERELT AELBUMNEREE
(MEMEE]DRBUERAREGMEESAE

of the value-in-use (“VIU") of the CGU that incorporates key HAFBEBEELIXE 2ESFHEXR - FBEK
parameters, including discount rate per annum, budgeted =~ ARTEHEEFIE  UARKHZRE
revenue and budgeted gross margins, and terminal growth rate.
The value of inputs as follows: BAENT
July  December  December June  December
2020 2020 2021 2022 2022
“ECEf C—B-RE —BE--§ CZB--f CZ—B-CE
tA +=A +=A ~A +=A
HK$ million ~ HK§ million ~ HK$ million ~ HK$ million  HK$ million
BEBT HBEBTL BEETL BEBT BEBT
Average revenue FHRA 199 213 287 231 203
Average EBIT FH9EBIT 69 73 68 40 37
EBIT margin (EBIT/Revenue) EBITAIE X (EBIT/ILA) 35% 35% 24% 17% 17%
Terminal cashflow after 4th year ENFHHNZFLRERE
projection WRE 604 634 428 254 217
Discount rate applied FIERBIR %X 16% 17% 18% 19% 18%
Loss rate applied FERBEX 3% 3% 4% 4.4% 43%

There have been no significant changes in the methods from
those previously adopted.

As a result of the decrease in the relevant figures affecting
the goodwill, an impairment loss on goodwill amounting to
approximately HK$118 million was recorded. (2021: HK$99
million).

In order to protect the right of the Group, relevant actions have
been taken including but not limited to follow-up with the
defaulted customers, taking appropriate legal actions in enforcing
the repayment, etc. However, the process of all these are yet
to be effective and thus significant impairment was resulted.
Nevertheless, the Group will continue to monitor and follow up
the recovery procedures and make further significant updates to
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as and
when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative expenses include office utilities and administration,
legal and professional fee, employee expenses, depreciation
of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
and amortisation. Other operating expenses mainly consist
of operating expenses of industrial property development
and loan financing. Administrative and other operating
expenses amounted to approximately HK$86,979,000 during
FY2022, representing a decrease of approximately 20.6% or
HK$22,582,000 as compared to FY2021, as the Group continued
to optimize and reform business processes to reduce costs and
improve operational efficiency. The Company's management
will continue to act on its stringent measures on cost control to
maintain the administrative and other operating expenses at a
reasonable level.

Finance Costs

The finance cost of the Group for FY2022 mainly consisted
of effective interest expenses on convertible bonds issued for
the acquisition of the Xin Yunlian Group in 2020 and loan
interest on bank and others loans. Finance costs increased from
approximately HK$29,244,000 for FY2021 to approximately
HK$35,816,000 for FY2022, representing an increase of
approximately 22.5% or HK$6,572,000, which was caused by
the additional interest on loan borrowing for FY2022.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group continued to adopt the policy of prudence in
managing its working capital. During FY2022, the operations of
the Group were primarily financed by internally generated cash
flow from operating activities and external financing. As at 31
December 2022, the shareholder’s deficit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$166,349,000 (31
December 2021: equity attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$148,200,000), and net current liabilities
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$86,815,000
(31 December 2021: net current assets of approximately
HK$201,445,000). As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$26,280,000
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$47,936,000), which were
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Current ratio as at 31 December 2022 was 0.86 (31 December
2021:1.35).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M}EJE“-J' &73 *ﬁ'

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$279,085,000 (31 December
2021: approximately HK$241,881,000) of which approximately
HK$93,622,000 is repayable within 1 year, approximately
HK$168,502,000 is repayable between 1 to 2 years,
approximately HK$16,961,000 is repayable between 2 to 5 years.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi were approximately
HK$23,400,000 and HK$255,684,000, respectively, and bear
fixed interest rates from 4.95% to 10.55%. The gearing ratio of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 (defined as total borrowings
over the Group's total equity) is not applicable due to capital
deficiency of the Group (31 December 2021: 65.9%).

There was no capital commitment in respect of the acquisition
and construction of property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: nil).

The Group does not anticipate any material foreign exchange
exposure since its cash, borrowings, revenue and expenses are
mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes
during FY2022.

Fund Investments

The Group’s investment portfolio is classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
according to HKFRS 9, the relevant carrying amounts of the
financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL as at
31 December 2022 were approximately HK$4,938,000 and
HKS$Nil (31 December 2021: approximately HK$3,505,000 and
HK$4,866,000), respectively. The Group’s investment portfolio
includes listed equity in Hong Kong.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: nil) other than the financial
guarantees issued as disclosed below.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Guarantee Issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
For FY2022, the Group’s total maximum amount of financial
guarantees issued was approximately RMB1,004,002,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,135,245,000) (31 December
2021: approximately RMB2,011,431,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,467,825,000)).

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company with a par value of HK$0.001 each
(the “Share(s)”) was 7,775,857,621 (31 December 2021:
7,775,857,621).

Charges on Assets

The Group's warehouse located in Taicang, the PRC with the
following carrying amount and the bank deposit had been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group:
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As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—H
2022 2021
—E_-- B
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAEIT
Property, plant and equipment M- BB RERE 58,804 72,755
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 20,007 22,485
Bank deposit |ITER 5,653 —
84,464 95,240

Save for the above, the Group did not charge other assets to
secure its borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Foreign currency exposure

As confirmed by the Directors, the Group’s present operations
are mainly carried out in the PRC and Hong Kong, and all of
the Group’s receipts and payments in relation to the operations
are denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars. The Group
does not anticipate any material foreign exchange exposure
and therefore no derivative financial instruments were used to
hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021. The management will continue to monitor
its foreign exchange exposure and take appropriate measures if
needed.

Significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals

The Group did not hold any significant investments and did
not conduct any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures during FY2022 and FY2021.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group
did not have immediate plans for material investments or capital
assets acquisition.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 122 employees (31
December 2021: 141 employees). Remuneration is determined
by reference to their respective qualifications and experiences
and according to the prevailing industry practice. In addition to
salary payments, the Group’s staff benefits include contribution
of mandatory provident fund, a discretionary bonus program
and a share option scheme. As required by the regulations in the
PRC, the Group makes contributions to mandatory social security
funds for the benefit of the Group’s employees in the PRC,
including pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, personal injury insurance, maternity insurance and
housing funds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DETAILS OF AUDIT QUALIFICATION AND
RESPONSE FROM THE COMPANY

Details of the Audit Qualification

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$326,213,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Group's net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$86,815,000 and HK$35,511,000, respectively
as at 31 December 2022, and the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$26,280,000, while
the Group recorded outstanding borrowing of approximately
HK$93,622,000 which are repayable within the next twelve
months. These conditions indicate that material uncertainties
exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. In this regard, the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 on material uncertainties on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern (the "“Audit Qualification”).

Actual or potential impact of the Audit Qualification on the
Group’s financial position

The Audit Qualification does not itself show any actual impact
on the Group's financial position. As set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period. Should the Group
fail to achieve the intended effects resulting from the plans and
measures as mentioned in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, it might not be able to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their net recoverable
amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities that may arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M}EJE“-J' &73 *ﬁ'

Management’s position

In view of the Audit Qualification, the management of the
Group (including the Directors) (the “Management”) has
given consideration related to the Group's current liquidity,
performance and available sources of financing in assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Taking into
account the successful and continued implementation of various
measures such as including successful negotiations with certain
financial institutions and identifying various options for financing
the Group's working capital, and successful negotiations with the
a number of financial institutions for renewal and extension of
bank borrowings and credit facilities, the Management believes
that the Group should have sufficient working capital for a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2022, and
hence it was appropriate to prepare the Group's consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

There was no disagreement between the Management and
the Auditor regarding the Audit Qualification, considering that
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of the measures under Management'’s assumptions,
which are subject to certain uncertainties, including the Group’s
ability to generate operating cash flows and to obtain additional
sources of financing. While the Company is of the view that it
has already provided all available information and documents to
demonstrate that the Group will have sufficient working capital
for the 12 months after the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Company also acknowledges the uncertainties raised by the
Auditor specified above in that such uncertainties cannot be
satisfied with the mere provision of documents and information.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Audit Qualification

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has reviewed and agreed with the Management’s position
concerning the action plan of the Group to address the Audit
Qualification disclosed above. The Audit Committee has also
discussed with the Management and the Auditor to understand
the reason for the Audit Qualification and the views of the
Board and the Auditor. The Audit Committee concurs with the
Management’s position and views with respect to the Audit
Qualification and the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and the actions to be implemented by the Management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Proposed plans to address the Audit Qualification

The Board is satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as they fall due in the
foreseeable future, after taking into consideration of points (i) to
(v) as set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Management recognises that relevant evidence is required
to resolve the Auditor’s concern on the going concern issue.
As such, the Management will commence to contact and
negotiate with various financial institutions for obtaining credit
facilities and the bank in the PRC for increase of bank loan. The
Management will vigorously consider any feasible plan from the
potential investors on corporate restructuring and will proceed as
and when appropriate and practicable.

In view of the foregoing, and assuming all of the Company’s
plans or actions can be completed as planned, including the
obtaining of alternative financing and successful completion of
corporate restructuring plan, and no new circumstances and
conditions will have occurred, subject to satisfactory completion
of review of the Management’s assessment of the Group’s going
concern and the Auditor being satisfied with the documents,
information and evidence to be provided by the Company going
forward, the Directors are of the view that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due in the next twelve months from the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the Company is hopeful that the
Audit Qualification may be removed in connection with the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“2023 AGM") is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 20 June 2023.
For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 15 June 2023 to Tuesday, 20 June
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 14 June 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Kequan, aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 1 June 2016. He was re-designated as an executive
Director (the "ED"), chief executive officer of the Company (the
“CEQ") and the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) on
30 June 2016. Mr. Liu ceased to act as the CEO on 8 June 2018
and remains as the Chairman and continue to serve as an ED.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Liu was previously the chief executive officer of £/ F T & &
f& 17 BBR 2 A (Yunnan Ziyuan Group Co., Ltd.), a conglomerate
specialising in investment, real estate development, tourism
development and bio-pharmaceutical biotechnology industry
and has extensive management experience. He graduated from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a major in Applied Chemistry
in July 1994. Mr. Liu also obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from Tsinghua University in July
2005.

Mr. Yang Dayong, aged 47, was appointed as an ED and CEO
on 8 June 2018. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Yang is the founder of it R & 5 t 17 g & & 1%
AR~ 7A] (Beijing Anjia Shihang Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd.).
He has more than 20 years of experience in the field of fintech
investment, risk management and merger and acquisition.
Mr. Yang graduated from Peking University with a degree in
Economics. He received a Master’s degree in Economics from
Tsinghua University and a Doctoral degree in Economics from
Renmin University of China.

Mr. Chen Zheng, aged 63, was appointed as an ED on 8
December 2021. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries and
associates of the Company. Mr. Chen is an engineer and senior
economist and has extensive experience in investing business
and corporate management. He is currently a non-executive
director of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (stock code:
8271), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and an independent non-
executive director of Jiu Rong Holdings Limited (stock code:
2358), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering and
a Master's degree in Business Administration.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhang Peidong, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2016. He was re-designated
as an ED on 5 July 2016 and was subsequently re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 8 December 2021. Mr. Zhang is
currently the managing director of Yongsheng (HK) International
Co., Limited which was previously owned by a Hong Kong listed
company. He has over 20 years of experience in investment,
corporate management and international trade industry. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Jilin University of Technology (now known
as Jilin University) with a major in Metallic Materials Engineering.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 May 2015. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kwan
has over 10 years of experience in corporate accounting and
worked in a number of listed companies. He holds a Master’s
degree in Accounting from Curtin University of Technology (now
known as Curtin University).

Dr. Lyu Ziang, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 July 2016. He is currently the deputy
technical head of R&D division of - /8B EBEBESER
7~ Al (Shanghai Kuajingtong International Trade Co., Ltd.).
Dr. Lyu has years of experience in identification and control
of trade and financial risks. He worked at managerial level of
certain technology companies. Dr. Lyu graduated from Tsinghua
University with a degree in Thermo-Dynamic Engineering and
Control in July 1994 and also received a Master’s degree in
Computer Software and Theory as well as a Doctoral degree
in Computer Technology Application from Beijing Jiaotong
University in May 2003 and July 2012 respectively.

Mr. Zhou Liangyu, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director of RIIFAL R EMEFHR 2 A (H&H
Microelectronics Co., Ltd.), a company specialising in ODM
service and overall supply chain management service in
electronics industry. Mr. Zhou has over 20 years of experience in
investment, corporate management and technology industry. He
graduated from BRPE& FHMEFIZET (Shaanxi Province Foreign
Training College) with a major in Foreign Trade English.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance with a view to assuring the conduct of
management of the Company as well as protecting the interests
of all Shareholders. The Company has always recognised the
importance of the transparency and accountability towards the
Shareholders. It is the belief of the Board that Shareholders can
maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained Part 2
of in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited as amended from time to time.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, being
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman), Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive
Officer) and Mr. Chen Zheng, one non-executive Director, being
Mr. Zhang Peidong, and three independent non-executive
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Directors (the “INEDs"), being Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, Dr. Lyu Ziang Bt RERF LMK -
and Mr. Zhou Liangyu.
Four board meetings and one general meeting were held during A BRITORETEEHR L —ARREX
the year. The individual attendance record is as follows: E o fERIR B R ERCERAA T ¢
Board General
Meetings Meeting
Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to
Directors attend attend
BHE BHE
RERLEE SGERUE
EEg IR
= CEYN =
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) B REE (X/E) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive Officer) 5 KB %4 (7TIAE#) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chen Zheng BRAE 55 4 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Director: FHHITESE
Mr. Zhang Peidong 9ROm R ST A 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHPTESE -
Mr. Kwan Kei Chor BAERE LA 4/4 11
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHRELT 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhou Liangyu BARFEE 4/4 11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performances, but the day-to-day management is
delegated to the three executive Directors, Mr. Liu Kequan, Mr.
Yang Dayong and Mr. Chen Zheng, who also assume the roles of
senior management of the Company.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board has met with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules, relating to the appointment of at least
three INEDs representing at least one-third of the Board.

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, an INED, possesses appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management
expertise states under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the INEDs. The Company is of
the view that all the INEDs meet the guidelines for assessing
independence in accordance with the prevailing Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) among any members of the Board
and the senior management.

Directors are given timely access to relevant information prior
to each board meeting. Directors are given the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular board meetings. At the
same time, Directors are entitled to have access to board papers
and related materials to allow them to make informed decisions
on matters arising from board meetings.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of other committees
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection by Directors.

The Board has established mechanisms in place to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. INEDs
are encouraged to express their independent views on matter
relating to the Group and its operations, in addition to informal
communication between the Chairman and the INEDs, meetings
have been scheduled with the INEDs, in absence of other
directors, at least annually. Moreover, independent professional
advices may be sought, where necessary, at the Company’s
expense which not only help the directors to perform their
duties but also help the Board to obtain independent views. The
independence of all INEDs are reviewed, assessed and confirmed
by the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) on an annual basis to ensure INEDs are still
independent. The Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms and considered it is still
effective.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. Individual Director is encouraged to
attend courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
listed company director or further enhancement of professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online
aids or reading relevant materials. The company secretary of
the Company continuously updates all Directors on the latest
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good
corporate governance practices. During the year under review,
the current Directors, namely, Mr. Liu Kequan, Mr. Yang Dayong,
Mr. Chen Zheng, Mr. Zhang Peidong, Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, Dr.
Lyu Ziang and Mr. Zhou Liangyu had participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by attending
training courses or by reading materials.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Company has distinguished the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in accordance with
Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are Mr. Liu Kequan and Mr.
Yang Dayong, respectively.

The Board will regularly review the effectiveness of the
segregation of roles to ensure its appropriateness under the
Group’s prevailing circumstances.

The major duties of the Chairman are to provide leadership to
the Board and spearhead overall corporate development and
strategic planning whilst the Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for implementing the decisions and strategy approved by the
Board and managing day-to-day operations of the Group with
the supports of the EDs.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a term
of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

The INEDs are persons of high caliber with academic and
professional qualifications in accounting, financial, management
and various business fields which provide the Group with a
wide range of valuable expertise. With their experience gained
from senior positions held in other organisations, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with
the Listing Rules and Code Provisions of the CG Code. The duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and monitor the financial
reporting and risk management and internal control systems of
the Company. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Kwan Kei Chor (Chairman), Dr. Lyu Ziang and
Mr. Zhou Liangyu.

During FY2022, the Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management and the auditor the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed the auditing,
risk management, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements of the
Group for FY2021 and the unaudited interim financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022.

In addition, the Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements for FY2022 and the related results
announcement and auditor’s report, and made recommendation
to the Board that the same be approved. There was no
disagreement between the Audit Committee and the Board
on the selection and appointment of the Company’'s external
auditors.
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Two Audit Committee meetings were convened during the year.
The individual attendance records are as follows:

TR ZARMAEZZE SR -ERIKE
YRR T

Number of
Directors attendance
= R E
Mr. Kwan Kei Chor (Chairman) MERLE (FE) 2/2
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHiELT 2/2
Mr. Zhou Liangyu BRFRE 2/2
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FE 8

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Code Provisions of the CG
Code. The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
advise and recommend the Board on the remuneration policy and
framework of the Company’s Directors and senior management,
review matter relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules, as well as review and determine the remuneration
of individual executive Directors and senior management with
reference to the Company’s objectives from time to time. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises two INEDs, namely,
Dr. Lyu Ziang (Chairman) and Mr. Kwan Kei Chor and one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhang Peidong.

During FY2022, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the remuneration policy and framework of the Company’s
Directors and senior management, assessed the performance of
executive Directors and determined the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management with
reference to the Company’s objectives.

One Remuneration Committee meeting was convened during the
year. The individual attendance records are as follows:
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Number of
Directors attendance
B=E R B
Dr. Lyu Ziang (Chairman) ABTfaiELE(£E) 11
Mr. Kwan Kei Chor RER L 1/1
Mr. Zhang Peidong SRR S A 11
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAID TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

TEERRE

Yaras

E;/{—II_JH '_El_‘

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior ATEZ—UF HBEE D e REEEK
management by band for FY2022 is as follows: BZFEMELT

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) Individual
MEEE (BT) AE
40,000 - 1,000,000 40,000% 1,000,000 1
1,000,001 - 2,500,000 1,000,00122,500,000 1
2,500,001 — 4,000,000 2,500,00124,000,000 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and
Code Provisions of the CG Code. The duties of the Nomination
Committee are (a) to review the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy, with
due regard to the diversity of the Board; (b) to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (c) to assess the independence of the
INEDs and to review their annual confirmation on independence;
(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors; and (e) before appointments are made by the Board,
to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board, and, in the light of this evaluation to prepare a
description of the roles and capabilities required for a particular
appointment. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) and
two INEDs, namely, Dr. Lyu Ziang and Mr. Zhou Liangyu.

During FY2022, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
size, structure, composition as well as diversity of the Board,
assessed the independence of INEDs and considered the re-
election of the Directors. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered the Group's measurable objectives for implementing
the board diversity policy during the year under review.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee follows its established nomination
policy in the selection of candidates for Director appointments.
The Bye-laws set out the process for the appointment of Board
members. In the event that the vacancy to be filled is a casual
vacancy, or an additional Director is to be appointed, the Board
will make the appointment of the Director in accordance with
the Bye-laws. In the event that the vacancy has arisen as a result
of normal retirement or rotation, the Board shall present the
candidates to the Shareholders for election in accordance with
the Bye-laws. The Board shall avail sufficient information to
enable the Shareholders to make an informed choice. When a
vacancy arises on the Board (through resignation, rotation etc) or
in the event that an additional Director is to be appointed, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the Board’s needs in terms
of skills, competencies and other diversity considerations with
due regard to any on-going major projects and develop a profile
of the required candidate. The Nomination Committee shall invite
Board members to submit to it profiles of interested potential
Board members. The Nomination Committee shall consider the
profiles received and select candidates whom it shall interview
to assess suitability for the position. In selecting the potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider, in addition
to the requirements in the Bye-laws, the mandatory regulatory
requirements. The candidate is required to expressly disclose the
nature and extent of other activities or appointments which may
give rise to conflict of interests, and hence his/her independence.
The Nomination Committee shall make its recommendation on
the candidate to the Board, and ultimately to the Shareholders if
required.

The Company values, promotes, and observes the Board diversity
policy in the composition of its Board of Directors. The Company
implements the policy as a part of the recruitment and selection
process in appointment of a member of the Board. The Company
is initiating the use of a matrix to facilitate a review of the skills,
competencies, experience and other attributes of the Board
members to establish a baseline. Selection of a candidate is
generally made based on a range of diversity objectives against
the baseline in the Board diversity policy. Particular regard will
be paid to the benefits of balance of skills, knowledge and
experience, and perspective differentiations introduced to
the Board from the candidates, including varied educational
background, and extensive expertise, knowledge and experience
in technology, investment, trade and financial risks identification
and control, international trade, corporate management to
professional qualification in accounting and other professional
fields.
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One Nomination Committee meeting was convened during the  FR  BAF—NIERLZEg€g# -[RIKE
year. The individual attendance records are as follows: EY ﬁ)‘%’%ﬂﬁﬁﬂT -

Number of
Directors attendance
= o R B
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) Bl REE (FE) 11
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHiELT 1/1
Mr. Zhou Liangyu BRFRE 11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole performs the corporate governance duties
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 which include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practice on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During FY2022, the company secretary of the Company is Ms.
Chan Siu Mun who had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code throughout FY2022.
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RISK. MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and
the Company’s assets and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually. Review of the Group’s internal controls include
major financial, operational and compliance controls, as well
as risk management functions. The risk management and
internal control system are designed to manage, not eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to ensure their effectiveness, including
to provide a clear policies and procedure, as well as a reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across
business operations.

The Group's risk management policy includes the following
elements:

e Identify of significant risks in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of thereof;

e Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and
e Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

Risks that affect the achievement of the Group's objectives are
identified, evaluated and prioritized by department managers.
Management will assess the nature and impact of those risks, risk
register are then established. The Audit Committee is responsible
to manage the risk management process. Risks which cannot be
accepted by the Group are transferred, eliminated or controlled
through risk mitigation measures. Each risk mitigation measure
has a risk owner who is a department manager or designated
person who will be assigned to ensure accountability. Risks
owners are also responsible for monitoring the status of the risk
mitigation measures for risks under their areas of responsibility.

In light of the size of the Group and cost effectiveness
consideration, the Group has engaged an independent
professional advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee
in ongoing monitoring of internal control systems of the
Group, assessing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and in performing the internal audit
functions for the Group. The review covers major activities
of the Group in rotation basis and also the risk management
functions. Deficiencies (if any) are identified and improvement
recommendations as well as remedial actions are proposed.
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The Audit Committee and the Board receives the risk
management report and internal control report by the
independent professional advisor annually. The Board, through
the Audit Committee, had performed annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considers them to
effective and adequate for FY2022.

Regarding the procedure and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group is aware of
its obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO") and the Listing Rules. The handling and dissemination of
inside information are regulated to ensure the information is kept
strictly confidential before disclosure is appropriately approved.
Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of inside
information. The Group will immediately disclose the information
to the public if it believes that the confidentiality may have been
breached.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2022, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided to the Group by the Company’s auditor, HLM
CPA Limited, amounted to HK$1,450,000 and HK$350,000
respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist of other
reporting services in relation to interim report for the six months
ended 30 June 2022.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement by the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements for FY2022 is set out
in the “Independent Auditor's Report” of this report.
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AUDIT QUALIFICATION AND RESPONSE FROM
THE COMPANY

Details of the Audit Qualification and response from the
Company are set out in section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 23 to 25 and note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognizes that an increasing diversity at the Board
level is inductive to the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and the Company’s sustainable development. All
Directors share their competence to bring sustainable growth to
the Company. The Board had adopted a board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”). Under the Board Diversity Policy,
selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
areas, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. In identifying suitable candidates for
appointments to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
take into consideration the Company’s business models and
specific needs. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity criteria and perspectives. The Nomination Committee
will consider the balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Board and the diversity representation of the
Board, how the Board works together as a unit, and other factors
relevant to its effectiveness.

There is currently all male Directors on the Board. The Company
will continue to identify female candidates to join the Board
in accordance with the above selection criteria and through
various channels, including the promotion of existing talent as
successors to the Board. In order to achieve gender diversity on
the Board, the Board will appoint at least one female Director no
later than 31 December 2024 and targets to maintain its female
membership at no less than 10% for the next three years.
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For FY2022, the Group's workforce generally follows a
diversity philosophy that includes gender diversity. The
gender composition of the Group's workforce is set out in the
Employment and Labour Practices section of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published by the Company
in accordance with the Listing Rules. As at the date of this
report, over 20% of the Group's employees (including senior
management) are female. The Company plans to maintain the
same level of female representation over the next two years
or increase female representation where appropriate. With the
objective of further optimising the gender diversity in mind, the
Group will continue to take gender diversity into account in its
ongoing recruitment process, in particular when recruiting staff
at mid to senior level, so that there will be a pipeline of female
senior management and potential successors to the Board in due
time to ensure gender diversity of the Board and the workforce.

Categories
EEER
Executive Directors

HITES

Gender Group

TEERRE

RIZB-Z_HF AEEETEREREREE

3 Directors .
35 37

Non-Executive Director

FHITES

A% b ZTib B S

HEMEABRERERSTIER

BIE) RN AR R E B R KM 4
B 7K S @ R 38 IR MR o AREEHE —

BEAER UBEEEENREEYIZESR
EEAEBNEES
eNEIBREMNMERZ T

3 Directors

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BIAFHTES

7 Directors
78

EEMR

Male

B
Age Group 4 Directors 1 Director
FiRAl R 48 1%

50 and below 51-60 61 and above
5088 K LA T 51-605% 61m R L

Note: The information is as of 31 December 2022.
2 EREECRC_F+-A=+-R-
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting

Shareholders are given the opportunity to participate and vote in
Shareholder’s meetings. According to the Bye-laws, any one or
more Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of a written
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit
have the right to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
voting right at general meetings of the Company, or not less than
100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of
the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not
less than 6 weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
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Pursuant to the Bye-laws, no person, other than a retiring
Director, shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing by some Shareholders (not
being the person to be proposed) entitled to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been given to the Company provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least
seven days and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting. The written notice must state that person'’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or Tel: (852)
2980 1333.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries should be directed in writing to
the company secretary of the Company at Suites 3612-16, Tower
Two, Times Square, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication
policy and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company’s published
documents together with the latest corporate information and
news are also made available on the website of the Company.
The Company’s annual general meeting provides a good
opportunity for the Directors to meet and communicate with
Shareholders. All Directors make their best efforts to attend the
Annual General Meeting in order to answer questions from the
Company’s Shareholders.
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Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone number, fax number and postal address,
which could be found on Company’s website, in order to enable
them to make any query that they may have with respect to
the Company. They can also send their enquiries to the Board
through these means.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the above channels of
communication between the Company and its Shareholders on
an annual basis. Based on the review undertaken, the Board
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s activities in communicating with Shareholders and
investors during the FY2022.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

Upon the Shareholders’ approval by way of a special resolution
at the 2022 annual general meeting held on 7 June 2022, the
Company has adopted the new bye-laws. Details of the changes
are set out in the circular dated 30 April 2022. An up-to-date
consolidated version of the Company’s memorandum of
association and new bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board does not have a policy to pay any fixed dividend or
a pre-determined future dividend distribution policy. The Board
has absolute discretion to recommend any dividend declaration.
Dividend will depend on the Group’s financial conditions,
results of operations, cash availability, statutory and regulatory
restrictions in relation thereto, future prospects, and any other
factors that the directors may consider relevant. In any event, the
Company will not be in a position to pay or declare dividends
until such time as it has profits available for that purpose as
determined in accordance with the applicable law.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provide corporate management services to its subsidiaries. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Detailed review and the future development of the Group's
business are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this report.
Those sections form part of this “Directors’ Report”.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for FY2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 74 and 75.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for FY2022 (2021: nil).

There is no arrangement that any Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 256 of
this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURES
The Group did not issue any debenture during FY2022.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to HK$nil (2021: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, there were no purchase, sale or redemption of
the Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers accounted for approximately
11.07% and 31.01% of the Group’s total revenue for the
year respectively. The aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 59.22% and 97.58% of the Group's total
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for FY2022
are disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions as set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions entered into
by the Group during FY2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Zheng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Zhang Peidong
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor
Dr. Lyu Ziang
Mr. Zhou Liangyu

Pursuant to bye-law 91 of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed
by the Board under that Bye-laws shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 99(B) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Liu Kequan (“Mr.
Liu”), Mr. Zhang Peidong (“Mr. Zhang”) and Dr. Lyu Ziang (“Dr.
Lyu") will retire from office as Directors at the 2023 AGM and Mr.
Liu, Mr. Zhang and Dr. Lyu, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

The Company confirms that it has received an annual
confirmation from each of the INEDs regarding his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still
considers all the existing INEDs to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has
a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO;
or (c) were otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

SEFENREBITBRABRKRG MR
AR (0 m# m SUK B

KRB —_F+-_A=+—H8B EFFKARQ
FETHRAERAR Ti&ﬂﬁ%&l(m
= RBEHF N BEKRAIFEXVES) BB - B8
MEkEEEFHEEQEREZESLBEKDZE
XVEBSE7 R E8D H A M & AN 7 KB FTHY
% (BEBEES LIS GOE KR

EWEEIRBEENERSIAE)  H(b)id
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ %&%EﬁﬁﬁBQV¢ET2%
EfffE R OBRBEETRAEANE AR
MR TR R T

REQXTARGREBRROD 2HFR

Total number

Approximate

Number of Number of  of shares and percentage
issued shares underlying underlying of the issued
Director Nature of Interests held shares held shares voting shares
HEE#T
BREHE
e 81T P e ki KRB ROBL
B BEtE RO#E RO#E RipBY B
Liu Kequan (“Mr. Liu") Corporate and personal interests 1,522,750,000 - 1,522,750,000 19.58%
(Note 1)
B ([2%4%]) EEREAER (PF&ET)
Chen Zheng (“Mr. Chen”)  Corporate interest 800,000,000 200,000,000  1,000,000,000 12.86%
(Note 2) (Note 2)
FRAE (TRRE4]) EEER (BzE2) (PaE2)
Yang Dayong (“Mr. Yang”)  Corporate and 614,826,000 - 614,826,000 91%
family interests (Note 3)
BRE(HEE]) EB R R kR (PF5E3)
Lyu Ziang ("Dr. Lyu") Personal interests 6,000,000 7,700,000 13,700,000 0.18%
(Note 4) (Note 4)
afB([aEL]) (N $23 (Pt &E4) (Pi3E4)
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Notes:

1.

The interests include (i) 1,447,750,000 Shares held by Eastern Spring
Global Limited and (ii) 75,000,000 Shares held by Mr. Liu. Mr. Liu is
a director and the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
of Eastern Spring Global Limited.

The interests include (i) 800,000,000 Shares and (ii) 200,000,000
underlying Shares in respect of the convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$200 million issued by the Company with an initial
conversion price at HK$1 per Share that were held by Skill Rich
Limited. Mr. Chen is a director and the beneficial owner of the
entire issued share capital of Skill Rich Limited.

The interests include (i) 612,810,000 Shares held by Eternally Sunny
Limited and (i) 2,016,000 Shares held by Ms. Liang Miaoxin, being
the spouse of Mr. Yang. Mr. Yang is a director and the beneficial
owner of the entire issued share capital of Eternally Sunny Limited.

The interests include (i) 6,000,000 Shares and (ii) 7,700,000
underlying Shares in respect of the share options granted with
exercise price at HK$0.2 per share.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company'’s associated corporations
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Approximate

percentage
Number of to issued
shares/amount voting shares/
of registered registered
Director Name of associated corporation Nature of interest  Class capital capital
HERT
BRRERS
RGHE,/ /EMERZ
B REEE AR EatE 55l AMERTHE I ER
Mr. Liu Intraday Financial Information Service  Corporate interests ~ Ordinary 55 shares 55%
Limited (Note 5)
s EXREREERBARAT AEfER (M5 EER 55K
aBCD Enterprise Limited Corporate interests ~ Ordinary 3 shares 100%
(Note 5)
EERER (MT5) TRk 3R
Dingtai Runhe Investment Consulting ~ Corporate interests Registered capital RMB31,000,000 100%
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (Note 5)
SERENREZA (LEB)ARRE  EE#ER (M5  FMEXR AR
31,000,0007C
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Note:

5. 65.80% of the issued share capital of Long Tu Limited (“Long Tu")
is owned by Mr. Liu. Long Tu is the legal and beneficial owner of 55
shares of Intraday Financial Information Service Limited (“Intraday”),
which is 55% of its issued share capital, whilst the remaining 45
shares, which represents 45% of the issued share capital of Intraday,
is owned by the Company. Intraday is the legal and beneficial owner
of 3 shares of aBCD Enterprise Limited (“aBCD"), which is 100%
of its issued share capital. aBCD is the holder of RMB31,000,000
of the registered capital of Dingtai Runhe Investment Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd., which is its entire equity interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors, chief executive or their associates had any interests and
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (c)
were otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements and the section “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares”, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. The effect of such arrangements would enable the
Director involved to be the Shareholder.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement and contracts of significance (i)
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; or (ii) in which the Directors
or an entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2022 and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, the persons/companies, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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ESENBFRGTOEDR

KRB _HMFERBEAREAH HEES
RE RN E R EEERNEE N EBEX
FRAEBRBFNEFTHEEED (TR
REMAA -

T BRI K AR AR

SL T I AN
™ NOR B

RZB__F+_A=+—RH BEEFRAER
AIEETRABMA RARA RN kAR
MR REERIEES M B RO EXVEBE2 M 5
37 BF AR /R [R) AN ) Ko Bt <X P BB 0 Bk R
SRR AN R RIRIR E 75 M B R 01 5 3361R AT
E2ERMOBEEIRENAL RA(EF
HARBEBITHRABRINIT

REQXARGREBRRO ZHR

No. of Approximate
shares or percentage to

underlying issued
Name Nature of interest shares held voting share
HE BT
FERHR BEREERSG
EB R EEME HER 5B CESIER
Eastern Spring Global Limited Beneficial owner 1,447,750,000 18.62%
RRIRRER QA EnERAA
Skill Rich Limited (”Skill Rich™) Beneficial owner 1,000,000,000 12.86%
(Note 1)
NBBRRAR ([HH#E]) EmlEA A (BH=E1)
Eternally Sunny Limited Beneficial owner 612,810,000 7.88%
EF5H R A A EmEA A
Ms. Liang Miaoxin Beneficial owner and family interests 614,826,000 7.91%
(Note 2)
REBLL EmlEA AR IEER (Kt3E2)
Chu Lam Yiu Beneficial owner and Corporate interest 691,000,000 8.89%
(Note 3)
R EmlERA AR EE#R (Mt3E3)
Wardour International Limited Beneficial owner 125,184,000 1.61%

("Wardour")
Wardour International Limited
([Wardour J)

BEamBEA A
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Notes:

1. These interests include 800,000,000 Shares and 200,000,000
underlying Shares in respect of the convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$200 million issued by the Company with an initial
conversion price at HK$1 per Share.

2. These interests include (i) 2,016,000 Shares held by Ms. Liang
Miaoxin and (ii) 612,810,000 Shares held by Mr. Yang. Ms. Liang
Miaoxin is the spouse of Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Liang is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Yang.

3. These interests include (i) 565,816,000 Shares held by Ms. Chu Lam
Yiu and (ii) 125,184,000 Shares held by Wardour. Ms. Chu Lam Yiu
owned the entire issued share capital of Wardour and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which Wardour was
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as is
known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company,
no other parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ACQUISITION OF XIN YUNLIAN GROUP

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 16
November 2019, 29 June 2020, 22 July 2020 and 31 July 2020,
and the circular dated 30 June 2020 in relation to the acquisition
of the entire issued share capital and the assignment of the
shareholder’s loan of Xin Yunlian Group (the “Acquisition”).

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement dated 16 November 2019
as amended by the supplemental agreement dated 29 June 2020
(the "Acquisition Agreement”) in relation to the Acquisition,
the consideration for the Acquisition was HK$360 million and
settled by the Company as to HK$200 million by the issue of the
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) and as to HK$160
million by the issue of 800,000,000 new Shares (the “New
Shares”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 July 2020 (the
“Issue Date”).

P &

1. %S5 8 F5800,000,0000% A% 19 K 4 A &) 3%
1T HY 7N & FE 5200,000,000% 7T ¥ 1A B #2 (B A
FREE T AT AR =R AT 4 I #9200,000,000
& #8 B8 A 17 o
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A% A% 19 R (ii)ER #5 55 £ 3% B #9612,810,000% i
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HEHER -
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565,816,000/% % 17 K (i)l Wardour¥s B &)
125,184,0000% f% 15 ° % #1¥& 22 4= ¥ BWardour
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Convertible Notes

On the Issue Date, the Company issued the Convertible Notes in
the principal amount of HK$200 million which will mature on the
fifth anniversary of the Issue Date (the “Maturity Date”). Subject
to the fulfillment of certain profit guarantee arrangement, from
the third anniversary of the Issue Date up to the day immediately
before the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date, up to 30% of the
principal amount of each Convertible Note can be converted.
On the Maturity Date, the outstanding principal amount of each
convertible note can be converted in full. The conversion price
of the Convertible Notes shall be HK$1.0 per conversion Share,
subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Notes. Based on the initial conversion price of
HK$1.0 per conversion Share, 200 million new Shares will be
allotted and issued upon exercise of the Convertible Notes in full,
representing approximately 2.57% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.

The interest rate is nil for the period commencing upon the Issue
Date and expiring on the first anniversary of the Issue Date. The
interest rate is 1% per annum for the period commencing from
the first anniversary of the Issue Date and expiring on the second
anniversary of the Issue Date. The interest rate is 4% per annum
for the period commencing from the second anniversary of the
Issue Date and expiring on the third anniversary of the Issue Date.
The interest rate is 6% per annum for the period commencing
from the third anniversary of the Issue Date and expiring on the
Maturity Date. The interest accrued on the Convertible Notes will
be payable on the Maturity Date.

As at 31 December 2022, no Convertible Note was converted
during the year and no new Share was allotted and issued by the
Company pursuant thereto.

Details of the Convertible Notes are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Details of movement of the Convertible Notes during FY2022 are R -~ —BF a#REZENEFHF B0
as follows: T
Number
of share Balance
Balance as at Granted Exercised allotted and as at
1 January during during Conversion issued upon 31 December
Holder 2022 the year the year price conversion 2022
R-BZZ% R@®E R-B-ZF
—HA—H EaKk#T t=A=t-AH
BEA i0FeYS RERE T RERTE BRE RHOHE iE
Vendor of the Acquisition Agreement  HK$200,000,000 = = HK$1.0 - HK$200,000,000
WERHANET 200,000,000 7. 1.087T 200,000,000 7.
The New Shares R HB
Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, part of the consideration AR 1% U & # 3% - 2F 9 X {€160,000,0007% 7T #
shall be satisfied by the Company as to HK$160 million by the 222 & JA ?;z ?é‘ 171 B ®ARO. 2/9\§7E§§?ﬁ R
issue of the New Shares at the issue price of HK$0.2 per Share, MZARLEE FBRMER_ZT_ZTF+ A

which were issued by the Company upon completion of the
Acquisition on 31 July 2020. The New Shares are subject to a
lock-up for a period commencing on the Issue Date and ending
on the day immediately before the first anniversary of the Issue
Date.

Consideration Shares

Pursuant to the consultancy agreement dated 16 November
2019 as amended by a supplemental agreement dated 29 June
2020 (the “Consultancy Agreement”), the consultant, being
an individual providing consultancy service to the Group (the
“Consultant”) agreed to provide consultancy service to the
Company in relation to the Acquisition Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder. The consultancy fee shall
be HK$10 million which shall be settled by the Company by way
of issuing 50,000,000 consideration shares (the “Consideration
Shares”) at the issue price of HK$0.2 per Share which were
issued by the Company upon completion of the Acquisition on
31 July 2020.

=t BB ERE TR T

il e

HRG - B#TEEEREIITAMERS
—(ERFHA— B
RERH

BERHAR_ZE-—NF+—-ATRBIAEL
BEA_ZE_ZTF AT ABZHABZR
{ETEﬁéﬁé’EJT%% (I=&AwEl) - B (B
NAREFEARE 2EA (TEMD )RER
WERZELHBETRETZRIMAR AR
1/\ﬂﬂﬂ@ﬁ§ﬁ% umu@%ﬁ']OOOOOOO/;PSTE EEK
RAR_ZE_ZEF+LA=+T—RKESER
R I LA 422 3% 17 /8 B A% 0.27% 7T % 750,000,000
RARERD (RERND])HTAER-
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Profit Guarantee in respect of the Acquisition Agreement

In respect of the Acquisition Agreement, the vendor undertook
that the audited consolidated net profit of Xin Yunlian Group
for the five years ending 31 December 2024 in aggregate shall
be not less than RMB153 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$167.5 million) (the “Guaranteed Profit”). The vendor
represents that the aggregate consolidated net profit of Xin
Yunlian Digital and Xin Yunlian Cloud for the five years ending 31
December 2024 is expected to be not less than RMB300 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$328.4 million). If the actual
audited consolidated net profit of Xin Yunlian Group for the
five years ending 31 December 2024 in aggregate (the “Actual
Profit”) falls short of the Guaranteed Profit, the vendor will make
up the shortfall to be determined in the manner set out in the
paragraph headed “(2) Profit guarantee” in the circular of the
Company dated 30 June 2020.

Profit Guarantee in respect of the Consultancy Agreement

In respect of the Consultancy Agreement, the Consultant
undertook that if the Actual Profit falls short of the Guaranteed
Profit, the Consultant will irrevocably assigns the Company to sell
the Consideration Shares, and the sale proceeds will be applied
to compensate the Company for the shortfall.

The Company will publish further announcements in a timely
manner to inform Shareholders of the fulfillment of the profit
guarantee and where applicable, the Company’s action upon
non-fulfillment failure of the profit guarantee.

Incentive payment

To incentivize the vendor to contribute in the development of Xin
Yunlian Group after completion of the Acquisition, the Company
agreed to issue to the vendor convertible notes to settle the
incentive payment or to pay the vendor in cash at the request
of the vendor in the event that the Actual Profit exceeds the
Guaranteed Profit, details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Incentive Payment” in the circular of the Company
dated 30 June 2020.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the Company's
announcements dated 16 November 2019, 29 June 2020, 22 July
2020 and 31 July 2020, and the circular dated 30 June 2020.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 10 June 2021, the Shareholders approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”)
and the termination of a share option scheme adopted in 2011
(the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) to the effect that no further
share options of the Company (the “Share Options”) shall be
offered under the 2011 Share Option Scheme but the Share
Options which had been granted during the life of the 2011
Share Option Scheme should continue to be valid and exercisable
pursuant to the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme is designed to (i) motivate the
eligible participants to optimize their performance efficiency for
the benefit of the Group, and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise
maintain an on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

The eligible participants are any full-time or part-time employees,
executives, officers or directors (including non-executive
directors and INEDs) of the Group and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisors who, in the sole opinion of the
Board will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date of
adoption of the 2021 Share Option Scheme, being 777,585,762
Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options and the share options
granted under any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding share options) to each
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2021 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Board to each grantee, save that
such period shall end in any event not later than ten years from
the date of grant of the option and subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof.
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There is no minimum period required under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme for holding of the share options before it can
be exercised, unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of share options to a grantee.
An option may be accepted by a participant within 30 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option by payment from the
participant and receipt by the Company of HK$1.00 prior to or
on the last date of the said 30 days period.

The exercise price will be a price to be determined by the Board,
but must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme will expire on 10 June 2031. As
at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the 2021
Share Option Scheme is approximately eight years and three
months.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
2021 Share Option Scheme is 1,070,585,762, which comprises
(i) 293,000,000 Shares to be issued upon the exercise of the
outstanding share options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme;
and (ii) a maximum number of 777,585,762 share options
available for grant under the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 13.77% of the issued share capital
(i.e. 7,775,857,621 Shares).

Details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Details of movements in the share options under the 2011 Share R _-_ZT - —BiF  —T——FEREFEET

Option Scheme during FY2022 were as follows: ZERENSEFBFOT
Closing
Price of share Weighted
immediately average
Balance as Balance before  closing price
at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed as at thedate of  immediate
1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise Period Exercise grantof  before the
Category Date of grant 2022  theperiod  the period  the period  the period 2022  of Share Options Price share options exercise dates
HKS HKS HK$
S it REREE RETR
RZBZZE +=A BRERH R L)
-A-8 =t+-A BEA® mEFH
ER REAH g% HaRY  BRTR BRaE# BRAX &5 BRENTES ke W E WmE
B BT A
Employees 30 December 2020 135,300,000 - - - - 135,300,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
B8 ZZZTEF-A=1H —E--F+ZA=1+R%
“E-RET-AZTAR
B
Consultants
s
Wang Linlin 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
T “ECRETCAZHA “BC-f+-A=tRE
“ECRETZACTAA
Eilpls
Zhang Zhiwei 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
REE ZZ-TEFA=1H —E--F+ZfA=1R%
“E-RET-AZTAR
B
LiJie 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
A ZECRESAZTH “E-E+CA=THE
“ECRETZACTAA
Eilpls
Director
£
Dr. Lyu Ziang 30 December 2020 7,700,000 - - - - 7,700,000  Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
BTREL ZE-ZF+-A=tA —E--F+ZA=1+RZ
“E-RET-AZTAR
B
Total 293,000,000 - - - - 293,000,000
ac
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As at 31 December 2022, a total of 293,000,000 share options
granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were outstanding.
Amongst which 150,000,000 share options were granted to
three consultants (the “Consultants”) on 30 December 2020
with 50,000,000 share options each. Such share options shall
be exercisable from 30 December 2021 to 29 December 2025
(both days inclusive) (the “Exercise Period”). The number of share
options that each Consultant can exercise each year during the
Exercise Period shall not exceed one third of the share options
granted to such Consultant, except that the maximum number of
share options that each Consultant can exercise during the last
year of the Exercise Period shall be all remaining share options
granted to such Consultant that have not been exercised. To the
best knowledge of the Company, each of the three Consultants
is an independent third party and they all have extensive
experience in the micro-finance and tobacco and logistic
industries. The grant of the share options to the Consultants is
primarily to motivate them to optimize their future performance
and efficiency to the Group following the acquisition of Xin
Yunlian Group in July 2020. The Consultants would be providing
their expertise to the Group in the area of supply-chain financing
in the PRC and the tobacco and logistic markets in the PRC.

No share options has been granted under 2021 Share Option
Scheme since its adoption. The number of options available for
grant under the 2021 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2022
and 31 December 2022 was 777,585,762 and 777,585,762,
respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Acquisition Agreement, the Consultancy Agreement
and the Company’s share option schemes as disclosed above, the
Company had not entered into other equity-linked agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
set up by the Board and is based on their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the share
option scheme is set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit scheme are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statement. As at 31
December 2022, no forfeited contributions were available to
reduce the existing level of contributions payable by the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified by the Company out of the assets
of the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities which he may sustain or incur or about the execution
and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto. Directors’
liability insurance policies containing permitted indemnity
provisions have been taken out and maintained in force during
the financial year and as at the date of approval of this report to
provide appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group in respect of the relevant liabilities and
costs associated with legal proceedings against them.

& B

AEENRERENESBRAEFTSREENEK
- BAREE DRI

EEMemFHZESRARAKERE @
AR K AT LB 5 BUR MR TE

ARFERMBRAESENREHEERAE
fBES  BEMETEFBHN R M B REH
38

BAREFETE

BRAAKRBEZERBEMNGFENFBHRNE
EUMBHREAMEA - R_T-__F+ A
=+t — B YEERCRWKHE A B ERIER
SEE BN HFOKF -

EERTRRIE

REARRNREAME SEFERMAMEE
HTRBETATBRER IR HRZHBEK
B BBENRMERAN WE -BR A KA
RELT BESARARARRNEEP RN
B -HABEFRERNNESTEERRED
BT I0  BA BR A B A R AN S o JE L VB B
BBAR UREEMAEENBRARESHA
RSt H R E AR ANBEETRERE
HEERE -

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During FY2022, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group provides a harmonious and professional working
environment to employees and ensures they all are reasonable
remunerated. The Company regular reviews and updates its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational
health and safety.

The Group also recognises that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners and customers to achieve
its long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to protecting the environment and
adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. Double-
sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical
appliance are being implemented in the offices.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from
time to time and will consider further eco-friendly measures and
practices in the operation.

Details of the Group's environmental policy and performance
will be set out the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
to be published by the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Strategic Risk
R G = B

Risk Description

R B 4

Risk Mitigation
e 6K FL B

Investment risk

RERRE

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022

The Group from time to time needs to
expand by acquiring new line of business.
Some of the mergers and acquisitions
concerns are the overvalue of the
target company, insufficient operational
experience, no in-house expertise,
under-estimation of time and resources
required to run the business, or the target
company fails to perform, etc.

REB N EH 2R BN EIGRIBAER -
—LHERERE BRARMERS
LERBRIE RZAIMEXEMD K
MTEEXEBAMTHNRENER B
ERAIREBOE -

In the event that the Group fails to conduct
comprehensive due diligence on the
target company or closely monitor the
share price of the invested stock and
bonds, the Group’s financial condition
and operating results would be materially
and adversely affected.

WMAREREHBERARIFRZENER
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REEBRNTHEE-

Before investing in a new project or
acquiring a new business, the Board
performs a full management assessment
and due diligence on the new project/
new business, its business models,
financial performance, market trend,
growth opportunities, and business
valuations, etc.

EREMNEBIWBHNER A EFE
WEIEE ER - AEBERX  MBE
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HETETENEREEmTAMNEBRAS -

The Group also engages external
consultants/experts/valuers/advisors/
professionals to support technical
evaluations or provide independent
assessment.

AREBENZEIINBER ERMEERM,
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The management continuously monitors the
progress of the acquisition to ensure the
acquisition is within its expected financial
performance. Any material discrepancy
identified needs to be investigated and
informed to the Board immediately.
Moreover, the management conducts
independent assessment on the adequacy
of all the critical internal control points
and risk areas of the newly acquired
business to ensure that all the controls
and risk mitigations are in place.
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Operational Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
e 6K FL B

Loan guarantee risk

EXRERAR

One of the Company’s businesses is engaged
in the provision of credit-based financing
guarantee. The business depends on their
partners to perform credit check. The
Group’s monitoring of the partners’ credit
check is utmost important. If the partners
do not execute the credit check properly,
it could lead to loan default.

AARMHEP—BEBRIEREERERE
RoZEBIHARNEGERHNITEE
BE AEEEERECERHEESR
ENRREBEZ - MBER SR
MEEEEARZENT AIAIRREHNE
TREH -

The Group has strengthened the key

aspects of the lending policy and
procedures to ensure that a thorough
and comprehensive credit checks
are performed before granting of
the guarantee. Also, the Group has
performed regular monitoring of the
financial position of the borrowers,
frequent checks on the counterparties/
partners on their work in credit check,
monitoring of credit performance of the
borrowers, and reporting of loan status
as required by the policy and procedures
established by the Group.
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Furthermore, the Group detects leading

indicators of problems, and any sign of
material issues will be reported to the
management immediately for actions.
The Group continuously monitors the
Group's credit risk management strategy
and credit checking policy on those
counterparties/partners. The strategies
and credit checking policy are reviewed
and updated on a regular basis. Also,
a standardized follow-up and recovery
procedures for bad loans have been
established.
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Operational Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
e 1EC L B
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Loan, prepayment,
deposit, and trade
receivable risk

ER -BEARE-RE
ST ENEY

Litigation risk
o 74 L B

The Group currently has prepayment for
the consumable goods trading, deposit
paid to financing guarantee platform,
and bank for loan guarantee. There is
a risk of prepayment, deposit, and loan
receivable recoverability that could lead to
write-off and affect the Group’s financial
performance.

AEBABHEHERESNBANRIE -NT
BEERTAENREURNTRITER
ERERONES - FERMNRE K&
Ko & W B SR AT B 41 L B - R BE B
WiE R EREENT BRI -

The Group is currently involved in a number
of litigations and arbitrations in the PRC.
Lawsuits can have an adverse impact on
the Group, and the impact may lead to
significant monetary settlements that
materially affect the Group’s bottom line
and reputation.
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The Group continuously monitors the
deposit paid and receivables on a regular
basis. Any sign of issues will be reported
to management for actions.

REEFETHERENIEE REWIE-
i 38 {F {] R RE 0 R %% 1) B 3R B R S AR
HiTE -

Currently, the Group has engaged a
professional legal team to handle the
litigations and arbitrations. Any sign of
material issues will be reported to the
management immediately for actions.
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Operational Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
e 1EC L B

Cyber security and
leakage of sensitive
information

M2 RBBER
BE

The Group is involved in loan financing,
loan referral and consultancy, provision
of credit-based financing guarantee,
securities brokerage business, asset
management and insurance brokerage.
Some of these businesses rely on IT
technologies to keep track of customer
information, transaction records, personal
and financial data of customers etc. All of
these records are highly confidential.

AEBEREERRME ERENKHFEH 2
HENEENRERER BHFLLED-
BEBERRBEL D EB T 9K
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BEFMEARTBENEZ MAEZER
B ERE -

Also, some of the customers pay for the
services through third-party online
payment service providers. For such
transactions, secure transmission of
confidential information, such as
customers’ debit and credit card numbers
and expiry dates, personal information
and billing addresses, over the public
networks is essential.

N BoBXPFPERBE=FTERKINTR
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MFERRERRRHERIEA -EA
BRI RSN THER-

Any leakage of these information will have
serious consequences to the Group and
the customers. Any significant breach
of security of the Group's technology
platform could lead to the lawsuits
brought by the customers and sanctions
by government authorities in the
jurisdictions in which it operates, resulting
in significant harm to the Group’s
business operation, reputation and
financial position.

ZEERNEMRES U AEENETF
ERBERR - MASEERMFENL
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The Group has implemented measures
to protect the Group's proprietary
information database from internet
hacking and other unauthorized access to
the customers’ confidential information.

AEBEKBREBRNREARENEEE
HERE R MG ETHE Rt A
AEEEESHEPNREER -

The Group continuously monitors and
upgrades its software and systems to the
latest cyber-attack prevention version.
Systems vulnerability and penetration
testing are carried out regularly to
ensure that the data are protected from
unauthorized access. Also, the Group has
developed a company-wide cyber risk
policy and emergency procedures in case
of security breach.

REBFEEEERGMALG WIFEST
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Furthermore, the technical team regularly
receives updates and training relating
to cyber risk and business continuity,
and all critical data are backed up on a
regular basis and all backups are stored in
secured and safe places.
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Risk Mitigation
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Operational Risk
R E ks

Risk Description
2| B 4 3t

Risk of improper Employee fraud, partner fraud, money The Group has established the Anti-

dealing
FEXHWEAR

laundering and market manipulation
could have a negative impact on the
Group. According to the Code of Conduct
for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission,
employees have the obligation to disclose
and identify all the securities, futures
contracts or leveraged foreign exchange
contracts of their own dealings and
report to their senior management.

B BHGGE S ERHEGE B RMISERMR
FTRARHASEEREATE R
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M ARTER) EEFEEKE
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W o

Failure to detect employee’s trading
malpractice and to prevent conflicts of
interests between a firm’'s clients and its
employees, it may jeopardize the interests
of the employers and clients as a result.

MAEEREENIERH WM ERTT
FPHESMERMNEER AEGES
BEREFHNG-
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Money Laundering (“AML") guideline
and procedures for complying with the
regulatory requirements of Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC") and
Insurance Authority (“IA”). The Group
has carried out full assessment and due
diligence on new customers and existing
customers, and keeps monitoring if there
are any suspicious transactions. Also, the
internal control system has been set-up,
such as dual authorization and reviews, in
order to lower the risk of fraud.
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Furthermore, all employees are required to
attend AML training in order to update
and refresh the latest development of
the relevant legislation and regulatory
requirements. They are required to
declare if they have any existing trading
accounts opened in other securities
trading firm and all stocks held prior to
their employment.
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Compliance Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
e

Non-compliance
with the SFO,
Listing Rules and
PRC regulatory
authorities

THERFZRBE
%Hl- EHRAIR
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As a listed company in Hong Kong, the
Group has to comply with the rules and
regulations established by the regulatory
bodies. The rules and regulations that the
Group has to follow include the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance, Securities
& Futures Ordinance, and accounting
standards (e.g., Hong Kong Financial

Reportm Standards), etc.
W%k SN PV ITE
BE %%%ﬁmﬁ%%&f% $WI'\

On 10 December 2021, the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange has published conclusions
to its consultation on Review of the
Corporate Governance (“CG") Code and
Related Listing Rules, to enhance the
listed issuers’ CG standards and reporting.
The new requirements have come into
effect on 1 January 2022. N
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It is important for the Group to have
control measures to fulfil the compliance
requirements. As these rules and
regulations are subject to regular updates
from time to time, changes in regulations
could make the Group's current business
models unprofitable or unsustainable.
This is evidenced by the PRC regulatory
authorities that has tightened up the
regulations in consumer guarantee

lending platfor ms. .
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Failure to comply with these rules within
the designated timeframe may lead to
fines and legal penalties, and could lead
to damages to the Group’s reputation in
extreme cases.
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The management of the Group reviews
the new disclosure requirements, Listing
Rules, and accounting standards, etc.
Any material changes that could impact
the Group will be reported to senior
management or the Board for actions.
Also, the Group has engaged external
professional parties (e.g., auditors and
Iawyers) to advise on the new disclosure
requirements.
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Furthermore, the Group regularly assesses
the financial exposure on those business
lines that could be affected by regulatory
changes. Regular training has been
provided to the staff on new regulatory
and compliance requirements. -
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Risk Mitigation
e

Risk Description

28, e i 3t

Compliance Risk

a5 E

Non-compliance with The Group's businesses in securities The management of the Group are kept

governmental brokerage, asset management, insurance informed of the regulatory/policy updates
policies brokerage, loan guarantee and loan by receiving notification emails from
FTREBNBEEK consultation services are greatly different institutions and regulatory

Licensing & regulatory

risk

R K

EERR

influenced by governmental policies

(including macro policies, monetary

policies and financial policies).
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Failure to comply with the governmental
policies may expose the Group to the risk
of legal or regulatory sanctions, material
financial loss, or loss of reputation.

AR R B B ST B B - 2N &= B A BE M BR DA
BHEEHH BEAVBERIBER
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The Group’s businesses such as loan
guarantee, securities brokerage, asset
management, loan financing, loan
referral and consultancy services are
highly regulated businesses. They need
licenses and continuous compliance of
the rules and regulations. There is a risk
of non-compliance of licensing and other
regulatory requirements by the Group.

AREBEED (PIMEFTER BHEL

bodies from time to time. Management
and department head also attend external
training/workshop/forum on relevant
matters, such as corporate governance,
connected parties, government polices
etc. to keep abreast of the changes in the
applicable laws and regulations.
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Licenses and regulatory team is supported
by external consultants such as lawyers,
accountants and compliance consultants
to monitor the licenses and regulatory
requirements that could affect the Group'’s
guarantee and lending businesses.
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As a licensed and regulated corporation,
some licenses, such as Type 1 and the
Money Lenders Licence, are mandatory
for the operation of the Group's business.
Failure to renew or obtain all relevant
licenses would impact the business
operations and the Group may be subject
to fines.
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internal control and monitoring process
to regularly review the operations to
ensure the licensing compliance and
to keep abreast of the new regulatory
requirements. The compliance
consultants are responsible for reviewing
the compliance report of the Group
before the submission to the regulation
regulatory bodies.
AEBECHTEANEZEREREF  EH
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date of this report, there are no important events
affecting the Group after FY2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float under the
Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company securities.
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AUDITOR

As at the date of this report, there was no change in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022
have been audited by HLM CPA Limited. A resolution for their
re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the 2023 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Kequan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
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HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

18 3 B BAT R S

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,

181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

T AT 208 18198 K F KE 1581501-8 %
Tel ik (852) 3103 6980

Fax {8 H.: (852) 3104 0170

E-mail & #: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREATER CHINA FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ARPESRMERERAF

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Greater China Financial Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 74 to 255, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$326,213,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by HK$86,815,000 and its total liabilities exceeded its total
assets by HK$35,511,000 as at 31 December 2022. As at the
same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$26,280,000, while the Group recorded outstanding
borrowings of approximately HK$93,622,000 which are due for
repayment within the next twelve months.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has provided guarantees to some of its customers’
lenders in relation to these customers’ facilities and loans
amounting to approximately RMB1,004,020,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,135,245,000). As at 31 December 2022, a
guarantee project of approximately RMB53,746,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$60,770,000) out of the abovementioned
guarantees was defaulted. Included in this project, the customers’
lender has commenced litigations against several borrowers and
their guarantor, the subsidiary of the Group, for repaying the
outstanding loans. Another guarantee project of approximately
RMB166,529,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$188,295,000)
out of the abovementioned guarantees was defaulted in January
2023. The Group is in the risk that the customers’ lenders will
commence litigations against the borrowers and their guarantor,
the subsidiary of the Group, for repaying the outstanding loans.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed review
of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve
months from the date of this report and have been undertaking
a number of measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position which are set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, on the assumption
that there is no indication of the lenders have any current
intention to exercise their right to demand immediate repayment
thereon. The validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including
(i) whether the Group is able to obtain additional sources of
financing, as and when needed; (ii) the successful negotiations
between the customers’ lenders, borrowers and the guarantor,
the subsidiary of the Group, for the renewal of or extension for
repayment of the default borrowings in the guarantee projects;
and (iii) whether the Group can successfully improve its operation
to generate sufficient operating cash inflow.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements has been adequately disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements. Up to the date of our
report, no extension agreement has been reached between the
Group’s borrowers and the customers’ lenders regarding the
outstanding defaulted borrowings in the guarantee projects. In
view of the extent of the uncertainty relating to the successful
outcome of extension negotiations, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence in relation to the adoption
of the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBENRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is
not possible to form an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidation financial statements in
Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

HLM CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

YIP YUEN NGA

Practising Certificate Number: P05908
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBRa Rk EtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET

Revenue WA 5
Contracts with customers KEBEFEH 188,856 280,009
Interest under effective interest method & BB F R A E 2 & 13,095 4,858
Total revenue A 201,951 284,867
Cost of sales HHER AR (107,680) (122,447)
Gross profit E7 94,271 162,426
Other income, gains and losses HaA - = REE 7 75,491 163,848
Administrative and other operating TERRAEMEERY

expenses (86,979) (109,561)
Share-based payment expenses AR ST A R IE R X (1,787) (4,599)
Provision for financial guarantees, A EREE  HRED

net of reversal 31 (70,516) (120,977)
Impairment loss, net of reversal BIEEE  MERERD 8 (239,236) (176,049)
Impairment loss on goodwill e ZRERSE 18 (117,963) (98,549)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets R #E & E 2 B EE1E 17 (426) (12,981)
Finance costs B 1& A AN 9 (35,816) (29,244)
Loss before taxation BRI AT B 1B (382,961) (225,686)
Income tax (expense) credit Fri&H (A )R 10 (14,964) 23,925
Loss for the year FAER 11 (397,925) (201,761)
Other comprehensive (expense) Hih2mE (BIZ) KA >

income, net of tax HIBRBLE
Item that will not be reclassified RGBT 8B HIEE

subsequently to profit or loss: BazmAyEE -
Change in fair value of financial assets A FEFAEMEE

at fair value through other KamzemEEQATEED

comprehensive income 6,124 (7,789)
Items that are or may be reclassified RGBT DHE

subsequently to profit or loss: BEaayEA -
Exchange differences on translation HmBE BB AINER

of foreign operations MmEEMENZ5 (12,640) 12,177
Reserves released upon deregistration HUEH B B A 7] B AR B R 1

of subsidiaries - (2)
Reserves released upon disposal BB A R R RR

of a subsidiary - (22)
Other comprehensive (expense) FREMZE (BIX) A

income for the year (6,516) 4,364
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMAXAHE

for the year (404,441) (197,397)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReEBEREMEE KRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—EB-F —E-—%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(=2 THET FHET
(Loss) profit for the year UTFTATEEER
attributable to: (B8 &EH:
Owners of the Company KARHE A (326,213) (202,592)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M (71,712) 831
(397,925) (201,761)
Total comprehensive (expense) UMTATEEERZE
income for the year attributable to: (i) IR A4 %8 :
Owners of the Company ZA/NSIE Z =N (316,336) (205,170)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR HE 2 (88,105) 7,773
(404,441) (197,397)
HK cents HK cents
A AL
Loss per share BREE 15
Basic BN (4.20) (2.61)
Diluted 3 (4.20) (2.61)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB AR R

At 31 December 2022 RW-_ZT-_—F#+-_F=+—H
2022 2021
—_E—- —E - —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB REE 16 61,921 77,016
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 22,816 26,369
Goodwill GRS 18 110,070 228,033
Intangible assets ﬂﬁ?ﬁ? 19 - 500
Interests in associates AB N B B B 21 = =
Financial assets at fair value through TEZ\\SP1E|{|')\§W3£EL& 5 HY
other comprehensive income TREE 22 4,938 3,505
Financial assets at fair value through EATHEFABENEHEE
profit or loss 23 188,021 144,513
Deferred tax assets BEERRIBE E 34 37,264 49,061
Pledged bank deposit B IRIRITIF K 28 5,653 -
Deposits Ze 26 853 1,055
431,536 530,052
Current assets REBEE
Loans and interest receivables R E SRR T E 24 337,380 342,298
Trade and other receivables }EH&EE,TA&ﬁ{’@JEWM 25 104,612 77,609
Prepayments and deposits BRFERES 26 11,907 101,028
Loans to and interest receivables | \/TAYT—IE#TWHXTEE it
from a non-controlling interest JE U —TE FEVE AR A 2 Zﬂ 42 36,148 140,531
Loans to and interest receivables ERT—HBERA R
from an associate JEUR —RIEt & R B 2 F B 42 497 1,260
Financial assets at fair value through EBERAFEFABENSE mﬂéf?
profit or loss 23 6,905 20,891
Cash held on behalf of clients REFPEENRE 27 — 807
Restricted bank deposits SRR B IR1TF R 28 14,202 38,188
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBE2EFED 29 26,280 47,936
537,931 770,548
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIEHENEE 36 5,781 =
543,712 770,548
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables, other payables JE A~ BR 3K EL A B S 5RIE K2
and accruals HEEJFL%F@ 30 99,934 116,857
Contract liabilities aHEaE 1,032 162
Lease liabilities ﬁ“ﬂffﬁl E 33 6,776 5,777
Liabilities from financial guarantees BEERAE 31 402,219 359,925
Amount due to non-controlling interests & {5 JE 4% B% 4 25 U IE 42 9,497 10,306
Borrowings =P 32 93,622 63,799
Tax payables JE 1<) 754 18 16,305 12,277
629,385 569,103
Liabilities associated with assets HAOEARFELEN
classified as held for sale EEEBEMNARG 36 1,142 =
630,527 569,103
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AN b Q)
e B RER
At 31 December 2022 W-_Z-_—4+_-A=+—H

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5 FET FETT

Net current (liabilities) assets iE(EB)EEFE (86,815) 201,445

Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBES 344,721 731,497
Non-current liabilities kFBEE

Lease liabilities MEAE 33 4,777 10,992

Borrowings BE 32 185,463 178,082

Convertible notes AR ER 35 189,992 175,280

380,232 364,354

Net (liabilities) assets BE (BE)F8E (35,511) 367,143
Capital and reserve BEXR#EE

Share capital & 2 37 7,776 7,776

Reserves ] (174,125) 140,424

(Deficit)/equity attributable to owners of N2 Bl A A FEAS

the Company (Es4t) = (166,349) 148,200

Non-controlling interests FEVE IR A 130,838 218,943

(Capital deficiency)/total equity (EXEH) TERET (35,511) 367,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial

statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 255 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

28 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Kequan

BmREE
DIRECTOR
EF

12 M B TS SRR Y i R % 5 B 15 R 0 A A AR

7 e

BN BTAEE2S5B AV BRERIIKES
=E=ZA -+ N\BH#EREESR

ER_FT_
TYHERRRE:
Mr. Yang Dayong
BRERXE
DIRECTOR
BE
APESBMERERAT | =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &=

E S+ A=+—RIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KRB AER
Convertible
Share notes Non-
Share Share option equity  Translation  Revaluation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
TERZR
Bx  RGEE BRERE  BRREE 0 EXRE  EMRE  iERE  2HER N FBRER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL AL TEL TAL TAL T TAL TAL TAT T TEL
At 1 January 2021 R=F-—-F-f-A 1,175 2,119,567 37,662 53,452 (20,521) (141,965) 9,290 (1,716,583) 348,677 213,747 562,424
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (202,592) (202,592) 831 (201,761)
Other comprehensive expense Eft2ERX
- Change in fair value of -BRATETALL
financial assets at fair value 2EYEZEREAE
through other ATEES
comprehensive income - - - - - (7,789) - - (7,789) - (7,789
~ Exchange differences on -RARENEBM
translation of foreign operations EEMELZR - - = = 5,185 = = = 5,185 6,992 12,21
~ Release of translation reserve SRR EINGEY
upon deregistration of subsidiaries  BRIE S FiE - - - - Q) - = = @ = @
~ Release of translation reserve -HENBARGRRE
upon disposal of subsidiaries EHEE - - = - 28 = - - 28 (50) 22)
Total comprehensive expense ENZERXAEE
for the year - - - - 5211 (7,789) = (202,59) (205,170) 1173 (197,397)
Recognition of equity-settled ANREEERAZ T
share-based payment expenses FERT - - 4599 - - - - - 4,59 - 4,599
Issue of shares upon exercise RFERERBIRN
of share options 1 137 (44) - - - - - 9% - 9%
Share options lapsed during the year ~ FRE XM HIE i S S (37,691) = S S S 37,691 S S S
Derecognition of non-controlling HE-FHEAR
interest on disposal of subsidiary RIEERIE RS - - = = = = = = = (2,577) (2,577)
Profit appropriations to BREATREZET
statutory reserve - - - - - - 1,100 (1,100) - - -
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022
1,776 2,119,704 4526 53,452 (15,310) (149,754) 10,390 (1,882,584) 148,200 218,943 367,143
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (326213  (326213) (11712 (397,925)
Other comprehensive expense E2ERR
- Change in fair value of financial -~ ~RATEF AL
assets at fair value through PENG EREE
other comprehensive income ATEES - = = = = 6,124 = = 6,124 = 6,124
- Exchange differences on -RAZENEBM
translation of foreign operations EEMELZR - - = = 3,753 = = = 3,753 (16,393) (12,640)
Total comprehensive expense FNRERXEE
for the year - - - - 3753 6,124 - (326,213) (316,336) (88,105) (404,441)
Recognition of equity-settled ERNRELERA
share-based payment expenses FRRERT - - 1,787 - - - - - 1,787 = 1,787
Disposal of investment in equity HERATETA
instruments at fair value through Et2EKEZ
other comprehensive income RAIAKRE - - - - - 86,060 = (86,060) = = =
Profit appropriations to ERZETRE G
statutory reserve - - - - - - 3,122 (3.122) - - -
At 31 December 2022 W_E-—&
+-A=t+-AH 1,776 2,119,704 6,313 53,452 (11,557) (57,570) 13,512 (2,297,979) (166,349) 130,838 (35,511)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHEIT
Operating activities RETH
Loss before taxation R Tt RIS 1B (382,961) (225,686)
Adjustments for: NI BERE R (o k-
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- HERZBETE
equipment 16 9,368 9,764
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEERE 17 2,916 4,907
Fair value change on financial assets RO EFAEBRD
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEELATFEE 7 (34,388) (119,354)
Interest income B U A 7 (32,247) (33,170)
Investment income HEWA 7 (41) (192)
Realised loss on financial assets RO EFABRD
at fair value through profit or loss PRIEECEERER 7 421 145
Share-based payment expenses ARR 7 2 AT RRIBEA XX 1,787 4,599
Provision for financial guarantees A EREE 31 70,516 120,977
Impairment loss, net of reversal BIEEE  MERERD 8 239,236 176,049
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 18 117,963 98,549
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRAEEERERE 17 426 12,981
Finance costs B RN 9 35,816 29,244
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— RN E AR 2 s 40 - (1,492)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME BEREREZ
plant and equipment e 58 7 - (250)
Loss on write-off of property, WiEmE  HE R
plant and equipment wiEZ BB 7 10 118
Loss (gain) on lease modification HEBIT2EE (WE) 7 217 (640)
Loss on termination of a lease RIFrHETH 2B
arrangement 7 - 308
Gain on loan modification ECNCH PR ¢ 7 (3,735) -~
Net foreign exchange loss (gain) b H 18 (Yess) F58 7 6 (226)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁrﬁiiﬁa%%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—EB--F —ZT-—%F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHEIT
Operating cash flows before movements &8 & & & B A1 A
in working capital REREME 25,310 76,631
Increase in trade and other receivables JRE U5 B K e EL At B W SR IR
1% 40 (136,318) (152,977)
Increase in loans to and interest receivables & U & 3 & ) & 38 A1 (13,729) (30,545)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments and  FBfTFIE RiZ&m D (380)
deposits 52,501 (26,412)
Increase in loans to and interest receivables & X ¥ — B JE{E i i 25 K&
from a non-controlling interest JE 5 EL R 23 N (2,869) (57,302)
Decrease in loans to and interest BT —HEBE AR R
receivables from an associate FEWEF SR 703 8,848
(Increase) decrease in cash held on REFHEHEZ
behalf of clients W () Rk (228) 208
Decrease in restricted bank deposits PR B RITF RO L 21,654 81,617
Decrease in trade payables, JRE A~ BR K~ L JE A5 FRIE
other payables, deposits received B EIE e REFE AR
and accruals (12,326) (50,581)
Increase in contract liabilities BRBEEM 901 50
Cash used in operations KrEESBMAZRS (64,401) (150,463)
Interest paid B F A (13,907) (8,284)
Income tax paid ERATIEH (1,717) (1,895)
Tax refunded FriS iR O - 119
Net cash used in operating activities &E&EBHACESFE (80,025) (160,523)
Investing activities REEH
Interest received 2 A8 708 5,865
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE KWERE&EB
equipment 16 (19) (1,104)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME HER
plant and equipment TR IR 2 274
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZRAFEFTABRZZ
assets at fair value through Bl & EFT1SRIE
profit or loss 4,445 15,542
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERA T E AHM
assets at fair value through THKGZZEMEE
other comprehensive income P15 18 4,691 -
Proceeds from sales and SHE RERIREMSHIEA
redemption of investments 41 192
Placement of pledged bank deposit FABEBRITER (5.832) -
Payment for early termination of lease AR IEHE R K - (308)
Net cash outflow arising on HE—RNBRARIEELZ
disposal of a subsidiary &ML FE 40 - (62)
Net cash generated from RETBHFMBRLSFER
investing activities 4,036 20,399
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-—-F —E - —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
Financing activities MEEE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMSHIA 138,479 196,062
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (81,275) (92,900)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 775 B A FT 15 7K 18 - 94
Repayment for lease liabilities EBEEHERE (7.579) (12,537)
Net cash generated from RMETBHMERSER
financing activities 47 49,625 90,719
Net decrease in cash and RERREEBYRD FE
cash equivalents (26,364) (49,405)
Cash and cash equivalents R—B—BZzHER
at 1 January REEEY 47,936 90,302
Effect of foreign exchange ERSHNTE
rate changes 8,576 7,039
Cash and cash equivalents R+=-—A=+—82
at 31 December RERBEEEY 30,148 47,936
Analysis of the balances of cashand HRERBEESEEYHERDI !
cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBE2EFED 29 26,280 47,936
Cash and bank balance in DERFELHERD
assets classified as held for sale BEFZRER
RITHE R 36 3,868 -
30,148 47,936
APESREZEREBRAR | —T__FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the
Company'’s registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong is Suites 3612-16, Tower
Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding,
industrial property development, general trading of
consumable goods, securities brokerage, insurance
brokerage, asset management and loan financing operation
including loan financing, financial guarantee services, loan
referral and consultancy services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. In addition, the functional currencies of
certain group entities that operate outside Hong Kong are
determined based on the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group entities operate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Amendments to HKFRS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2021

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

2. RAEAMBHREER ([F
e R E R ) RERT R

(“HKFRSs") (Continued) (%)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet MR RERZ T KRBT E B
effective B &R

The Group has not early applied the following new and REBEWARRAER T2 EMAERRE

84

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

M H 7] MRIER] &

B ss R -

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts and the BB BmEER RigE A RBBES
October 2020 and related Amendments! F175% (B1F
February 2022) “ECTETAR
—T--F-R)
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets AV REER BEEHEERE QT
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10REEBSE FEELCEZHE
Associate or Joint Venture? R F 285K K HEFTABE?
{EETAR
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in Sale and BB B RE LR ERANNHEERE?
Leaseback? F16RMERT R
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as ERGHENE RN BEIEARDK
Current or Non-current and EFIEN ERBAREEZ
related amendments to Hong BESR(ZT=F
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’ F)zB#@ER
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BB ENFEIRN HEZONERD
Covenants? CHIN B &
Amendments to HKAS Disclosure of Accounting EREEHENEIRR SHHEHRE
1 and HKFRS Practice Policies' AN KR EER
Statement 2 ERmEE2RM
{EETAR
Amendments to HKAS 8 Disclosure of Accounting BB EFESRN SEEFHRE
Estimates' EFIE
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets AT ERE129% BE-RHEEN
and Liabilities arising from a BER] R EERBEBHZ
Single Transaction’ R IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

2. RAEAMBHREER ([F

e R E R ) RERT R

(%)

CHEMERERER T REETERY
B|EER (8)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are account for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable input is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equal the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern basis

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$326,213,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$86,815,000 and its total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by HK$35,511,000 as at 31
December 2022. As at the same date, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$26,280,000, while the
Group recorded outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$93,622,000 which are due for repayment within the next
twelve months.

The Group has provided guarantees to some of its customers’
lenders in relation to these customers’ facilities and loans
amounting to approximately RMB1,004,020,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,135,245,000). As at 31 December
2022, a guarantee project of approximately RMB53,746,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$60,770,000) out of the
abovementioned guarantees was defaulted. Included in this
project, the customers’ lender has commenced litigations
against several borrowers and their guarantor, a subsidiary
of the Group, for repaying the outstanding loans. Another
guarantee project of approximately RMB166,529,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$188,295,000) out of the
abovementioned guarantees was defaulted in January
2023. The Group is in the risk that the customers’ lenders
will commence litigations against the borrowers and their
guarantor, the subsidiary of the Group, for repaying the
outstanding loans.

The courts of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
have ordered to freeze certain of the Group's bank accounts
of approximately HK$3,589,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to improve the liquidity pressure
and to improve its financial position, but are not limited to,
the following:

(i) The Group is taking measures to tighten cost control with
an aim to attain positive cash flow from operations;

(i) The Group has been actively negotiating with certain
financial institutions and identifying various options for
financing the Group’s working capital as well as the
commitments in the foreseeable future;

(iii) The Group has been actively negotiating with a number
of financial institutions for renewal and extension of bank
borrowings and credit facilities;

(iv) The Group is currently taking active actions in following
up the repayment of overdue receivables including but
not limited to taking legal action; and

(v) The Group is actively negotiating corporate restructure
proposals to reduce the liabilities and commitment within
the Group.

The directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by management. The cash flow projections cover
a period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2022. They are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as
to whether management of the Company will be able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group's ability to generate adequate
financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) Successfully obtaining additional new sources of
financing as and when needed;

(i) Successful negotiations between the customers’ lenders,
borrowers and the guarantor, the subsidiary of the
Group, for the renewal of or extension for repayment of
the defaulted borrowings in the guarantee projects; and

(iii) Whether the Group can successfully improve its operation
to generate sufficient operating cash inflow.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and
entities (including structured entities) controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

¢ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

90

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group is an investor of a fund in which the Group
also acts as a fund manager, the Group will determine
whether it is a principal or an agent for the purpose of
assessing whether the Group controls the relevant fund.

An agent is a party primarily engaged to act on behalf and
for the benefit of another party or parties (the principal(s))
and therefore does not control the investee when it exercises
its decision-making authority. In determining whether the
Group is an agent to the fund, the Group would assess:

e the scope of its decision-making authority over the
investee;

e the rights held by other parties;

e the remuneration to which it is entitled in accordance
with the remuneration agreements; and

e the decision maker's exposure to variability of returns
from other interests that it holds in the investee.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
reattribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. &Rk GEREELE
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amounts of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary, that is reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs. The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets
is determined not to be a business and no further assessment
is needed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on
or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a
liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework")
except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ending within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at
the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date, that is the
date when the Group obtains control, and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operation policy decisions of the investee
but is not control over those policies.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates and joint
ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of
the consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of
net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net
assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which the additional interest are
acquired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Gooawill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On the disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on the disposal
(or any of the cash-generating unit within a group of cash-
generating unit in which the Group monitors goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described in “Investments in associates”
above.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in
an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion
of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held
for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the
Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation
to the portion that is classified as held for sale from the
time when the investment (or a portion of the investment) is
classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell which continue to be
measured in accordance with the accounting policies as set
out in respective sections.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, that is when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives or consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, that is only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satistfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold
improvements, buildings, warehouse held for provision of
storage services, furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor
vehicles that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purpose. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as "“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Right-of use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related
rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical
expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review or a change
in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that standalone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate, unless the change in
lease payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount
rate that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets.
A lease modification is required by interest rate benchmark
reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct
costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S8R GREXE LS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the
new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification (Continued)

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases
the lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified
lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due, the Group accounts for the portions which
have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e. the
lease payments which are contractually due but not paid)
by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements under
HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised
(i.e. the lease payments which are not yet contractually due)
as at the effective date of modification.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform for
a finance lease that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group applies the same accounting policies as those
applicable to financial instruments (see accounting policy
below).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur, therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation, which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group, that is Hong Kong dollars, using the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation, that is a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset, all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals, that is partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of
the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
gooadwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require the delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue and interest
expense are recognised on an effective interest basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including
expected credit losses, to the amortised cost on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

A MR RS

RERE
REETHER &)

BEAREHEBE(E)
THEE (&)
TEEEN S EHNAETE (BE)

MEATEEEREATEFAREMEE
W ([EAFEFAEMEEERE])ET
ENERMEE:

e TREERMBNA/HERKNMALNR
EREBMNEKEAMTE K

s ANBRFGIBNEEANZRAERE
ERXNAERREEZAESHE -

MEHREMEREERRIE A FEFARR
AEEMNZEREREYIFFFEEERA
BERWBTREBM B RELEREIRF
BEHMERZRGA TR ERNIAN
B AIASEEARNEERTREEZ R
AR R ER A b2 W 2515
SR EMNREQN T EZS-

BEAN - AN ES B AT gE S AIHEl HE HE SE — B 2R
R HEK AR AV EFT AR M EE RS
AEZEREENER AT EG ABRTE
AR R B EIEErFDERSCAEBR D G5t
Aic

RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW

123



124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

IR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

(i)
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Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

(ii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

At the date of initial recognition, the Group may make
an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as
at FVTOCI.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
Revaluation Reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “Other income,
gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

The Group applies the ECL model to the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
loans and interest receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

— financial guarantee contracts issued.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, other receivables, deposit paid and loans and
interest receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or
collectively with internal credit ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, for example, a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

IR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
365 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets write-off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default that is the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default, and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables, deposit paid and loans and interest
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

4= AR

I =] /\j%&#&%nﬁﬂ

RS

K“%ﬁm%

EXREFHBE(E)
e@EE (&)

(v)

«ﬁﬁ?*%%% BRI FE W F A (TR (E

A2 AR (E (4B
EHEEEENTERER (B)

—RmE BHEEEFEERESD
@1—T$%E@Fﬁﬁéﬁfﬁimbggﬁi$
51‘5?’EHHH%HQHXE/‘JEEEE/MEZFE?E@%
B8 ff 51 W 3R 9116 1 SR 2 5E 1 B BR
MZRBEIR o

RMEERAEAOMS AKBEAR
RIEERTEGREFAROSIEL
XAt BREEBEREERHA
AFTEAEEBENERIBZRE
BAKEBFERFAEA BEHARIE
fa] Eo Al 77 B A ] 2 5

RERMNEELEENREEZERALD
WEMEEERAMS AKEKER
RERE TS HEREEENTG
ERERZFERBRMMBRER  BE
RBEBFHEMREMIFAEBEIERR
MERE T REMAARBRBRANIER
TER -

BRiEBERERERERAREARNE
IR Eb B RTE  ERIRE A K
FE U B SR R I B A AN R B i B R
FiEeMTAMNEAERERBERE
VR E A R

RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW

131



132

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’'s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, deferred
consideration, trade payables and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes

The component parts of convertible notes issued by the
Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. When the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible notes, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained earnings.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion
or expiration of the conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient,
when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result
in a substantial modification from original terms taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification
is considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

3.

%é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ&é
RNEETBUER (8)

EXREFHBE(E)
E@EELRATA (&)

/LG =]
a] g 2= e (4

HEETRBREEBRBE X HKARTIIEM
SREARZIELIPEERABERER
WMo - EBERANHBE IR HRATIE &
Rig@FI - BB ELIEBE IR ZHA
Dt NEERSD ZREE ERATBER
B R ERR N ROEEH

AEBREEEEERE  BURSE R -
TERIIEREBAB - WRULEANS
REENRRERCSNRENREZEZR

BRTREAMEEERNEMEHE LIRS TR
BEEBBLEEC - (EAUTET A
E2RBENESREKRBENRE AEE
EEBIMERBEEMER (BRETH
AR)& FHERENERELSEN
HEREEBKROERER - MR EMFEHL
ESHER ASERAE BFERET
BERNITRRE (BENRERRER
FERWBETENEMNER EemasE
FAEBSRMTRBEBEELEI0%NME
B RFEEREZRE-A - EBEKITAE
MR BSEIERERIW R BRI FTEE
MERIK A BRI ER AR IEFEIRN
— B ERENM0%E  RIBHB K
WA BIEE KB -

RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW

135



136

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’” original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised
over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.

Chanages in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by updating the
effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate
normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of
the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

e the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the change).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost
or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that
are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts are
treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless
those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer, that
is the guarantor, to make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss
the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group issues a guarantee, the contracted fee
of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred income
within liabilities from guarantees. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The guarantee issued and not designated as at FVTPL is
initially recognised at its fair value less transaction costs that
are directly attributable to guarantees issued.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the amount carried in “liabilities from financial guarantees”
in respect of the guarantees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Guarantees issued (Continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks
specific to the cash flows.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax, as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

3.

AR REREERS
RNEETBUER (8)

EXREFHBE(E)
HE (&)

EEBARENREENTERRAEER
BEPRERKBZRONEEELEENA
ERRmEMNHBFERR-

RASBHERAEAEEEREREERE
MEEXZAEELEHRER AEEEE
BEEHBAREERRACHEEEXHEE
BfE-

AHEREREHEHERBEZHERS K
SEHEERS ((FREB)ERAETES
BB EE R E - ERAEEE

AfE-BEREAREENEBEAHERR
TERONBEENT BRAIMKERZ
BFE-

EHMREERENR R PR BRIFRF
HIREN E M 2 W s s B RN T
ROBERAH REBRAT EHNEL
BENS AN EMEEREIEENER
PR -MAHEGAFETISERE
BEMELANERRBASELEREMS @ K
BEEBIGAZHAHNEARIEA -

RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW

141



142

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
national statutory social security insurance scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts
resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(i)

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revised its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve transferred to retained profits.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

(i) Share options granted to employees (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

(vila person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personal services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.
A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, where
necessary, when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Classification for warehouse for provision of storage services

The Group determines whether the warehouse in the PRC
should be classified as property, plant and equipment or an
investment property. The warehouse is used to generate
warehouse storage income that comprises warehouse rentals
and income from the supply of warehouse logistics services.
In making its judgement, the directors of the Company
considered that income and cash flows from warehouse
rentals and warehouse logistics services are interdependent
and cannot be separated. In addition, the directors of the
Company determined that the provision of warehouse
logistics services is significant to the warehouse storage
operation as a whole. For these reasons, the directors of
the Company considered that the warehouse is classified as
property, plant and equipment in accordance with HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment.

Control over non-wholly owned subsidiaries

Note 43 describes that the Group held less than a majority of
ownership interest and voting rights in its non-wholly owned
subsidiaries.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not
the Group has control over Xin Yunlian Advertising Media
(Zhejiang) Company Limited and Ninbo Yunlian Micro-
Financing Company Limited based on whether the Group has
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of these
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries unilaterally by considering
the Group’s absolute size of holding in them, the relative
size and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders and the
practical right to appoint the majority members of the board
of directors of these non-wholly owned subsidiaries. After
their assessments, the directors of the Company concluded
that the Group has the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of these non-wholly owned subsidiaries and affect
the amount of the Group’s return. Therefore, the Group has
control over these non-wholly owned subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment mainly represents the
Group's warehouse property. Property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of
the property, plant and equipment other than warehouse
is determined with reference to the fair value less costs
of disposal of those property, plant, and equipment. The
recoverable amount of warehouse is determined based on a
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group, using the depreciated
replacement cost approach. An impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, other
than the carrying amount of warehouse of HK$58,803,000
(2021: HK$72,754,000), is HK$3,118,000 (2021:
HK$4,262,000).

Right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value of the right-of-use assets less costs to sell or the future
expected cash flows. An impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of right-of-use assets of leasehold
land is determined based on a valuation carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group, using the depreciated replacement cost approach.
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets is HK$20,008,000
(2021: HK$22,485,000).

The Group performed impairment assessment of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets for the
years ended 31 December 2022, no impairment loss has been
recognised for property, plant and equipment (2021: Nil) and
impairment loss of HK$426,000 (2021: HK$12,981,000) has
been recognised for right-of-use assets.

Impairment loss on goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating units and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
When the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$110,070,000 (2021:
HK$228,033,000), net of accumulated impairment losses of
HK$367,784,000 (2021: HK$264,321,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision of ECL

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires significant
judgment and estimation, in particular, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk and credit-impaired financial
assets as well as the estimation of the amount and timing
of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses. These estimates are driven by a number
of factors, changes in which can result in different levels
of allowances. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the
risk of default occurring over the expected life between
the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and also forward-looking analysis. Details of the
key assumptions and inputs used are set out in note 49(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Provision of guarantee losses

The Group makes reasonable estimate on expenses required
to fulfil the relevant obligations of guarantee contracts when
the Group computes the provisions of guarantee losses. Such
estimation is made based on the available information as at
the end of each reporting period and is determined by the
Group's practical experience, default history of the business,
taking into consideration of industry information and market
data. It is possible that the practical experience and default
history is not indicative of future loss on the guarantees
issued. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect
profit or loss in future years.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee and
incentive payment

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee
and incentive payment arising on the acquisition of
subsidiaries was determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select an appropriate
basis from a variety of methods and makes assumptions,
including the discount rates, estimation of post-acquisition
performance of the acquired subsidiaries and the probability
of meeting their profit targets. They are subsequently
remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in assumptions used could materially affect the
fair value of the balances and as a result affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operation.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTPL — profit
guarantee and incentive payment as at 31 December 2022
was HK$188,021,000 (2021: HK$144,513,000).

Fair value measurement of other financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in
active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The
inputs to this model are taken from observable markets
where possible but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements
include consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit
risk and volatility.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BE S AE R (EFTTBHRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes in various jurisdictions. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred taxes

The directors of the Company exercise full control over the
dividend policy of subsidiaries in the PRC. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, it is not probable that
dividends would be declared by the PRC subsidiaries in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Group did not provide
additional deferred tax in 2022 related to the unremitted
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries that are subject to
withholding taxes once distributed.

Going concern consideration

The directors of the Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group will be
able to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future,
which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumptions involves making a judgement by the directors,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors consider that, after taking
into account of all major events or conditions which may give
rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumptions as set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has the capability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5. WA
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBRFANKRASFTOT :
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers: RERFPEHMNKE :
Sales of goods HESm = 394
Warehouse storage income B EFBIRA 17,308 13,656
Income from loan financing business EXmEEBL 2B/A
— Loan referral and consultancy —ERENRBAREE
services fee 52,622 87,314
— Guarantee fee income from —MEERIERERA
financial guarantees 109,148 170,213
Income from securities brokerage business & &40 E B 2 WA
— Commission income from —BHERHZHEERA
securities dealing 31 29
— Commission income from — B2 BA
underwriting - 2
Commission income from RipLL 2 A BA
insurance brokerage 2,709 2,842
Commission income from EEBEZASWA
asset management 15 201
Advertising income B E WA 7,023 5,358
188,856 280,009
Revenue from interest under effective REBREBRMEZEZAEZ
interest method: FB W E
Income from loan financing business EXREEB WA
— Interest income from —ERERZF BHWA
loans receivables 13,095 4,858
13,095 4,858
Total revenue NN 201,951 284,867
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mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operations are organised into securities
brokerage, asset management, insurance brokerage, loan
financing, industrial property development business and
general trading. Information reported to the chief operating
decision maker ("CODM") for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance is
prepared on such basis. The Group is organised into the
following reportable and operating segments:

Industrial property development segment represents the
operation of a warehouse in the the PRC.

General trading segment includes trading of consumable
goods in the PRC.

Loan financing (I) segment represents the provision of
financial guarantees, loan financing, loan referral and
consultancy services in Hong Kong and Beijing.

Loan financing (Il) segment represents the provision of
micro-financing, loan referral and consultancy services in
Ningbo.

Others segment represents the operation of securities
brokerage, margin financing, provision of asset
management services and provision of insurance
brokerage and agency service in Hong Kong and
advertising service in the PRC.

6.

7 EEF

AEBONEBY KESFKL BEEER
Rpgr EXRE TXRADEERE
%51& REZG MEBLEREE ([ &
BAREZ2FMAR S EERNFH
"*Bi‘%ﬁﬂ’]éﬁﬂh@i%/ﬁ%ﬁ*‘i°$’$I—J
DRATAIZREEEDE:

- IXAMERER
EO

- —REZHHE

ROBEETBEELER

RETFBENHEERE

§m

o

- EXBEO»MEEFERILREHR

BMEER EXRE BEFENREH
AR -

- BEXRBEND BEEBERERDEE
% EHEN LA AR o

- HinHEERFELERSFLEL R
EoME RHUEESERS MEH
REELEMRERF AR ETEHR
[EE IR

RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW

155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEVE K (4
Segment revenues and results DEBARFE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and NTRAEERAZHRD EE D HRA K
results by reportable segments. FEOHo
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E--_F+=-A=+—-HLFE
Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading (0] (I Others Total
I¥RNERE -RE€% ERBEN  EXBE) Heh @zt
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx TR FHR FER TER Thn
SEGMENT REVENUE TEHRA
Recognised at a point in time RE-KHERR - - 18 - 2,755 2,113
Recognised over time BRECED 17,308 - 109,148 52,604 7,023 186,083
Recognised from other source BEMREEER - - - 13,095 - 13,905
17,308 - 109,166 65,699 9,778 201,951
SEGMENT RESULTS PHRE 1,254 (22,260) (76,454) (60,715) (2,887) (161,062)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREFR - - - (117,963) - (117,963)
Impairment loss on loans to and ERT-EEEREER
interest receivables from EURHAENAESR
a non-controlling interest - - - (117,501) - (117,501)
Unallocated corporate income FARELERA 20,984
Unallocated corporate expenses FABOERE (24,319)
Unallocated finance costs ROBHBRE (15,701)
Net fair value change on financial BRBREDNTEIEN
assets at FVTPL SREEZNTELHFE 34,388
Share-based payment expenses DR % A F0B B % (1,787)
Loss before taxation BEAER (382,961)
Income tax expense FrehEx (14,964)
Loss for the year rEERR (397,925)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

. yaNkvi S IN =
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. D EBE R (#)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBMAREE (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_T_—FT+A=T—HLEHFE
Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading () (Ih Others Total
T£RNERRE —H%ES EHEEA( ERRA Eih FEE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T THET ThEL Fign FAEL TAT
SEGMENT REVENUE LN
Recognised at a point in time RE-RHEER - - 15311 672 3,468 19,451
Recognised over time ReFs R E R 13,656 S 170,213 71,331 5358 260,558
Recognised from other source BEMRRCHER - - - 4,858 - 4,858
13,656 - 185,524 76,861 8,826 284,867
SEGMENT RESULTS PHEE (4,716) (354) (128,150) (82,856) (3,199) (219,275)
Impairment loss on goodwil BERESR = = = (98,549) = (98,549)
Impairment loss on loans to and BERT-EEERERR
interest receivables from RUEFISHAEER
a non-controlling interest - - - (68) - (68)
Unallocated corporate income RABBERA 24,35
Unallocated corporate expenses RABEERR (26,616)
Unallocated finance costs RO BEHBRA (14,016)
Unallocated fair value change on BREREATEIIEN
financial assets at FVTPL EREECADRATES 119,419
Unallocated impairment loss on RABEEZRPHAERE
right-of-se assets (6,334)
Share-based payment expenses P OFGEEF (4,599)
Loss before taxation BEAIER (225,686)
Income tax credit eyt 23,925
Loss for the year rEEER (201,761)
All of the segment revenues reported above are from external EXFERNMAMED HWALKRBINRE
customers. e
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Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and

liabilities by reportable segments.

At 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

UTRARBEERABRAIZHD BE

SEDH -
R=Z==F+=H=+-8

I

Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading (0] (I Others Total
TERNERE -RES EHRE() e ()] it b
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx TR FHR FER TER Thn
ASSETS EE
Segment assets ATHEE 83,647 7,897 224,012 296,865 11,111 623,532
Goodwill HE - - - 110,070 - 110,070
Loans to and interest receivables from ERT-EEERERR
a non-controlling interest ERHFAL - - - 36,148 - 36,148
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents ~ *2EBEERELEEY 4,049
Unallocated property, plant and KAENE BERRE
equipment 193
Unallocated other receivables, RABEERFE
prepayments and deposits BREREE 1,392
Unallocated financial assets at FVTOCI RABRATEFALMZE
BENEREE 4,938
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL KABRATETABEN
tHEE 194,926
Consolidated total assets GREELE 975,248
LIABILITIES af
Segment liabilities AHEE 47,553 28,406 432,193 268,086 4,724 780,962
Unallocated other payables KABEEMFE 3,116
Unallocated horrowings FABEE 23,400
Unallocated lease liabilities FABHERE 3,792
Unallocated amount due to KABEMFERERNE
non-controlling interests 9,497
Unallocated convertible notes KABURREE 189,992
Consolidated total liabilities GEEBEE 1,010,759
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

6. DEBE R (&)
SBEEREE (E)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ T - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

At 31 December 2021 R_ZE-_—F+-A=+—H
Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading () (Ih Others Total
IXRNELE —H%ES EHEEA( BRBAN) it FEE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T THET ThEL Fign Fitn T
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHEE 102,459 26,328 297,237 324,107 10,367 760,498
Goodwill B S = - 228,033 - 228,033
Loans to and interest receivables from ERT-BHERERR
a non-controlling interest FEYEFIE - - - 140,531 - 140,531
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents RARRERRELFEN 625
Unallocated property, plant and equipment — RAENE  BE kiklh 261
Unallocated other receivables, RAOMEEYFE
prepayments and deposits BRFERES 1,743
Unallocated financial assets at FVTOCI RARBRATEFARMEE
hamemEE 3,505
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL RAWBRATESABRE
EREE 165,404
Consolidated total assets BEBE 1,300,600
LIABILITIES BE
Segment liabilities PEERE 64,491 24,648 429,038 217,162 3,807 739,146
Unallocated other payables RABEERFHE 2,190
Unallocated lease liabilities RORBEBE 6,535
Unallocated amount due to ROBERFERERTE
non-controlling interests 10,306
Unallocated convertible notes RARITAREE 175,280
Consolidated total liabilities GABEAT 933,457
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Other information

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. DEFE R (#)
Hagp
BE-E-—F+-A=+t—HLEE

Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading (] (I Others Unallocated Total
IXAN%EE -RES ()] EE-(()] it RAE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET THET TET THET TER
Information included in segment TTADHEE/ FHEEN
results/segment assets: g
Depreciation e 9,275 - 345 2,540 57 67 12,284
Bank interest income RITFERA (18) (19) (154) (295) (5) - (491)
Other loans interest income HtEZFS WA = = (10,871) = = = (10,871)
Investment income RERA - - (41) = = = #1)
Finance costs B S 3476 1,188 374 14,720 356 15,702 35,816
Loss on write-off of property, WENE BER
plant and equipment REZER - - - - 10 - 10
Impairment losses HEFE - 20,850 30,584 187,799 3 - 239,236
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets £ & ERERE - 174 252 - - - 426
Provision for financial guarantees MEEREE = = 97,323 (26,807) = = 70,516
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T - F+_-_A=1+—HIEE
Industrial Loan Loan
property General financing financing
development trading (I) (I Others Unallocated Total
TE£ANELR —#E% BREA(N BHBEN) ity FOE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT ThT ThT TiEn TiEx TiEn Tin
Information included in segment AR BEE/ FBEEN
results/segment assets: EH:
Amortisation and depreciation BHRNE 9,579 - 1,111 1,769 156 2,056 14,671
Bank interest income RITRIBMA (28) (15) (192) (50) 0] (1) (288)
Other loans interest income EEFFH S WA = = (9,442) = = = (9,442)
Investment income RERA = = (159) (33) = = (192)
Finance costs gL 4,357 951 390 9,366 164 14,016 29,244
Fair value change on financial assets BATEABEN
at FVTPL SREEZATER - - - 65 - (119,419) (119,354)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, LENE BENZEL
plant and equipment (W) BB 18 - - M (6) (261) (250)
Loss on write-off of property, MENE BEREELER
plant and equipment - - - - - 18 18
Impairment losses (reversal of HESE (BRREBR)
impairment losses) - (662) 88,486 88,262 (37) - 176,049
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRESENEDE = = 6,647 = = 6,334 12,981
Provision for financial guarantees BEEREE = = 110,947 10,030 = = 120,977
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the
locations of operations and information about its non-current
assets other than deferred tax assets by geographical location
of the assets are detailed below:

6. D EPE R (&)
hEE R

AREERFERPEREER-

AT RASERBEEEMERBINKEP
HIRANRIREEMERE DN IERBE
E(BETEHRBEERIN 2ER:

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIREFHBA FRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF —ZE_— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FTET FAET
Hong Kong BB 2,755 3,074 304,076 377,366
PRC H 199,196 281,793 90,196 103,125
201,951 284,867 394,272 480,991

Information about major customers EREXEEFHNEHR

Revenue from a customer of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are
as follows:

REBFREREEAREEBIKAI0%MA L

H—BEPZWAT:

2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Customer A' BEEA 22,359 29,192

' Revenue from loan financing (Il).

>

BEERBEIFUWA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Bl A s R E 1R

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Net fair value change on financial assets BEATEFABSENEREEZ
at FVTPL N EZE)FHE 34,388 119,354
Interest income from: FEWAKRE :
Bank deposits RITFRK 491 288
Other loans HEaE® 10,871 9,442
Loans to a non-controlling interest ERTIEERER 20,885 23,381
Loans to an associate BT —EBE QA - 59
Investment income "ERA 41 192
Realised loss on disposal of financial assets &% A FET ABEEH
at FVTPL TREEZEEHEBE (421) (145)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BEREE K=
equipment - 250
Loss on write-off of property, plant and WEME BMEREBZERE
equipment (10) (118)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE M B ARz KR - 1,492
(Loss) gain on lease modification HEBE 2 (BE) s (217) 640
Loss on lease termination HERIENEE - (308)
Gain on non-substantial modification of BEFERBR W
borrowings (note 32(b)) (F=E32(b)) 3,735 -
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain X (B8 k%58 (6) 226
Service fee income RS B U A 995 628
Management service income EERBEA 11 39
Bad debts recovered ZEER W E] 3,345 7,337
Government subsidies IR # B 676 599
Sundry income HIEA 707 492
75,491 163,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET OF REVERSAL

8. BEEE kR F[O

Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) © #:2 T7& 8 2B (E

recognised on:

— Trade and other receivables

— Loans and interest receivables

— Other deposits

— Loans to and interest receivables from
a non-controlling interest

— Loans to and interest receivables from
an associate

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
BB (REEERD)
— JE AR 3k & H A W R IR 99,771 127,169
—FEREREF B 1,449 51,459
—Htize 20,533 (248)
—BERT-IEEEREE R
fEURE R 8 117,501 68
—EXTF-HBE LT R
fEURE R 8 (18) (2,399)
239,236 176,049

Note:

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note 49(b) to

the consolidated financial statements.

P & -

BB R G B E R 476 M HBw KM 5E49(0b) ©

FINANCE COSTS 9. IR
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FE& T
Effective interest on convertible notes AR T E IR E R B 14,712 13,573
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGERNE 955 1,100
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 6,704 6,421
Interest on other loans EMERFE 13,445 8,150
35,816 29,244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

10.FT S B R (%)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Current tax: E HATRIE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEERER 5,297 5,618
Under provision in prior years: BEFERETT:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax H B 1 PR A 1,717 1,540
Deferred tax (Note 34): EIEREIE (MIFE34) -
Current year KEE 7,950 (31,083)
14,964 (23,925)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at the
applicable rates based on estimated taxable income earned
by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group with certain tax
concession, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practice in respect thereof.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprises Income Tax (the
“EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the applicable PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years.

BEEBNESHEOFNESHMES  &EHK
EEEENE E2,000,000 7T 5% M #5 LA
8.25% My i B # - 1 &8 #82,000,0007% 7T
2w F i LA16.5% M Tl R B - N & F
SHMAHEENEE BRGNS EE
1£16.5%H) 5t — B R EHL

KAREERE BHEMESH WA HATS
FREBEGEVEREAMEBIEKR
REFEEBFESHIZ LT ERE T
A16.5%TE AR ALEBEREENWEB
NRARBE_E-_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=

B AL BF BN S HBE -

PRMEMEBHR (TEEMER]) HRR
HBEFEN 2R RENREXRTEESR
T HBEEE 2 AL BN BB AT HREA
At ERTBMAZBRARRFE -

BIBFBREEMEFE ([REMSRE]D)
M EMBFET MBI A% B B
BARNMEFEZERTRCEMSH
K B25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 10.FTENAS (BE) (@)

AEEREHRAN (ER)JRBEE8E8E
R Bt 2T et 2k Y RO BR A AT B 1R TEEZZD

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ™~
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Loss before taxation BR 5 AT BT 18 (382,961) (225,686)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% & B A TS FE L E25%
(2021: 25%) (ZEZ—%:25%) (95,740) (56,422)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR B A R B 2
for tax purpose 121,614 86,622
Tax effect of income not taxable BARGWANTIFZE
for tax purpose (27,782) (56,059)
Under provision in prior years BEFERETRE 1,717 1,540
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary AERLTRZENTBZE
differences (420) (849)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBEEMREEE L
as deferred tax asset MIBEBNMBTE 6,794 13,790
Tax effect of tax exemption granted REBBRENH B E - (14,989)
Utilisation of tax losses previously FABTRERNMIEEIE
not recognised (2,133) (419)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ R Eth Al)A R 2 ER
operating in other jurisdictions MEBARTRABENZE 10,914 2,861
Income tax expense (credit) for the year FRMREHRRAX (EE) 14,964 (23,925)

APESEMEZEREBRAT | ZT=__FF#Hk 165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11.LOSS FOR THE YEAR N ANFEEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging the REEEBED R TYIBREER:
following items:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Auditor’s remuneration % ELRD B &
— audit services — Z RS 1,450 1,450
— other services —H A iR 350 400
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses &R AR X (917 &R A - 102
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 2,916 4,907
Depreciation of property, plant M- BERRETE
and equipment 9,368 9,764
Lease payments for short-term lease YARFAHEBGETFEZ
not included in the measurement RHAEN XK
of lease liabilities 1,079 539
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B TR A& (B IFE S <) 47,196 49,311
12.DIVIDENDS 12.02 B
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year RBE-_T__F+_A=+—HIF
ended 31 December 2022. The directors of the Company did B BERN ERIBRRERE -AAQ
not recommend the payment of dividend in respect of the AEST IArEEREBE_T-_—_F+=-H
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). —t+t—BUHEFERGERBE(ZE=—%F:

&) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

EE-—F+-_A=+—HILHFE

%;9*{/_\

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,

BEEHm
& (5

(REES=Mm

2 R m
$£622%E ) 538315~ 4

A7

Zéfﬂ)%ﬁ% (%

622GE ) hBEEA L MABARBT

)X B2

Z)

() EERITHRARME

RIBE A LR R REFE R BRGI

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_ZE__F+-A=+—HL#F

BRNEERTRAEFAMSOT

E
Salaries, Contribution  Share-based
allowance to retirement payment
and other  Discretionary benefits expenses Total
Fees benefits bonus schemes (Note )  emoluments
MR %4
§e 2ZHR BREA RERAX
e HitfR A ML HEIfts (MizEc) Medsm
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THEL THEL TET TEL TET THEL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. LIU Kequan, Chairman AR FEE(ER) - 3,600 300 18 - 3918
Mr. YANG Dayong, BRBRE (THAR)
Chief Executive Officer - 1,200 - 18 - 1,218
Mr. CHEN Zheng (Note a) BRI 4 (Hista) - 720 - 18 - 738
- 5,520 300 54 - 5,874
Non-Executive directors FHTES
Mr. ZHANG Peidong (Note b) bR A4 (MizEh) - 180 - 9 - 189
Independent non-Executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. KWAN Kei Chor BERRE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. ZHOU Liangyu ARFE4E 360 - - - - 360
Dr. YU Ziang ataET 180 - - - 47 27
900 - - - 47 947
Total emoluments L 900 5,700 300 63 47 7,010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS BEENRLER (FEQA
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION &1 (5 6225)%3831'7% /NG
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES (HBEEEMNmER) B (F
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES 622GE ) hBEEA L MABARBT
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT MHEE) ()

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

() ESRTHARME (15)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

168

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—8HULHF
E
Salaries, Contribution ~ Share-hased
allowance to retirement payment
and other  Discretionary benefits expenses Total
Fees benefits bonus schemes (Note ) emoluments
PARBR AR 52
Ge RER EINER FERAX
ik At iR BB FHEIftE (PtsEc) i ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEL THL TAT FEL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. LIU Kequan, Chairman AnFhE(ER) - 3,600 300 18 = 3918
Mr. YANG Dayong, BRBRE (THER)
Chief Executive Officer - 1,200 - 18 - 1,218
Mr. CHEN Zheng (Note a) BRAE7 4 (Hista) = 47 = 2 = 49
- 4,847 300 38 - 5,185
Non-Executive directors FYTES
Mr. ZHANG Peidong (Note b) FAMREAE (M) = 349 = 18 = 367
Independent non-Executive BUkHTES
directors
Mr. KWAN Kei Chor BERLE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. ZHOU Liangyu ARFRE 360 - - - = 360
Dr. LYU Ziang BFREL 180 - - - 119 299
900 - - - 119 1,019
Total emoluments Hems 900 5,196 300 56 119 6,571
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) Mr. CHEN Zheng was appointed as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 8 December 2021.

(b) Mr. ZHANG Peidong has been re-designated from an
executive Director to a non-executive Director with effect
from 8 December 2021.

(c) The value of share options granted to the director of the
Company under the share option scheme of the Company
and its subsidiaries represents the fair value of these
options charged to the consolidated income statement for
the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

The non-executive directors” emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil). In addition, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join,
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

BESEMak#Exs (BELQF
& (Z5622% ) 538315 A A
(BBEEEMNZER) B (%
622GE ) N BB R AR E
MHEE) ()

() ESRTHARME (15)

GEE

(@) B-ZE-_—F+-ANB#® Bk
HERTARARNITES-

b)) BZTE=_—F+_ANBAR KHR
EERNTESRHEIRFATES

(© BEBEARRRENERRBEBREE
RYARAIEEZEREEEEZS
BEREZATE (ERBEEBMER
EREAE2FRAFEZLEEREZRA
HIBR) ©

FIMITEENE D EERBERE

EE__FRF—F+=H

ST+ —BLEFERHEBEEREARAR

MRS B EBEE R ST o

EIATEETHE DEBREER

BE_S-_—_F#K-_F-_—F+_H
T+ BUHFEETAQRRSEKNE
NEEFH RIS M ST o

EIBYERNTEEME HEERE
ERNEBE_ZTE-_—_FR=_FT=_—F
T+ A=+ —HLEFEEEARF K
HB AR ESMRE M-

REBE-_ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—H1
FE BETYEETHIEETHAER
MEXREREEMFHAOLEE (=
E_—F:E) I REBEE_ZFT
T —F+ZA=+—BLEFE &X&
BiEmERNEENMES EAK
SIEEMBEAREBR L INBRALER
FIEABBEE (S -—F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS BEZFMZLER (BERQF

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION

383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2021: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporates and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates and
connected entities of such directors (2021: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for those disclosed in note 42, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

14.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two directors (2021: two), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2021:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
a chief executive of the Company are as follows:

“hER=%HEER

FRNAEEREESHEEETFEME (=
TE-—F MB)ABESF EMEeHFBHR
FXKFI3 B I =R (B —F: =
BIWHEARRESHITHRBHENOESFH
EENRFANMESFBOT:

2022 2021

—=E=-= —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FE& T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e R RHMER 5,100 5,100
Performance related bonus EWRRATEAL 425 425
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme R {K4E F 5t 2|4 5% 54 54
Share-based payment expenses ARR 7 2 R RIERA XX 305 770
5,884 6,349

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company and whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

ATEIAFARREENRSHEEA
N B FRF N E -

2022 2021

—=E=-= —E—F

No. of No. of

employees employees

EEAK BB AZ

HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 T AL ZE1,000,0007% 7T = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T %2,000,000/% 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% 7T £2,500,0007% 7T 1 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 3,500,000/ 7T = =
3 3

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of the three (2021: three)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
(2021: Nil). There were no arrangements under which any
of the three (2021: three) highest paid individuals waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

REBEE-ZE-__F+-_A=+—HILFE"
AEBBMER=-URESHFALT (ZTE=—
F =060 A EME B fERRSI R E M
BARSEE N INBEEA R S IERBER
B(ZEZ—F:8) REE_T_—

+-—A=+—BLFE =ZuUskmHAL
TR —F =) REAREEFYE
AR A E SR B E T A FH B AZHE (=
T —F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following

15. F I E 1R

BIIIBEE

RRBHEBEANEBEERERNREEERTS

data:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Loss Eia
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ~ FLErE SR EAR K #EE B
the Company for the purpose of basic MmEMARRREER A
and diluted loss per share FE(L F N BB (326,213) (202,592)
2022 2021
—E=-— —E
‘000 ‘000
F K& T A%
Number of shares DB
Number/weighted average number of L@REE INETHEE
ordinary shares 7,775,857 7,775,723

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, and the number
of shares of approximately 7,775,857,000 ordinary shares
(2021: weighted average number of shares of approximately
7,775,723,000) in issue.

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 did not assume the exercise of the outstanding
share options since this would result in a decrease in loss per
share. No adjustment was made in calculating diluted loss
per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
as conversion of convertible notes would result in a decrease
in loss per share. Accordingly, the diluted loss per share is the
same as the basic loss per share.

SFREAEEDRERNARES ARLE
BREEITEBRMEE 47,775,857,000
M(ZEZ—F:NEFHREY
7,775,723,0000% ) 51 & -

HE-_Z_—_F#Kk-_Z2-_—%+=H
S+ —HIEFEZERESSEBIYERS
ITEMARITEEARE BRI RS
BWEREBERL REFEHE-_T =
—E - F+ZA=+—HBILEENFT
BRESEEFYEELAR REAEIR
AR ERESEREREERD B
EREEEEEASRENSEER -
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16.PROPERTY,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE=E—ZT = —

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R R MR

F+t-A=T—RHIFE

16. 9% B Mk te

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvement ~ Warehouse  equipment vehicles Total
BR-#ER
HEMERER EE R RE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT THT FTAT THEL
Cost %N
At 1 January 2021 R-Z2-—-%-f-H1 10,497 163,405 7,781 3,641 185,324
Additions E 1,073 - 31 - 1,104
Disposal HE - - (111) (746) (857)
Write-offs g (10,497) - (606) - (11,103)
Exchange realignment fE i % 14 5,407 171 63 5,655
At 31 December 2021 and R-E-—F+-A=+—-HR
1 January 2022 —Z2--%#—-R—-H 1,087 168,812 7,266 2,958 180,123
Additions RE - - 19 - 19
Disposal HE - - (40) = (40)
Write-offs s = = (171) - (171)
Transfer to assets held for sale ERTRENEEAE - - (1,082) = (1,082)
Exchange realignment I 5 % (63) (13,237) 412) (154) (13,866)
At 31 December 2022 RZB--#+-A=+-H 1,024 155,575 5,580 2,804 164,983
Depreciation and impairment FERHE
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—-%F—H—H 10,356 84,319 4,257 3,157 102,089
Provided for the year KEERE 123 8,786 631 224 9,764
Disposal e - = (111) (722) (833)
Elimination on write-offs P S B A 8 (10,400) - (585) = (10,985)
Exchange realignment IS 2 2,953 65 52 3,072
At 31 December 2021 and RZZ-_—-$+-A=t—-RHk
1 January 2022 —E-_%—-F—H 81 96,058 4,257 2,711 103,107
Provided for the year REREG 290 8,507 462 109 9,368
Disposal & - - (39) = (38)
Write-offs g - - (161) - (161)
Transfer to assets held for sale BRERELEEE - - (1,082) = (1,082)
Exchange realignment fE i % (13) (7,793) (189) (137) (8,132)
At 31 December 2022 R-B--f+-A=+-H 358 96,772 3,249 2,683 103,062
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=+-H 666 58,803 2,331 121 61,921
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE=--F+-A=+—-H 1,006 72,754 3,009 247 77,016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold Over the shorter of remaining
improvements unexpired terms of the
leases or 20%
Warehouse 5%

Furniture, fixtures and 10%-33%

equipment
Motor vehicles 20%-33%

The warehouse is situated on land in the PRC held under a

16.9% - B M & (@)

EatE - BE R REEB ER T FF

R ERBEREFENE:

HEWERE KRHOFSBFEHH20%
(A& E B%E)
B 5%
R EER 10%%33%
B
RE 20%%E33%

BEMRSTE L - RIETH I HES

medium-term land use right. BEiEg -
17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17 EREEE
Leasehold Office
lands premises Total
HEL WAIAEYE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2022 R=-ZTE-—-F+-A=+—H
Carrying amounts FREE 20,008 2,808 22,816
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amounts FREE 22,485 3,884 26,369
For the year ended 2TF-C
31 December 2022 +tZRA=+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge eEs® 737 2,179 2,916
Impairment loss recognised B RE=MER 2 IBIEEIE
in profit or loss - 426 426
Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 B 1,740 286 2,026
For the year ended BE-T—-—F
31 December 2021 +tZRA=+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge eEs® 761 4,146 4,907
Impairment loss recognised B RE=MER ZBIAEEIE
in profit or loss - 12,981 12,981
Exchange realignment PE W PR (731) (192) (923)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17 EREEE (&)

2022 2021

—E-= E - —F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

Expense relating to short-term lease HEREEAENH 1,079 539
Total cash outflow for lease MERE ML ETE 8,658 13,076
Additions to right-of-use assets RNECHAREE 1,815 20,819

For both years, the Group leases various offices in Hong Kong
and the PRC for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term up to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$11,552,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$2,808,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
lease liabilities of HK$16,769,000 and related right-of-
use assets of HK$3,884,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not enter into any
lease that is not yet commenced (2021: Nil).

AEBRMEFEREERTEEESE
MAZERNEL HEARNWNEZF L
FHERT L - HE R TT IR {5 E e RE S -
BREBETRGRMGES - REEED &
A A AT e AR e B R B - R B E A
BHNERALBES LR RHIFITHHRE -

AEBECHABEHEE L ES L0 AR

iR B —F+_A=F+—H'B
EAHAE A E11,552,0005% 7T X AHEE A
& ERMm4EE A2,808,0008 T (=&
——F:HEAE16,769,0007 7T M #E 8
B {52 FA #E & 73,884,000/ 7T ) < M B A
BEMEEEETRMERERIN HEW
BETENENEARE-HEEETSEA
FAME FIER -

R-EBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H AEBEL

RETMLAARFIRNEEEE (ZF -5
&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

18.GOODWILL 18.7 2
2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost 5@
Balance at beginning of the year FHEER 492,354 492,354
Transfer to assets held for sale EHRERIFHEEE (14,500) -
Balance at end of the year FRER 477,854 492,354
Accumulated impairment losses ZitREER
Balance at beginning of the year F AR 264,321 165,772
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAEERBIEEE 117,963 98,549
Transfer to assets held for sale ERERFHEERE (14,500) S
Balance at end of the year FREERR 367,784 264,321
Carrying amount fRHEE
Balance at end of the year FREAER 110,070 228,033
Note: B 3T
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in BRABMEZBEINAFBENGEET SRR T
note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. 20 55 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M A 2
e EERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 198 & E
Information
Trading  integration
right platform Total
REE EEEREE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FA&T FAETT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2021 RN-—ZET-_—%F—H—H 500 11,486 11,986
Exchange realignment B 5, 58 & - 380 380
At 31 December 2021 and R=-ZB=-Z—f+=-A=+—-HE
1 January 2022 —E--%—HF—H 500 11,866 12,366
Transfer to assets EREFEHEELE
held for sale (500) - (500)
Exchange realignment [ 5 3% = (930) (930)
At 31 December 2022 R-FB-_—_fF+=-H=+-—H - 10,936 10,936
Amortisation and R RE
impairment
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—F—H—H - 11,486 11,486
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B - 380 380
At 31 December 2021 and R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8BXK
1 January 2022 —E-_9—H—H - 11,866 11,866
Exchange realignment ERTIEEE = (930) (930)
At 31 December 2022 R=-B=-=_%+=HA=+-—H = 10,936 10,936
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2022 R=-B=-Z=F+=HA=+-—H - - -
At 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—%+-_A=+—H 500 - 500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19

The trading rights are retained for stock trading and
stockbroking activities. The trading rights are considered to
have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are
not amortised. Instead they will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing are
disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Information integration platform provides all the foundational
building blocks of trusted information, including data
integration, data warehousing, master data management,
big data and information monitoring. The right of using
information integration platform is capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. The management performed impairment assessment
on intangible assets of each cash-generating unit in
accordance with HKAS 36. The management estimated
the recoverable amount of those cash-generating units of
which these intangible assets have been allocated are lower
than the carrying amount of these intangible assets. As the
carrying amount of information integration platform was
HKS$Nil, no further impairment loss was recognised.
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20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE

USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts
of goodwill and trading rights with indefinite useful life set
out in notes 18 and 19 allocated to one subsidiary in the
security brokerage segment (“Security Brokerage CGU")
and subsidiaries in the micro-financing and financing referral
operations (“Tobacco Financing CGU") as follows:

20. 7 N BLEERR 0] A 4F B AY

& B R RVE R

SURVEDRIBL T = - e 18 R 19FTE 8 I
AERAEAFHIRSECREAEBEE D
EEEFKLr e —RKERR ([F
SREReELEM]) RNEER LR
BENEBOMBAR (EERERS
EEBM])WT:

Goodwill Trading right
kS R

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF —E_C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET FTET FHET
Security Brokerage CGU BARRREEEEN - - - 500
Tobacco Financing CGU BEMERCEESEN 110,070 228,033 - -
Total HBEr 110,070 228,033 - 500

During the year ended 31 December 2022, with reference
to the professional valuation performed by the independent

valuer, the management of the Group has determined that an
impairment loss of HK$117,963,000 (2021: HK$98,549,000)
arose in relation to goodwill allocated to certain groups of
CGUs. There were no material changes in the methodology
and sources of market data applied in the valuation between
2022 and 2021. After reviewing the performance of Tobacco
Financing CGU in 2022, the management of the Group
revised the carrying amounts of Tobacco Financing CGU
downwards based on cash flow forecasts.

The recoverable amount of Tobacco Financing CGU is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation with the
assistance of the independent professional qualified valuers
not connected with the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management.

HE_ZT_—_F#+-_A=+—HLHF
B K2EB U HEMETHNREER
@~$$E§ﬁ@ﬁ%iﬁ@ﬁm§%
EHRESELBENANZAEZELENR
EE1E117,963,0008 T (T - —F:
98,549,000 L) M- ZE-_—_F K=
T—FENHERERZFERTS
HERRITEEAEH - R_T-__FF
MEEmERSELBENMNELER &~&E
EEEERERESREEA THEER
ERSEXBENMIREE-

CERERCEA SN NE SRR
?J“‘Eﬁﬁ{ﬁfﬁuﬁi;ﬂ?f FEEAEENEA
ENBERSEARMMERMBE TEE-
ﬁf‘ﬁu BRERENKEEEIENTK
iz #Eﬁfﬁimugfﬁ g|J
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

NWE&AMET@%EWM

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIFE (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the CGU for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021. The major underlying assumptions on which
management has based in the preparation of cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are
summarised below:

Discount rate per annum — the discount rates used are
before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the respective
industries.

Budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margins —
management determined budgeted gross margins based
on past performance and its expectations of market
development.

Terminal growth rate — the rate used is based on the average
projected inflation rate of the geographical area in which the
business of the CGU operates.

Tobacco Financing CGU

The value-in-use calculation used cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a
four-year period, and at a discount rate of 18.04% (2021:
18.17%). Cash flows after the four-year period were
extrapolated using a 2% (2021: 2%) growth rate, after
considering the economic conditions of the market.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment loss of
HK$117,963,000 (2021: HK$98,549,000) has been provided
in relation to Tobacco Financing CGU as the recoverable
amount of this CGU was reduced to HK$117,070,000 at the
end of the reporting period (2021: HK$228,033,000). The
impairment loss arose as a result of the less than satisfactory
past and expected performance of the Tobacco Financing
CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIFE (Continued)

Security Brokerage CGU

The management of the Group determined that trading
rights amounting to HK$500,000 was no longer utilised to
generate profits to the Group. For the purpose of impairment
testing on these trading rights, the recoverable amount has
been determined based on secondary market prices and no
impairment was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no impairment
loss was recognised on the trading rights when Greater Chia
Securities Limited was classified as disposal company held for
sales in December 2022 as the fair value less cost to sell of
the trading rights were determined to be higher than their
carrying amount. See note 36 for the details.

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

210 — A B 2 R B R e

20. 7 N BLEERR 0] A 4F B AY

B A ERENS 8

RERLREELEN

NEEEEEE FREE /500,000 7T
IREGETBRANBASEEE RN &
HINER ZREEITHEN AR Er] Uk E
CHEREBE-_FMEBREMETE  BERE
E-E-—F+-A=1+—HILFEKXME
RORE

BE-_ZE-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE"
BEAPEBHFAERANR_ZE_—_F+=
AN BEABELRECHERR RH5HE
MAFEREEXAWET ASRERE
B TERRIEERARBEEER -FBR
BI3E36 °

Y

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

Cost of investment in associates — unlisted KRBt RN RIIRENK AN —IE LT 307,534 307,534
Share of accumulated post-acquisition loss R &t fE{H W BB 18 E5 18 &

and other comprehensive expense Hh2EHAX (38,936) (38,936)

Less: Impairment loss R OREEE (268,598) (268,598)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ-ZT - —HF+_A=+—HILtFE

21.INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The

following is the particulars of the associates, which are

unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not

avai

Det

lable:

ails of the Company’s associate at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

1. — M2 A
AT AIELETAA

GEARES

ﬂ#ﬂ%

\/

\

B8 B 3 4

ARARBERARBREMROFBOT

el

Place of Proportion of nominal
incorporation ownership interest Principal
Name and operation attributable to the Company activities
ARAEEESR
a8 AL B AL B R B FrE R fl IERH
2022 2021
—2-ZF —T-—F%

Intraday Financial Information Service British Virgin Islands (“BVI") 45% 45%  Investment holding
Limited (“Intraday Financial”) (Note a)

EXREREERBARAT RERUES RERK
(TEXxewl) (Mita) ([(RBRZES])

Zhongyan Xin Shangmeng E-commerce  PRC 25% 25%  Trading of consumable
Limited (“Zhongyan E-commerce”)* goods and consultancy
(Note b) services

hENEEETREERARF hE HEmE 5 Nt A R

([REEFAK]) (Mib)

*

For identification only

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

(a)

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022

The interest on Intraday Financial was fully impaired and the
Group has already shared the losses of the Intraday Financial to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. The Group
has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the
Group's unrecognised share of losses of Intraday Group for the
current year and cumulatively were HK$4,100 (2021: HK$6,200)
and HK$176,200 (2021: HK$172,100) respectively. Considering
that there is no specific plan to revamp the business of Intraday
Financial, the directors of the Company are of the view that no
reversal of the allowance for impairment should be made.

The interest on Zhongyan Group was fully impaired when the
acquisition of subsidiaries was recognised at 31 July 2020
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of
Zhongyan Group for the current year and cumulatively were
HK$3,720,000 (2021: HK$1,514,000) and HK$6,369,000
(2021: HK$2,649,000).

Pt LB = R R )58 i e

BRI
GEE

Sz =N

(@) REXLBEFDE2EBENAERD
HEXEBMZBEDEENB S D AME
ﬁé°$§%ﬁﬁ3ﬂi%ﬁ‘%%%§7¥(ﬁ§)§ﬁﬁ°$%
EAFEAERNONEREEBESHE
FEFEED E\Jﬁ’j4100/%75(_7_*
F:6,200870) &176,2008 L (=&
F:172,100%870) - Z B EI W EIF E & E
WEEBERERMIER NRAREFTRAD
JE 7B B (B

R EEBRNEZER _TE-_ZF A
=+t HERUEBENBE AR 2EBE
AREBWERGEBFEFEBE - AEEARX
if&%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ"fﬂﬂ@‘ilmf@ﬁa
5 R £3,720,0008 5T (—ZF = —4F:
1,514,000;‘%7‘5)&6,369,000;‘%73(:%
——%:2,649,000/87T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21BN ES
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE e EE
INCOME
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
HKS$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Listed investments: Y
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LTHRARZES 4,938 3,505
4,938 3,505

The movement in the fair value of equity securities are as

PRABLE Y NEEESEENT -

follows:

HK$'000

FETT

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-——F—H—H 11,175
Recognised in other comprehensive expenses A EL At 2 TE ) 2 e RR (7,789)
Exchange realignment ME W, B 119
At 31 December 2021 R-_EB_—F+-_A=1+—H 3,505
Recognised in other comprehensive income REM 2 E IR ER 6,124
Disposal & (4,691)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=ZHA=+—H 4,938
It represents the Group's investments in listed equity securities EEAREBRNIETEAZ AT ETAEM
designated as FVTOCI. FHKEN ETRAZTSFZKRE -
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group sold HE —Zﬁiii‘f‘ —“A=t—BIFE"
certain of its equity investments as this investment no longer AREBHEEETRARE  FERRZE
coincided with the Group's investment strategy. The fair KETBEFEAEENKRERE REE
value on the date of disposal was HK$4,691,000 and the A EIM A {E A4,691,0005 7T - T H fib
accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive income 2 W = R A 251 E1886,060,0000% JT
of HK$86,060,000 was transferred to accumulated losses. B B R o
The details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note ANEEFEZHEBEREET B RRN T
50(i) to the consolidated financial statements. 50()7 7 55 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-ZT - —

FT-A=T—RHILFE

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE BIEAFHEFTABTHE/ME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Unlisted investments funds (Note a) JEETIREES (Mita) - 4,866
Early redemption option on IREE O AR R IR A
convertible notes (Note 35) (Ft5E35) 6,095 16,025
Profit guarantee and incentive payment wANRBRHEE (H5b)
(Note b) 188,021 144,513
194,926 165,404
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEREWNSNA:
Current assets MEEE 6,095 20,891
Non-current assets IEREBEE 188,021 144,513
194,926 165,404
Notes: BT
(@) As at 31 December 2021: HK$4,866,000 represents the (@ RZEZ—F+=-_A=+—H:4,866,000

unlisted investment fund established in the Cayman Islands
which primary objectives are to provide absolute returns
through pursuing different strategies, investing primarily in
equity and equity related instruments of companies listed in
Hong Kong and PRC. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group redeemed the remaining part of the fund and
received the principal of HK$4,445,000 (2021: HK$15,000,000)
and recognised a loss on disposal of financial asset at FVTPL of
HK$421,000 (2021: gain on disposal of HK$1,032,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, an unrealised gain
of HK$570,000 arising from fair value changes in unlisted
investment funds was recognised in profit or loss.

(b) The balance represents the profit guarantee and incentive

payment in relation to the acquisition of Xin Yunlian Investment
Limited (“Xin Yunlian”) and its subsidiaries and associates
(collectively, “Xin Yunlian Group”).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value gain
of HK$43,508,000 (2021: HK$118,204,000) was recognised in
profit or loss.

The details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note
50(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

7N

50
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

24.LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

24 JR I E 7R K F B,

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Other loans HMER 552,993 565,263
Less: Impairment allowance B ORE R (215,613) (222,965)
337,380 342,298

Note:

Other loans are loans denominated in RMB made to independent
third parties, of which approximately HK$273,595,000 (2021:
HK$282,106,000) are secured and bear interest rates ranging
from 5% to 6% (2021: 5% to 6%) per annum, and approximately
HK$279,398,000 (2021: HK$283,157,000) are unsecured and bear
interest rates ranging from 6% to 22% (2021: 6% to 24%) per
annum.

An ageing analysis of the loans and interest receivables net of
impairment allowance as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the payment due date, is as follows:

GEE

HMERTIUARESERBILE = FEHD
B Hd49273,595,0008 0 (Z & = — 4
282,106,000/ 70 ) AEER RIRFFENF5%
Z26% (ZZEZ—F :NF5%%6% )8 M
#9279,398,000 7T ( ==& — —4F : 283,157,000
BIT) BEERRIRFREN F6%E2% (=
T —F 1 6%E24% )8

VR BRIR NSRBI A 10 R W E R R A
B CRRRERER) WREDTIT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

No past due 37 #8380 2R 158,815 268,638
Less than 1 month past due BHIE 118 A 86,366 3,028
1 to 3 months past due BEE£31E A - -
3 to 6 months past due #EA3E6fE A 84 -
6 months to less than 1 year past due BHEAZETE1F 20,659 27,785
More than 1 year past due B HARE B 71,456 42,847
337,380 342,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24.LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)  24.JE U & 3k & | &, ()

The movements in impairment allowance of loans and
interest receivables are as follows:

R ERLF B BEREZISNT

2022 2021

—E-= —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Balance at beginning of the year F AR 222,965 153,114

Amounts recognised during the year FAEHERESHE 1,965 56,515

Amounts reversed during the year FAEREESE (516) (5,056)
Amounts recognised for ERREEREERESHE (M)

credit-impaired loans (Note) 8,681 13,326

Exchange realignment & X R (17,482) 5,066

Balance at end of the year FRER 215,613 222,965

Note: GEX

The amount represents the increase in impairment allowance
for credit-impaired loans as a result of the increase in their gross
carrying amount due to the passage of time.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
exposure arising from loans and interest receivables are
set out in the note 49(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE KRR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. JIE W BR 5K B L At JE W R OR
2022 2021
—EB-—F —E -5
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Trade receivables from: T3 E A 2 YRR :
Loan referral and consultancy services BEREN LHHARS (Miita)

(Note a) 7,803 23,993
Financial guarantee services (Note b) BEERRE (MaEb) 45,714 43,328
Insurance brokerage commission (Note ¢) R & 42 M S (Histc) 82 57
Asset management fee (Note d) BEEEERE (M5Ed) 3 77
Advertising service fee (Note e) BEREE (Hate) 8 9

53,610 67,464
Less: Impairment allowance B RE B (35,700) (40,375)
17,910 27,089
Other receivables (Note ) H Ath fE R IR (B 3Ef) 248,654 150,738
Less: Impairment allowance B RE R (161,952) (100,218)
86,702 50,520
Total trade and other receivables JFE MR B K K LA P WK TR 4B 5B 104,612 77,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

IR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ-ZT - —HF+_A=+—HILtFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from loan
referral and consultancy services are within 30 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from financial
guarantee services are mainly within 60 to 90 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from product
issuers arising from the provision of insurance brokerage
commission are mainly within 45 to 60 days upon the execution
of the insurance policies and/or receipt of statements from
product issuers.

Credit terms granted to customers of asset management fee are
within 30 days or as mutually agreed between the contracting
parties.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from
advertising service fee are mainly within 30 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

Included in other receivables was default payment receivables
of HK$210,241,000 (2021: HK$144,092,000) in relation to loan
financing operation.

25. JEWBR A K

H A eI EIE (1)

GEE

(a)

ERREREN RFARBERRZ —
HR SEITAMNEERI0BA-

WwaEE

FEMBEERIRBIERZ —RESEHRE
ZEABITAHNETE60E90HA -

REFRELEHEEEZRREREITA
R —REEHRIEREIRER
SR ERBETAZEEERISEC0ORR -

BRTEEEHRERP ZEEHR30EAL
HERI AT HEERE

EERBEBEZREER —REEHAR T
RETAHEERI0AA-

ﬁﬁﬂl)ﬂﬂ

SAREMERRE CBEAMERREE
%*ZMSUJUH 210,241,000 71 (=&
—4F 1 144,092,000 7T) °

An ageing analysis of trade receivables net of impairment R EBRIZEE A H B UER (B

allowance as at the end of the reporting period, based on BERE) HRESITHT
the invoice date, is as follows:

2022 2021

—E-—fF —E -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

0 - 30 days 0£30H 2,001 9,723

31 - 60 days 31260H 1,840 1,998

61 — 90 days 61290H 1,223 2,125

Over 90 days 90H M E 12,846 13,243

17,910 27,089
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)  25. & U R 5% & H b J& UK 5K 8 (4)
The movements in impairment allowance on trade receivables FEWERFORERENEESHNT
are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Balance at beginning of the year F AR 40,375 26,681
Amounts recognised during the year FAEHERESHE 31,007 36,595
Amounts reversed during the year FAEREESE (828) (255)
Amounts written-off during the year FAME 2 258 (31,688) (23,528)
Exchange realignment ME 5 58 & (3,166) 882
Balance at end of the year FOREEER 35,700 40,375
The movements in impairment allowance on other receivables Hi RSB RERENESNT
are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Balance at beginning of the year FYER 100,218 9,089
Amounts recognised during the year FADHRERE 71,989 91,310
Amounts reversed during the year FAERE S (2,397) (481)
Exchange realignment bE N (7,858) 300
Balance at end of the year FRAE 161,952 100,218

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
exposure arising from trade and other receivables are set out
in the note 49(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAASEEERER MEE BRERRRE

fth R WK IE M E B A
& B R IR 2R MY 5E49(b) ©

RHE L FHBENAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26.PREPAYMENTS AND DEPQSITS 26 TN A RIZE
2022 2021
—E-= —E -5
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Prepayments (Note a) TR (FsEa ) 2,712 24,764
Rental and utilities deposits Mek RAXEERS 1,491 1,555
Statutory deposits EEEE - 255
Other deposits (Note b) Bt e (itb) 38,035 85,215
42,238 111,789
Less: Impairment allowance B ORE R (29,478) (9,706)
Total prepayments and deposits FENRIERIECHETE 12,760 102,083
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MWMEMS AW T :

Current assets & E 11,907 101,028
Non-current assets EMBNEE 853 1,055
12,760 102,083

Notes: Bt 5 -

(@) Included in the prepayment as at 31 December 2021, balance
of HK$20,929,000 represents prepaid data collection service
expenses to an associate for loan financing business.

(b) As at 31 December 2022, other deposits mainly consist
of deposits paid to co-operators in relation to the Group's
guarantee and trading business, which amounted to
HK$38,002,000 (2021: HK$84,339,000).
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(a)

(b)

N-_BE-—F+_-_A=+—Q0 %A
iR 45 $4£20,929,00078 JT 18 A E R & IR 7%
~F — R B N B A TR BUR U = IR R
io

R-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H EMks
38,002,000/ T ( — = — — 4 : 84,339,000
BT EZERAAEEERREEEY
ENFAEIEFINZS -
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mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

26.PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

The movements in impairment allowance on other deposits
are as follows:

26. BN FRIE MR & (1)

Hitiz B ERENEFHNT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Balance at beginning of the year F AR 9,706 9,635
Amounts recognised during the year FAEHEREHE 20,905 428
Amounts reversed during the year FAERESE (372) (676)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B (761) 319
Balance at end of the year FOREEER 29,478 9,706

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
exposure arising from other deposits are set out in the note
49(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

27.CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group maintains separate trust accounts with licensed
banks to hold clients" monies arising from its normal course
of business. The Group has classified the clients’ monies as
cash held on behalf of customers under current assets and
recognised the corresponding accounts payable to respective
clients as stipulated under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO"). The Group is not allowed to use
the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations under the
SFO.

28.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND RESTRICTED

BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 3.35%
and represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to
HK$5,653,000 have been pledged to secure long-term
borrowings and are therefore classified as non-current
assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the
settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

BHEAKEBEEERR KB EMEENE
ERBONEZHBEHNGE VB RKRM T
49(b) «

VAREFHAENEE

AEERFRRITHRBILGETEERS A
FERBEXRBBREPELZEPREA-
AEEOKZERPFEANERRDEE
AT ZREFPHANRE IREFLR
FREERD (TEx kBB 2R
EHARNTEREP ZHBERR IR
BESLRBPEGI ARETABRAER
RENEEREBEFER-

28. B I ERTT 7 X K R HI R

ITIE K

BHEAIRIT T RIZE EF X3 35%ET 8
RIERFRITUNGSASEERBITHE
H1E R > & 58 .55,653,000/8 ST E R 1
EHEARPEENETR BtoBEAIE
MEBEE CHEBRITEIENREEHE
IRITEERER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

28.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND RESTRICTED  28. ET&T@%E?T?%Q&%&E%IJ iR

BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

Restricted bank deposits represent the guarantee under its
business pledged customer deposits received under tripartite
custodian agreements among the online lending platforms,
guarantee customers and the Group under its guarantee
business. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, the Group’s restricted bank deposits with banks
have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

As 31 December 2022, certain restricted bank deposits
of RMB3,174,000 (approximately HK$3,589,000) (2021:
RMB3,150,000 (approximately HK$3,863,000)) in reputable
PRC banks have been frozen by the court.

29.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29.

For the purpose of presentation of the consolidated cash flow
statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash and the
following balance with an original maturity within 3 months:

113 5K (&)

ZERBIRITERIEE WEBEREBIRR LE
EVE EREPHEAEEII VM=%
EHmaEENERPER -MEERERE
XME AEENXRERTEREER
e RREFEMHRHNE-

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H RFEE
BRUFRTHAETIRHBETERAR
#3,174,0007T (493,589,000/& L) (=&
——%F: AR¥3,150, 0007_1 (#93,863,000
/ETE) )E?ﬁ/ﬁﬁm/ﬁ

BeMREFEY

mEVNGEReREAMS He kR4
ZEVERFRASKRABRE=(ANNA
B LA T 4564

2022 2021

—E=-= —E—F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

Bank balance and cash RITHEHBEIRS 26,280 42,722
National Debt Reverse Repurchase products Bl {& 1 [l B & @ - 5,214
Total “BEt 26,280 47,936
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

30.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES, 30.ENERR - EMERFIAE B
DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS WEZw M EETE B

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHEIT
Trade payables from: TR EA Z BRI
Business of dealing in securities: (Note a) BERXGHER: (Mika)
— Cash clients —-HexP - 346
— Margin clients —REEEFP - 425
Insurance brokerage service (Note b) IREg 442 AR 7% (P 53D ) 219 227
Loan referral service (Note c) ERENRE (FsEc) 16,105 -
Total trade payables JE T BR R AR B 16,324 998
Accrued expenses JEstE A 19,889 18,398
Deposits received (Note d) Bl EEE (Ki5Ed) 36,055 71,605
Other payables H A JE 5 5RIB 27,666 25,856
Total other payables, deposits received Hth e~ 308 - B AR &
and accruals ESTE ABRE 83,610 115,859
Total trade payables, other payables, JREA<F BR R~ L B < RRIE
deposits received and accruals BWEIZE KB BRARE 99,934 116,857

Notes: M5t -

(a) Trade payables to securities brokerage clients represent the (a) ENEASCLARPEFTEMNETEE

monies received from and repayable to brokerage clients in
respect of the trust and segregated bank balances received
and held for clients in the course of the conduct of regulated
activities. However, the Group does not have an enforceable
right to offset these payables with the deposits placed.

The majority of the trade payables balance are repayable on
demand except for certain balances relating to margin deposits
received from clients for their trading activities under the
normal course of business. Only the excess amounts over the
required margin deposits stipulated are repayable on demand.

The settlement terms of trade payables, except for margin
clients, arising from the securities brokerage business are two
business days after trade date.

No ageing analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the ageing analysis does not give additional
value in view of the nature of the securities business.

AEBEEPEREREPHEZERLS
VURITHEREWE L TP RREELLE
FH)FRIR = AT » AN 5% 8 3 4 A] 98 I R 1T
BAAGERSBHZSRNERR

REBRMNERGEHRBARBRKEE HE
REEXBERETRRZEHCHEFH
REEEFRBENE TERKI-EBB
RERBEFRIEBAKERER

ELREEBELEZENER(REEE
FHRIMNZEEHNRAR S B EMIEE:
H o

HRARRIZEERR ERNEFEHMLEE
BRER DT B S R BIMEE ML E|IKE
AREC DT o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES,
DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Trade payables arising from the provision of insurance brokerage
services are generally settled within 30 days to 120 days upon
receipt of payments from product issuers.

An ageing analysis of trade payables for insurance brokerage

30 B BR K - A R 5KIR - B

WEZ e NEGTER (#)

P aE: (48)

(b) —RERUEE RET AN KIEZ30E120H
R4 BRI RIR AR A0 RIS EE A 2 TR BR N

PR S HIR B (R B A4S 40 BR 75 B A BR SR AV BR
2

service at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI an T -
2022 2021
—E- & T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 91 88
31 - 60 days 31%260H 7 5
61 - 90 days 61%290H 3 15
Over 90 days 90H Mk 118 119
219 227

(c) Trade payables arising from loan referral service are generally
settled within 5 days upon receipt of invoice.

An ageing analysis of trade payables for loan referral service at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(0 EXRENRBELHNENMFRRX R
BRESANEE -

RIRE IR EREN RIGENBRZTAER
BROMTET

2022 2021

== T

HKS$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

0 - 30 days 0£30H 16,105 -

(d) Included in deposits received was an amount of HK$22,195,000
(2021: HK$56,955,000) which was received from customers
as collateral security for the financial guarantees issued by the
Group. These deposits will be refunded to the customers upon
expiry of the corresponding guarantee contracts. According to
the contracts, these deposits are expected to be settled within
one year.
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(d) BUYEUREH 22,195,000 T (Z T = —
% 156,955,000/ 7T ) Jh AN & B 1A & UK ER
EAAEERHABMEERHIKF -ZS
RS BRARERENERERETER -
BEAH  ZSESERBER—FRNE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

31.LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 31.EtEIEREE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Deferred income EREU A 8 8
Provision for guarantee losses EREBRE 402,211 359,917
402,219 359,925

Movement analysis of provision for guarantee losses: EREBEREZ ST

2022 2021

—=E-= —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Balance at beginning of the year FYER 359,917 231,286
Amounts recognised during the year FABRZ TR 81,832 150,820
Amounts reversed during the year FRNELO & (11,316) (29,843)
Exchange realignment PRI ES (28,222) 7,654
Balance at end of the year FRER 402,211 359,917

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk

BRAASEEERREMEEBEZELERD

exposure arising from guarantee issued are set out in the FEERBNEZFBIENGE Y BREM
note 49(b) to the consolidated financial statements. #+49(b) °
32.BORROWINGS NEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank loans (Note a) RITER (MizTa) 104,025 119,010
Other loans (Note b) HMER (MiEb) 175,060 122,871
279,085 241,881
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

32.BORROWINGS (Continued)

0.EE (&)

Bank loans Other loans
RITER Ht&ER
31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-fF —E-—F —E__F —E-—F
+=—A=+—-8 +=ZB=+—H +t=B=+-H +=A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT FTHERx FET
Carrying amount repayable: JER T EREENEREE:
Within one year —&RQ 67,277 63,799 26,345 =
More than one year, but not —EP EARFEUA
exceeding two years 19,787 21,471 148,715 122,871
More than two years, but not ~ MF L FERFUR
exceeding five years 16,961 33,740 - -
104,025 119,010 175,060 122,871
Less: Amounts shown under WRRBBEEINT ISR
current liabilities (67,277) (63,799) (26,345) -
Amounts shown under RIERBEEINTZEE
non-current liabilities 36,748 55,211 148,715 122,871
Notes: B =
(@) The bank loans of RMB65,000,000 (approximately (@) BLITERARME65,000,000 (4

HK$73,496,000) (2021: RMB70,000,000 (approximately
HK$85,883,000)) are secured by the pledge of the Group's
assets as set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements which carry effective interest rates ranging from
3.65% to 6.27% (2021: 4.95% to 6.37%) per annum. The
remaining bank loan of RMB27,000,000 (approximately
HK$30,529,000) (2021: RMB27,000,000 (approximately
HK$33,127,000)) bears interest at fixed rate of 3.65% (2021:
7.5%) per annum, is secured by a property provided by an
independent third party, and is repayable within one year.

The other loans bear interest at fixed rates ranging from
6% to 10.55% (2021: 10% to 10.55%) per annum and are
unsecured.

In December 2022, the Group entered into extension
agreements with several lenders to revise the repayment
schedule. The management of the Group considers that
the terms of the extension agreements are not substantially
different under the new terms as the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms discounted
using the original effective interest rate is different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability by less than 10 per cent. Accordingly,
such modification of terms was accounted for as non-
substantial modification, and the adjustment of approximately
HK$3,735,000 to the carrying amount of the financial liability
was recognised as other gain as set out in note 7 at the date of
modification during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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73,496,000 L) (ZEZ—F: ARK
70,000,0007T (4985,883,000/8 7T ) ) M1 47
BB RERM FLA T EAEEEEL I
HRBERFERMENF3.65%E6.27% (=
T - —F:495%%F637%):t B 82 TR
1TE A RM27,000,0007T(4930,529,000
Bo) (ZEZ—F: AR¥27,000,000
70 (4933,127,000/%8 7T) ) Jh ¥z [E & & F &

365% (ZE-—F75% )t H— 8275
UEZHIRHENDEERE AR —FR
Eigo
HbERDNDREETENENF6%E
10.55% (ZZE = —% :10%%10.55% ) 5
BN A o

RZE-_—F+ A AEEBRZZEXK
ANETMIEER I  MEBGER BB R - K
EEEEERE THRENIERETIF
ATV EEREZE BERRRENIERK
AREBRMNREEMNRESRENEELIRIR
BEFESHREENHRESRENEMHIAR
ERZELRI0% At HE—_T-—
+-A=+—BLEFE BEEREXRA
BRIMESFEERER MY BERAE
{EH 8978 493,735,00058 ;T A & 2k B HRRE
RAME7AE N E K-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

33.LEASE LIABILITIES BHEERE
The following table shows the remaining contractual THREINAEEHERBBZRRE LI
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: (EPE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
Present value Present value
of the lease Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HESRZ HEMR HBENIZZ HERNK
BE M BE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FET FAT FET
Within one year R—FR 6,776 7,429 5,777 6,623
After one year but within ~ —FEZERMER
two years 2,135 2,355 5,935 6,585
After two years but within =~ REREBRAFER
five years 2,642 2,845 5,057 5,514
11,553 12,629 16,769 18,722
Less: total future interest AR IRF B X R
expenses (1,076) (1,953)
Present value of lease liabilitiesTA & B & 2 & 11,553 16,769

34.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 34 IEEFIEE E

Provision
Impairment for financial
allowance guarantee Total
WERE REERES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
Cost 59N
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—F—H—H 11,589 5,813 17,402
Credited to profitor loss ~ REREBEREF A
for the year 21,175 9,908 31,083
Exchange realignment b H, A B 384 192 576
At 31 December 2021 R-ZEBE-_—F+-_H=+—H 33,148 15,913 49,061
Charged to profit or loss W F KBz F Ik
for the year - (7,950) (7,950)
Exchange realignment [ 5 % (2,599) (1,248) (3,847)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBZ-ZH+ZA=+—H 30,549 6,715 37,264
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

34.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) 34.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$666,672,000 (2021: HK$650,991,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$193,575,000 (2021:
HK$209,273,000) that will expire in one to five years. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries and associates established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed profits
of subsidiaries in PRC for which deferred taxation liabilities
in relation to withholding tax have not been recognised was
HK$22,114,000 (2021: HK$23,207,000). No deferred tax
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing
for reversal of the related temporary differences and it is
probable that such temporary differences will not be reversed
in the foreseeable future.
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EETRIBEEE (7)

REEPR AEBERHARES
666,672,000 (& - —F:
650,991,000/ 7T ) A] A3 1E ¥ $8 K 2K 4 1 o
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AOAREEERRELCHBEEE K
ERAREBEERER —ZAFAEM
Z E518193,575,0008 Tt (Z & = —F:
209,273,000/ 7T ) o H 4th E5 18 A £ [R HA 45
Lo

RIERBEEEMERE £ B2
BhEMIIRKEETIRZ KB BEY
10%BHR -ZRMTEBH_ZEZNF— A
—BEEY BERR TS +F+ A
=+ —HREZAN - MPBEEIIEIEE S
FIEM R LB BRI ARG IEL - Bl %
AREZENIMRER -FAEEmS  BA
HEE5%510% - Bt AEE B AR T
BB AR RBERARRL -ZEZEN
F—A—HRELZEFD IR S ME
EHH -
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BRraxohafMBENERERE (M
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B)#8%5822,114,0008 T (T = —F:
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

35.CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement and the
supplementary agreement for the acquisition of Yunlian
Group, convertible notes with principal amounts of
HK$200,000,000 at conversion price of HK$1.00 were issued
to the vendor of Xin Yunlian Group on 31 July 2020 (the
“Issue Date”). It entitled the noteholder to convert 30% of
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time after
the third anniversary of the Issue Date and ending on the
maturity date, which is on the fifth anniversary of the Issue
Date. On the maturity date, the noteholder has the right to
convert the remaining 70% of them in full. The conversion
of the convertible notes is subject to a lockup period until
the date which the Company, vendor and vendor guarantor
confirm or mutually agreed the principal amount to be
reduced by the compensation for the shortfall of guaranteed
profit of Xin Yunlian Group for the five years ending 31
December 2024. The principal amount of the convertible
notes equals to the guaranteed profit cannot be converted
during the lock-up period. If the convertible notes have not
been converted, they will be redeemed on the maturity date
at the entire principal amount. Further details are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 30 June 2020.

The Company shall have the right to redeem the convertible
notes at any time after the Issue Date, prior to the fourth
anniversary of the Issue Date.

The convertible notes contain three components, liability,
equity and the derivative components — redemption option.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the convertible
loan notes was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “Convertible
notes equity reserve”. The liability component of the
convertible notes is carried as a non-current liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 8.22% per annum. The derivative component
— redemption option is measured at fair value with change in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

35. A] 2 IR =R

mﬁ%$%%%EZE§m%&ﬁﬁ%
# - N4 %A 4200,000,00058 T 2 A[ R E
Bﬁﬁ\ T_EF+A=+—H8([%17H
HBETTHEREEZE S HIRER
1.008 - Bl FTRIEBEFEAERNRETT
E%“‘ﬂi*ﬁ BIHAR (BNZ17H
FRBFEB) ILEAEREGRKEEE
Z30%EHMARNF 2 LB - AFEA -
%ﬁﬁﬁAﬁ%%T%kmﬁﬁsz%
PHER - [ RRER I ERLEEER
E§$QE~EE&AEE%AﬁwiA
BXTEERASBEUENEBHEERNEHE
—E_UF+_A=+—BHLRAEFEZ
RFBEBFTEIDHEEE - AR BHEA
CRHESENRERF B TAIRNZEEHR
%% WEMAT BRI EEE R &
h%ﬂ%a&%ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ@ %
FHBEHNRARRBPA-_ST-_TEX
HE+EZ%&

AABBENRFETHHRR HTHHEN
BFE B ATEE (AR [ O TR A R AR o

ARBREERS =59
T/TE_LB o — B (O] 32 ?ﬁ*&"

W@*ﬁ M Tﬁkéﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬂ*
\\\\\\ RoEm Bl n =
q%HTﬁhmﬁ%”ﬁﬁhJWﬂﬁ%
ERCEEBOIREHEKAEEARAIE
RBaE EEAERERRIEAL-

CBIBE R

BEHD 2EBRFNER822% ~ $TEED
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35.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

35. Al AR 1 ()

The carrying amounts of above-mentioned convertible notes PR MR EEN RS HARERZREE
recognised at the end of the reporting period were calculated FEMT:
as follows:
Convertible
Notes
ARREE
HK$'000
FHET
Equity component mE o
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R-—ZE-_—F—H—H
31 December 2022 —E-—F+=ZA=1+—HK
T —F+-A=+—H 53,452
Liability component BEHXS
At 1 January 2021 RZE-——F—H—H 161,707
Effective interest expenses ERMERAX 13,573
At 31 December 2021 R-B_—F+-A=1+—H 175,280
Effective interest expenses ERMERX 14,712
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=ZF+=—fA=+—H 189,992
Derivative component — redemption option (note 23) PTHEI» —BEEERE (f5E23)
At 1 January 2021 RZTE——F—H—H (15,380)
Gain on fair value change NEEEH N E (645)
At 31 December 2021 R-B_—F+_-_A=+—H (16,025)
Loss on fair value change ~NEEEEEHE 9,120
At 31 December 2022 R-B__F+_-_A=+—H (6,905)

The details of fair value measurement of the Derivative
component — redemption option is disclosed in note 50(i) to

the consolidated financial statements.

36.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL
COMPANY CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 14 December 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to dispose of the entire equity interests
in Greater China Securities Limited (the “Disposal Company”)
at a consideration of the aggregated amount of HK$913,000
and 100% of the amount of bank deposit in the Disposal
Company at the completion of this disposal.

B8 EB“—HE BB ANFETE
TR ERE B RS IR R BT RE50(0)

3. D ERFIFLE ZHERA
MEENAE

A ::¢+—H+EE~$;‘%§TE
EEWE UEHEXPEFHFERA
(Tﬁ%@ﬂ)z HE - REARAEH

913,000 TR ZBHE K HE AR
AIERITF AL EM100% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

36.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL

COMPANY CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

Such disposal was yet to complete, and the assets and
liabilities attributable to the Disposal Company, which
is expected to be sold within twelve months, have been
classified as a disposal company held for sale and are
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022.

The Disposal Company is included in the Group’s others
segment for segment reporting purposes (see note 6). As
the Disposal Company does not represent a major line of
business or geographical area of operation, the disposal does
not constitute a discontinued operation. The net proceeds
of disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount
of the relevant assets and liabilities and accordingly, no
impairment loss has been recognised.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal
Company classified as held for sale are as follows:

3. D ERFEFLE ZHERA
MBENMEE @

BERLERATA MBEHAR+ —@EA

NHEZHERARREEERBBE DR
BEELEZHERR] IR _F -
T A=+t RZBEaMBRRKRTER
EXIIY

ROBHmEMS  HERRFALREEZ
HAib &8 (R M aE6) - AR H & R BA 3k
TEXBRAEEMEME HRBELE
Y AEX—HERIEELEXER - HERE
FEFRRASBEAAEEERAGNR
EFE - It I R R R (E R 1R

PERFELEZHERARMNEEREE
MEESEWT:

31/12/2022

—E-
+=A
=+-—8
HK$'000
FETT
Intangible asset BRIEE 500
Goodwill g _
Property, plant and equipment M BB RRE -
Account receivables Jr& W BR 3k 101
Prepayment and deposit ERRERES 277
Bank balance and cash IRIT#EEHR MRS 3,868
Cash held on behalf of clients REFFENR: 1,035
Total assets classified as held for sale DEARBELHENEERE 5,781
Account payables FETBR 1,135
Accruals F‘Ef%ﬁﬁ 7
Total liabilities classified as held for sale DEARBELHENEELER 1,142

There are no cumulative income or expense included in other
comprehensive income relating to the Disposal Company.

o

BIEARELE QTR WA G A
H 2 W as
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e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.SHARE CAPITAL 37. 08 7
Number Nominal
of shares amount
gng 4= E{E
‘000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each BREME0.001EITH LB
At 1 January 2021, R-ZZE-_—F—H—QH"
31 December 2021, —E--%+ZA=+—8"
1 January 2022 and T -HA-HAkK
31 December 2022 “E--F+-A=+—H 2,109,890,000 2,109,890
Preference shares of HK$0.001 each % E{E0.001/8 T HIB £ Ik
At 1 January 2021, RZZE-_—F—H—8H"
31 December 2021, T —F+ZA=+—8-
1 January 2022 and T _F-A-BRk
31 December 2022 T+ A=+—H 110,000 110
Issued and fully paid: BERTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FAREE0.0018 L L AR
At 1 January 2021 R—E-—F—HF—H 7,775,357 7,775
Exercise of share options (Note) 1T R R (FiTaE) 500 1
At 31 December 2021, RZBZ—F+-RA=+—RH"
1 January 2022 and “EF-A=+—HkK
31 December 2022 R+ A=+—H 7,775,857 7,776

Note:

On 9 April 2021, upon the exercise of the share options at an
exercise price of HK$0.188 per share, the Company allotted and

issued 500,000 new shares of HK$0.001 each.

All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the existing

shares in all respects.

GEE

R-ZZB-_—FWANB ERITEESREN
0188 TITE B ER A AR AL K17

500,0000% & I EI{E0.00178 T B FT R 15 o

B3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

38.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“2021
Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed
at an annual general meeting held on 10 June 2021 for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants to recognise and acknowledge their contributions
to the Group, and will expire on 10 June 2031. The
Company’s old share option scheme (the “2011 Share Option
Scheme"”) was terminated upon the adoption of the 2021
Share Option Scheme. No further options shall be offered
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme, but in all other
respects the provisions of the 2011 Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and all options granted
prior to such termination and not exercised at the date of
termination shall remain valid. Under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to
any full-time or part-time employees, executives, officers or
directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) of the Group and any suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisors who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no share option was
granted under 2021 Share Option Scheme, and as at 31
December 2022 the number of shares in respect of options
granted and remained outstanding under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme was 293,000,000 (2021: 293,000,000),
representing 3.77% (2021: 3.77%) of the issued shares
of the Company. As at the date of this report, the number
of shares available for issue under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme is 777,585,762 (As at the date of 2021 annual
report: 777,585,762), representing approximately 10% (As at
the date of 2021 annual report: 10%) of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.

38. 0 A g =t 2

RER-_ZF-_—FXATHETHER
BFEREELBAN—TRBER ARAK
M—EBREE (T —FBRE
AE)  ZAEER _E=—%FA+H
Eim BNRREHEBARETAERS
AT LER R AAREHAKEFEL
MER -ARREBRGE (2T ——%
BREASDRRA T - —FHERE
ArERRILE-HEEMERESRE_F
—— FEREE TURE E-_T——
F R AR RT BRSO P A B Ath 0 T i & 4
BEUNER ARBRBEZ ARG R
R AR ARETEZ 2 MERESS
BEBEEM-BRE_ZT_-_—FERETS
ARPEZEAMEFTE2RI/BEAE
HBAKBELEROANEEERZBER
BEE THRAE SABEXRER (2%
FRTEFTRBUIFRITES) AREM
HER TP AR RERERKL
R R HE

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=1—HI-FE"
MERE T - —FEREFERSE
ERE MR _E-—&F+-_A=+—
H- BE-_ZT——FEREFIERE
BHRRTENBERESIEROROEE &
293,000,000/% ( == ——4F : 293,000,000
) IEARRRBEBITRMOHM3I77% (=
TZ—F:377%) RARERH —F
T FEREEIE T A HEITARMDE
B /777,585,762 (R = —FFH{ A
HH:777,585,762/%) " fh AR A A2 BT
NEHNN10% (RZE-_—FFHREAH:
10% ) °
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B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

. J/L 35 = =
38.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued) 38. I AR EET 8l ()
Movements of the Company’s share options held by BHE-_Z-_F+-A=1+—HILEFE"
employees and consultants during the year ended 31 BERERFAFAEARARRBRENEEEH
December 2022 are set out below: FIEAR
Number of share options
BREHA
As at As at Exercise
1 January Lapsed 31 December  Exercise price
Category of participants 2022 Granted Exercised (Note ¢) 2022  period HK$
R-BZZF BA¥ RIBD=F e
SEALER -RA—-H 2R g1 (W) +=A=+-8 f1f£H B
Category I: Employees
Bl g8
30.12.2020 135,300,000 - - - 135,300,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
—ZR-ZE+ZA=1H ZE-F+ZA=tHE
ZE-RF+ZHAZThA
(Fizta)
Category II: Consultants
R - BB
30.12.2020 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
ZT-TF+ZA=TH “T—5+ZA=1B%
ZZZRE+ZAZTNA
(Fizra)
Category Ill: Director
Al EE
30.12.2020 7,700,000 - - - 7,700,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
ZR-TE+ZA=TH ZZZ-F#+ZR=1RHZE
ZE-RE+TZAZTAR
(PitzEa)
Total 293,000,000 - - - 293,000,000
Mt
Weighted average exercise price 0.200 - 0.200 0.200 0.200
MEFHTEE

204 Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

38.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)

3

Movements of the Company’s share options held by
employees and consultants during the year ended 31

December 2021 are set out below:

Number of share options

8B EET & ()

HE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE"
EENEREFEEARARRBRENE S
BT

BlREA
As at As at Exercise
1 January Lapsed 31 December  Exercise price
Category of participants 2021 Granted Exercised (Note ¢) 2021 period HK$
RZZE=—F BAM  RIZZ-F N
2EATER —HA—-A B&RT BT (BzEe) +ZA=+—R8 1145 BT
Category I: Employees
Bl E8
20.3.2018 91,500,000 - (500,000) (91,000,000 - 20.3.2018-19.3.2021 (Note b) 0.188
—Z-\f=R=1+A —Z-\f=A=1+ARZ
“TZ-%=A+NAH (M)
30.12.2020 142,300,000 - - (7,000,000) 135,300,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“BCBE+T-A=TH “Z--f+-R=+RAZ
“Z-AF+ZAZTAA
(Pista)
Category II: Consultants
KR - B
20.3.2018 336,080,000 - - (336,080,000) - 20.3.2018-19.3.2021 Note (b) 0.188
—E-N\E=A=+H —T-NF=ZAZt+HE
“EZ-F=ZRA+TARB (Mb)
30.12.2020 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“R-RE+ZA=TH —Z--f+ZR=1RHZ
“Z-REE+TZAZTAA
(Pizta)
Category lll: Director
Al ER
30.12.2020 7,700,000 - - - 7,700,000  30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“BR-ZRE+-A=TH —Z--f+-R=+AZ
“Z-RF+T-AZTAA
(Pista)
Total 727,580,000 - (500,000)  (434,080,000) 293,000,000
&t
Weighted average exercise price 0.193 - 0.188 0.188 0.200

mEFHTEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ-ZT - —HF+_A=+—HILtFE

38.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

(@) On 30 December 2020, the Company granted options to
subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 shares under the 2011
Share Option Scheme to employees and consultants of the
Group. The validity period of the options was 60 months from
the date of grant of the options, that is from 30 December
2020 to 29 December 2025. The options entitled the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 new shares of HK$0.001
each at an exercise price of HK$0.200 per share. The number
of share options that each grantee can exercise each year
during 30 December 2021 to 29 December 2025 (the “Exercise
Period”) shall not exceed one third of the share options granted
to such grantees, except that the maximum number of share
options that each grantee can exercise during the last year of
the Exercise Period shall be all remaining share options granted
to grantees that have not been exercised.

The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before 30
December 2020, the date of grant was HK$0.199.

(b) On 20 March 2018, the Company granted options to subscribe
for a total of 457,580,000 shares under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme to employees and consultants of the Group. The validity
period of the options is 36 months from the date of grant of
the options, that is from 20 March 2018 to 19 March 2020.
The options will entitle the grantees to subscribe for a total of
457,580,000 new shares of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price
of HK$0.188 per share.

The closing price of the Company's shares immediately before
20 March 2018, the date of grant was HK$0.187.

(c) The share options were forfeited or lapsed due to resignation of
employees and consultants during the year.
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38. IR ERT 2 (1)

MsE

(a)

RZZEZZTF+A=1+RH AQaIRE
—E——FEREFERASEEE KE
il 52 ) i A DA 3R 8 A& 300,000,000 4% A%
m-BREZEXPAEBRERT B
HEeOBEA (—ZE-—EF+=-A=+H
ZETRF+TZARZTNR) -BRER
ﬁ%%&A%ﬂuﬂﬁ%iMnm%m
RIEAE /\300 000,0008% & i% 1 {H0.001%5
mZ%ﬁHxT BEBARZE_—F+=
ﬁE+E§:$:£$+:H:+hE
(78 BFATEMNERESE TE
AR TZEARANBREN =22 —
WRITFER B FESERAITEZ
BRESAEEAARTZERRAZNH
RIETTE 2 T B TR AR 4 -

AARRMOREBE -_E_EF+-_A=+
B (BB ATMU T E A0.19978 T ©

RZZE-NF=ZA=-+8 A2 ERE_
T——FHBREFIRASEEREE RERH
5 B8 A% 4 LA R B8 & ££457,580,0008% A%
m-BREZBEXIAEBRERTD B
BE36 A (I ZE—NF=F=-+HZE
—ZE-EF=ZA+NA) -BRESEET
%&A%ﬂuﬁﬁﬁtwmwﬁmﬂ%
& #£457,580,000/% & I E {E0.0018 7T 2
i o

ARARBRPRER —_FT-NF=A_-1H
(BN B H) RTEV W (B /301878 7T

BRECRWERI TEFANEE RE
A g (E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

38.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued) 38. FE A HEET 2 ()

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using a Binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted and the following inputs to the model:

RO ARBEENBREZ 2 FETIR
R B A - AA R E BRI A

I B R B IR RE R PR IB O 16K S AR £

TREHNER PRI AR

30 December

2020

—ECEF

+=HA=+H

HK$'000

T

Fair value (HK$) ~E BT 0.02
Exercise price (HK$) TEE (BL) 0.200
Share price at the date of grant (HK$) iNEsJuel= Hﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁfg (BT 0.199
Dividend yield (%) i B 5 (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 BRI 18(%) 54.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) # 3 B 1 (%) 0.368
Expected life of options (years) TEHRME IR ESFHA (5F) 5.000

The expected life of the options is based on the contractual
life and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The fair value of the share options granted on 30 December
2020 was HK$7,081,000. The fair value per option granted
was HK$0.02. The Group recognised the share-based
payment expense of HK$1,787,000 (2021: HK$4,599,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

BREERFRDRBENFHETE K
%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂ’\]ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ})ﬁiﬂ]@
IR 2RI AR EZRIZHRR KA
;K’/Z‘/t’_‘r TR -

RBE_E-_FTF+-_A=+—RHIEE"
B O aERE A FEAE7,081,000% 7T
BEHERTERENRFEA0.02B T
NEBE-E-_—_F+_-_A=1+—HILFE"-
RNEBERERARMN X 5KIBH 1,787,000
BT (ZZ = —4:4,599,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 39. 3R K48 K51 &

The Group is required to participate in a defined contribution
scheme, the MPF Scheme, in respect of its employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Both the Group and its employees contribute 5% of
the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme. The maximum
contribution for each employee is limited to HK$18,000
(2021: HK$18,000) per annum. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

The employees of PRC subsidiaries are members of defined
contribution plans organised by the municipal and provincial
government authorities in the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are
required to make monthly contributions to these plans at
a fixed percentage of the employee’s basic salary. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme in the PRC is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The local government authority is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

Contributions to the retirement benefit schemes for the year
amounted to HK$3,731,000 (2021: HK$4,891,000).
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AEBEBEAERBEELETBENETE
BgtEestdl - Bt EMEERASE
EMEESHAITRABAITAZINESH
- ASEHEEEBSHAREBHMNKAR
5% RsRES T EMEH MR -BREE R
SRR EATF18,008 T (T =—
F 118,000/ 7T ) o I 8 (F fa] 58 Uk it 3k AT
RARIBARRFEEEANAHER -

FEIFE AR MREE AT BRE BT
B8 2 MY B0 E B A RET B R B - R B P /B
NRABAREEEAFENETERA DL
A 5% 3 ot &1 5K - AN 68 B 51 P BAR IR A48 A
eI M- B ESRBEZTEIELRTEN
W T BT HE R B RER KRR
2ERRINE o I B AT A O WAL T AT AR
HRARREE AR

NF R EF E 2 A H 3K 53,731,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

40.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Pursuant to the share transfer agreement dated 27 January
2020, the Group disposed of its 60% equity interest in
Hangzhou Zheng Pin Zheng Yuan Network Technology
Company Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, to Hangzhou Songsen Gaozheng Technology
Company Limited for nil consideration. The disposal was

40.HE— R E A 7]

REBRA-ZT-_ZTF—A_-_++HZK
NEZEGR AEBRERIERERMMER
SERMBEBERARHEERAEEMEIE
2EWBRARMIMNERERBERTEER
NAEIH60% R E-ZBEHEERN T = —
FZAtBERK -BERBEREEBH

completed on 10 March 2021. The carrying amounts of the

ZEEEBEWNT:

assets and liabilities on the dates of disposal were as follows:

For the
year ended
31 December
2021
BHE
—E-—%F
+—H
=+—H
IEFE
HK$'000
THT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which HAEEFEZEERBEND !
control was lost:
Inventory ey 23
Other receivables, prepayment and deposits HiEW IR AN RIERERS 5,503
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITERR 62
Amount due to a subsidiary of the Group ERASE 2 —EWEBARNIEA (3,579)
Trade and other payables JRE A~ BIR 3K K2 L At B <Y KR (902)
Net assets disposed of EHEEESFE 1,107
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-—BHNEBAR ZWE:
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (1,107)
Non-controlling interest derecognised B IEER IEERE S 2,577
Reserve released upon disposal of a subsidiary R E— BB A FREEEE 22
Gain on disposal & 1,492
RPESRIERERAR | DT _FFmW
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

40.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 40.HE — MM B AR (&)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FHALE—RHNBRARIZHEERREEE
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: MR RN T -
HK$'000
FHT
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERS RRITER (62)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents EREHEMBRARIZRE R
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReEEWRLFHE (62)
The subsidiary disposed of during the year did not contribute FRAEENHFBRARYAEEHEZ_-Z
significantly to the revenue, operating results or cash flows of ——F+-A=+—HLEFEZKRA &
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. EEENRERETEERNTR -
41.PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. B EH
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been ERAEEER 2 —RIBITEEMIELE
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the W EERTMENT:
Group:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB MR E 58,004 72,755
Right-of-use assets — leasehold lands ERAEEE-RFEHZ
in the PRC HE 20,007 22,485
Bank deposit |ITER 5,653 S
84,464 95,240
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mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ T - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

42.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS NEBEANTRS
(a) Balances with related parties (a) BEALEER
2022 2021
—E=-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHEIT
Loans to and interest receivables from B T —IEIFIE AL RE RS
a non-controlling interest, net of JE WL B (?Dﬁ?ﬂ@%ﬂ%)
impairment allowance (Note i) (B 50 ) 36,148 140,531
Loans to and interest receivables from BT —RE < A aE &
an associate, net of impairment FEWE RIS (FBRIBERE)
allowance (Note ii) ( Bft 5Eii ) 497 1,260
Prepayment to an associate arising from BB EEZBEEMNR —X
loan financing business (Note iii) Bt N R R TR FRIE (X ) - 20,929
Account payable due to an associate X %ﬁﬁ%ﬂ‘xéiﬁ’ﬂ?ﬁ A
arising from loan financing business it 2 a] BR AR (B =i )
(Note iii) (16,105) -
Amount due to non-controlling JE 1 JE 4% AR e 2 SR 3R (A &)
interests (Note iii) (9,497) (10,306)
Borrowings and accrued interest due to  JEff —Z R A THIEE
a related party (Note iv) FEETFIE (Bt aEiv) (18,762) -
Notes: B 5E -
(i) At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loans to a non- iy RZE-_Z_Fh_FE-_—%+_H

controlling interest, Wangxin Technology was unsecured,
interest bearing at 10.0% and repayable within one
year. The maximum amount of the loans to and interest
receivables from the non-controlling interest was
RMB 135,970,000 (approximately HK$153,742,000) during
the year 2022 (2021: RMB114,542,000 (approximately
HK$140,531,000)). The Group has made impairment
allowance on loans to and interest receivables from a
non-controlling interest of HK$117,594,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$116,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note
49(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

=+ —H REERERENEIN
ERME R ABERIF - 1%210.0%8 7
R BUWEAR—TFREE-RN_F
ZZFARN MEERESELOHER
MEREMBENZSREAARKE
135,970,0007T (£ &153,742,0007%

L) (ZE=—%F: AR¥114,542,000
7T (#97/140,531,000870) ) R =&
T+ -A=+—H AE£EEEH

BERT—HIEERESREWRERE
TR E B E117,594,0008 7 (==&
——%:116,000/87T) °

WMEEFBEHRGE VBRI E
49(b) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ-ZT - —HF+_A=+—HILtFE

42 .RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  42.f8:8 A+ 5 (4)

(a) Balances with related parties (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loan to an
associate, Zhongyan E-commerce was unsecured, interest
bearing at 10.0% and repayable within one year. The
maximum amount of the loan to and interest receivables
from an associate was RMB1,027,000 (approximately
HK$1,161,000) during the year 2022 (2021: RMB1,027,000
(approximately HK$1,260,000)). The Group has made
impairment allowance on loans to and interest receivables
from an associate of HK$449,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$506,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note
49(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) As at the end of the year, the balances with these related
parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The amounts approximate their fair values.

(iv) At 31 December 2022, the amount represents borrowings
and accrued interest due to the spouse of a director are
unsecured, repayable after 1 year and with interest rate at
6% per annum.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of convertible
notes of HK$189,992,000 (2021: HK$175,280,000) represents
the convertible notes issued to the vendor of the Xin Yunlian
Acquisition, and the financial asset at FVTPL — profit guarantee
and incentive payment with a fair value of HK$188,021,000
(2021: HK$144,513,000) represents the amount that will
receivable from or payable to the vendor and vendor guarantor
of the Xin Yunlian Acquisition after year ending 31 December
2024. Details of terms and condition are disclosed in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements. The vendor guarantor
who is also the beneficial owner of the vendor of the Xin
Yunlian Acquisition was appointed as the executive director of
the Company on 8 December 2021 as disclosed in note 13(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, a non-controlling interest and an
associate of the Group jointly had a loan which was jointly
guaranteed free of charge by several parties including a
subsidiary of the Group. The Group has made provision of
HK$4,993,000 for this guarantee as at 31 December 2022.
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The Group undertook the following material transactions

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

42.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transaction with related parties

NEBEBATRG (8
(b) BEALRS
7 £ (B A AN 4 BB A+ #1775

with related parties during the year: BEARG:
2022 2021

—E-= —E -4
Relationships Nature of transactions HK$°000 HK$'000
RS RHME THT THETT
Non-controlling interest Interest income (Note i) 20,885 23,381
FEVEIR M 2 FMEWA (FFE)
Associate Data collection service expense (Note ii) 63,763 26,134
/N BB U SR AR 7 > (BT )
Associate Interest income (Note i) - 59
il /N] MEHA (B FE)
Spouse of a director Interest expense (Note iii) 362 -

BB

B (B i)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Interest was charged to a non-controlling interest and an
associate at interest rate of 10.0% per annum and terms
mutually agreed.

Data collection service expense was charged at mutually
agreed fee.

Interest expense paid to the spouse of a director was
charged at interest rate of 6% per annum and terms
mutually agreed.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year is HK$9,498,000 (2021:
HK$9,058,000) as disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GEE

(i) TR IE PR R AR A K T X R MR A IS
1210.0% K R REHE - 1R85 £F 7
TE B ERFETT o

FERWERBRIZET HEE R
HR o

A—REFEBNENHEFXIZ6%
F) 6 1) 2= K2 B8 77 155 TE #O R R B -

(ii)

(iii)

HETEEEASR

EENHEMFEEEK S H M A9,498,000
BT (ZF ——4:9,058,000/ 7T ) N 47
B BERERM F13N0 1430 FE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

== 1\ =
43.SUBSIDIARIES 43.0 B 1~ 7]
43.1General information of subsidiaries BB AR Z —KRERE
Issued and fully Proportion of nominal
Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERALR BRTRAR KARAFRERATRAEE
£ EXBE EERLK/AMEL ERMEREELS TERH
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E2--F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B R Ef i
Delight Link Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% - 100% - Provision of administrative services
to group companies
MELEBRAF X BRRA2ET MEERARETHRE
AEEEIERERARA PRC Registered capital - 100% = 100%  Industrial property development
(transliterated as Taicang RMB80,000,000
Keycharm Storage Company Limited?)
REEAARARAT" e HMER I¥RNEER
AR 80,000,007
AEBNEAERAF PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100% Trading of goods
(transliterated as Taicang Haopu RMB5,000,000
Trading Company Limited?)
REBHEHERA T e HMER EnE%
AR 5,000,000
Greater China Financing Limited HK Ordinary HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of money lending
APERERRAA &h ERRAET RitfeE
Greater China Wealth & Risk HK Ordinary HK$2,000,000 - 100% - 100% Provision of insurance
Management Limited brokerage services
APEERERBRAR A EIR7R2,000,000 7T RIERBELRE
Greater China Securities Limited HK Ordinary HK$18,000,000 - 100% - 100% Provision of securities
brokerage services
AREEHERAA i & B R7K18,000,000/5 REEFEERS
Greater China Asset Management HK Registered capital - 100% = 100% Provision of assets
(HK) Limited HK$1,000,000 management services
APEZEER (B5)ERAR B # & 741,000,000 7T REBEERRE
FREHFMEEERARA A PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100% Provision of loan referral
(transliterated as (Beijing Xin Nuo Wei RMB100,000,000 consulting services
Assets Management Limited?)
EREFHEEERERAAF HE gV REERENFARY
ARE100,000,0007
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43.1General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &&= —

Issued and fully

%;_T_A

TR CF+TRA=+—HIEFE

= — —

43.M1 B R~ &) ()

R R MR

BIMBRAZ—KRER (F)

Proportion of nominal

Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERALR BRTRAR KRAMBERATRAER/
£ EEBEY EERE/HMBER EMEXEELA TERH
2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 583 B Rk

Spruce Light Asset Management HK Ordinary HK$5,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of assets
Company Limited management services

EREEERERAA &h ERAR 5,000,000 7T REBEERRE

ERRRETRHEERERAR PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100% Provision of financial guarantee
(transliterated as (Beijing An Jia Shi RMB220,000,000 and consulting services
Hang Financial Guarantee
Company Limited®)

FRERETREERERAR HE FMEE REREERRANRE

AR%220,000,0007
REEHEEREERAF PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100% Provision of commercial
(transliterated as Shenzhen Xin RMB50,000,000 factoring services
Nuo Wei Commercial Factoring
Company Limited®)
RERNEEREERAT e HMER REBERERE
AR 50,000,0007

ERENAUCEZARBARLA PRC Registered capital = 100% = 100%  Provision of consulting services
(transliterated as Khorgas Nuo Li RMB1,000,000
Enterprises Consultation Service
Company Limited®)

ERRGRUCEAARBERLA hHE AR AE1,000,0007 AR AR

ERRBRREILE PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100% Provision of consulting services
FAREERAF RMB1,000,000
(transliterated as Khorgas An Jia Shi Hang
Enterprises Consultation service
Company Limited®)

ERRAZREORER e dMER et AR
RBBRAF AR 1,000,000

ERGEREGRAR PRC Registered capital - 100% = 100%  Investment holdings
(transliterated as Ninbo Ruixin 1S$30,000,000
Investment Company Limited?)

ERRGEREARA R Gk & 730,000,000% 7T RERR
HINERSTREARL PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51% Investment holdings
(transliterated as Zhejlang Xm Yunlian RMB100,000,000
Digital Technology Company Limited®)

MIHERHTHRER AT s FMER RERR

AR 100,000,000

RPESHERARAF |

—E - FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ-ZT - —HF+_A=+—HILtFE

43.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43.ff1 B 2~ A ()
43.1General information of subsidiaries (Continued) BAKMBARZ—RER (F)
Issued and fully Proportion of nominal
Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
EREIR BRIRAR RARFKERTRAEE
8 EEBY EERE/HRBER EMEXEELA TEXH
2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 583 B Rk
MINERZRBEERA AN PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51%  Investment holdings
(transliterated as Zhejiang Xin Yunlian RMB 173,000,000
Cloud Technology Company Limited?)
HIHEREMBERRA AN i HMER RERR
AK#173,000,0007C
BEFEHBESRSE OFT) PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51% Provision of loan referral service
BB DA (transliterated as RMB100,000,000

Wangxin Xin Yunlian Financial
Information Service (Zhejiang)

Company Limited®)
BRNERSRESRE ONL) R E HEx REEFENRE
BRAA* ARE100,000,0007
TEBREEE ML) BRDA PRC Registered capital - 31% = 31% Provision of advertising service
(transliterated as Xin Yunlian RMB50,000,000
Advertising Media (Zhejiang)
Company Limited®)
NEBRESEE ORI ARAR  #E AR REEERS
ARE50,000,0007
ERERNEERERA A PRC Registered capital - 31% - 31% Provision of loan financing service
(transliterated as Ninbo Yunlian RMB150,000,000
Micro-Financing Company Limited?)
EREMBERARAT M AR RUETRERE
AR #150,000,0007C
*  The English transliteration of Chinese name is included in this fORNEENAENTEEABRSEMAAR
report for reference only and should not be regarded as its WE TESAEEAEXEBE-

official English name.

*

REBFBEEZENTBEKLZINEBERLE -

*  Established in PRC as wholly foreign owned enterprises under

PRC law.
** Established in PRC as limited liability companies under PRC law. > RBEREDEERFBIKILc EREEAR
" Established in PRC as sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law. ~ORBHRBUEERFRREK L 2RI ERE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERINHEZRAREELEAREEFEEN
in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results BEMARAIMBAR -EFERR JH
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries HMBEARNFEEERERAN TR

would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

43.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43.M1 B R A ()
43.1General information of subsidiaries (Continued) BIMBEIARNZ—RER (B)
XinYunlian Advertising Media (Zhejiang) Company Limited NEMESEE NI BERARIRE
and Ninbo Yunlian Micro-Financing Company Limited are REB/NEERERAGIBIEZEN
controlled by the non-wholly owned subsidiaries. JB A EIES e
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at RMBRFRER BEMEBAREET
the end of the financial year. FREBHES-
43.2Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BLEEERHFERERZIZENRBEL
material non-controlling interests AZ#FHE
The table below shows details of major non-wholly- TRINREBEAFEERER 2 AE
owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- BEERF2EMBARZFFIE:
controlling interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of Loss and total
and principal equity interest and comprehensive
place of voting rights held by expenses allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interest non-controlling interest non-controlling interest
EMEILR FERERRENETE ARTFHERERN
L PR TEEENY BERRBREELH FER2AKXAR R FERER
222 201 2022 201 222 2021
—E-CF —E--F —BCCE —E--F —EBCCE 2%
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% % TR FHT TR FHT
Ningbo Ruixin Investment Company Limited and PRC
its Subsidiaries (“Ningbo Ruixin Group”) 49 49 (86,576) (13,674) 112,872 199,449
BERREREAGRARRENBAR ([BRAEEEE]) TE
Summarised financial information in respect of Ningbo EREEREEENNBERNMER
Ruixin Group is set out below. The summarised financial FIAT - T3 HBEERBERERENRN
information below represents amounts before intragroup NRIEEHAT 2R
eliminations.
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets mENE B 297,849 426,634
Non-current assets FERBEE 46,477 60,327
Current liabilities mENEE 189,756 (169,778)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 125,315 124,629
Deficit attributable to owners of RARHE AEILEA
the Company (83,617) (6,896)
Non-controlling interest FEE R M 112,872 199,449
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

43.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43.MT B A Al (&)

BLEBEAFERBEBZZFZENEL

43.2Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

218

material non-controlling interests (Continued) RlzHE (&)
From From
1 January 1 January
2022 to 2021 to
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
H-ZE—-— HE-S——
—A—HZ —H—HZE
—E=-= —E-—F
+=A +=A
=+—8H =+—H
HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue WA 114,402 137,344
Loss for the year REZEE (147,663) (17,109
Loss for the year attributable to: IWTATEEAREESE:
Owners of the Company RARIHER A (75,951) (3,435)
Non-controlling interests FEFEARHE 2 (71,712) (13,674)
Loss for the year REZEE (147,663) (17,109)
Other comprehensive (expenses) income LA N A LEIEARFE
for the year attributable to: Hi2m (M) ke
Owners of the Company KAREEB A (770) 1,624
Non-controlling interest FEZ IR M 2 (14,865) 6,523
Other comprehensive (expenses) income ~ ANFEEM 2 (FI3) k&
for the year (15,635) 8,147
Total comprehensive expense KNTATEEAFEEZE
for the year attributable to: [ S2 4858 -
Owners of the Company KAEER A (76,721) (1,811)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR i A (86,577) (7,151)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A% € 2 H B X 42 %8 (163,298) (8,962)
Net cash outflow from operating activities #%%& & E)IR &7 HF R (34,115) (137,734)
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & /EEIRN /A FEE 2 187
Net cash inflow from financing activities ~ Bt & /EENIR &R AFE 36,958 128,137
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemA/ (nd)F58 2,845 (9,410)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

44.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS
DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

DEIEPNGIE /S
LN

44. M B A RINIRE TENTE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Unlisted shares, at cost FE_ETRR D - A 376,602 376,602
Less: impairment loss recognised B B ERIREEE (376,602) (376,602)
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NETE O E] 1,363,676 1,382,604
Less: impairment loss recognised B B ERIREEE (1,234,439) (969,018)
129,237 413,586

Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A1 Bf /B A B K38 1,922 1,827

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand.

Y ENMBARREREER 28

NARRERKIERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

45.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 4578 X &) K BA 7§ & k)

220

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FET FETT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NGOk = Fi - -
Interests in associates AL RNEET R OF - e — =
Right-of-use assets EREEE - -
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE W B B8~ B 518 129,237 413,586
Other receivables, prepayments HMEWHIE ENRERES
and deposits 462 665
Financial assets at FVTPL HATEFABEZEREE 6,905 16,025
Bank balances and cash IRITEEHR MRS 155 165
136,759 430,441
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HibEN KB RERER 2,263 1,959
Amounts due to subsidiaries &~ Bi BB~ B FR 1A 1,922 1,827
Lease liabilities HERE 2,922 2,741
7,107 6,527
Net current assets MEEEFE 129,652 423,914
Total assets less current liabilities 2 EERRE S & 129,652 423,914
Non-current liabilities krREBEE
Convertible notes AR ES 35 189,992 175,280
Lease liabilities HEaRE 871 3,793
190,863 179,073
Net (liabilities) assets (BB EEFHE (61,211) 244,841
Capital and reserve EXRREE
Share capital IR A 37 7,776 7,776
Share premium &0 =B 2,119,704 2,119,704
Contributed surplus EHER 64,379 64,379
Convertible notes equity reserve AR R IR o (R 53,452 53,452
Share option reserve R 6,313 4,526
Accumulated losses 25HE18 (2,312,835)  (2,004,996)
Total (deficit) equity (BS54 RS AT (61,211) 244,841
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MHRRERNDEEEFER _E_=F=H

issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Kequan

BRREE
DIRECTOR

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

46.RESERVES 46.17% 1
Details of the changes in the Company’'s individual RRRMERFEE D B F N EF R &
components of reserves between the beginning and the end HEERAT
of the year are set out below:
Convertible
Share  Share option  notesequity  Contributed  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
TRREE
ROEE  BRERE BEfE B8RS 2HER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FhET T FhT FhT FHT
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(firsa) (Wizth) (Fi3Ec)
At 1 January 2021 W-E--%-F—-H 2,119,567 37,662 53,452 64,379 (2,013,204) 261,856
Loss and total comprehensive expenses ENBERZARTES
for the year - - - - (29,483) (29,483)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ HEZRIA IR ELEE L 17
payment expenses TRFERL - 4,599 = = = 4,599
Issue of shares upon exercise of RTEBRER BRI
share options 137 (44) = = = 93
Share options lapsed BRMBERE S (37,691) S - 37,691 -
At 31 December 2021 RZZ=—F+ZfA=+—-H 2,119,704 4,526 53,452 64,379 (2,004,996) 237,065
Loss and total comprehensive expenses FERFRERZARY AR
for the year - - - - (307,839) (307,839)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based B2 IA IR B L E R 17
payment expenses XAFERL - 1787 - - - 1,787
At 31 December 2022 WZE-=f+-A=1-H 2,119,704 6,313 53,452 64,379 (2,312,835) (68,987)
Notes: Mgz -

(a) SHARE PREMIUM

(@ BHE

(b)

(9

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value. The application
of the share premium accounts is governed by the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 and the New Bye-Laws of the Company.

SHARE OPTION RESERVE

Share options reserve represents the portion of the grant date
fair value of the unexercised share options of the Company.
CONVERTIBLE NOTES EQUITY RESERVE

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity
component (conversion right) of convertible notes issued by the
Company. Items included in convertible notes equity reserve will
not be reclassified to profit or loss.

B tn i (B 48 RiR R B R ) E B 2 B8 #E1T
BFELEZ GE - BN EERIEAX
BRE-NN—FREDERERANHA
BARRE

AR

B BIE AR A M AR TT BRI
HERRFERD -

A] AR SRR M a1

AMERBERESEEREAAR D EITAR
BREEH RS (BiRE) -5 AREK
EEESFENREETEEN I BERE -

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE

IR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

46.RESERVES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) TRANSLATION RESERVE

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net
assets of the Group's operations outside Hong Kong from
their functional currencies to the Group's presentation
currency are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the operations
outside Hong Kong.

REVALUATION RESERVE

The revaluation reserve represents cumulative net change in
the fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income. The amounts will
be reclassified to accumulated losses when those financial
assets are disposed of.

STATUTORY RESERVE

The statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is appropriated
from the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Articles of Association of the subsidiaries and
associates incorporated in the PRC these entities are required
to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profits, after
offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined under the
PRC accounting standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
fund before distributing a dividend. When the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries and associates, any further appropriation
is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory surplus
reserve fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and
may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve fund after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital.

46.17% s ()

BeE: (48)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

47.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

BMEAPEL BB

TRFANAGERERADELCABEED
HB ERREMIFREEYH -BELD
EEXZAERASRECHIRKEARRE
BRAEBGEARERERDIBABER
PR RENAE-

Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total

BE HEEE #et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

At 1 January 2021 R—E=-——%F—H—H 132,426 7,977 140,403
Financing cash flows BMERERE 103,162 (12,537) 90,625
Unwinding of interests FEfEE - 1,100 1,100
New lease entered RINVHEE = 24,695 24,695
Early termination of lease 2R & ILHE - (4,358) (4,358)
Lease modification ME1EE] - (332) (332)
Exchange realignment b 3, 58 B 6,293 224 6,517
At 31 December 2021 R-_B_—+-_HA=+—H 241,881 16,769 258,650
Financing cash flows BMERSRE 57,204 (7,579) 49,625
Unwinding of interests FEREE - 955 955
New lease entered RIMEHEE - 431 431
Lease modification MEIBE] - 1,601 1,601
Exchange realignment fE 5 EE (20,000) (624) (20,624)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 279,085 11,553 290,638
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

48.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues or bank
borrowings. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the years.

The Group is subject to externally imposed capital
requirements for (i) a subsidiary registered under the
Insurance Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
"“ICO") which are subject to the relevant minimum
capital requirement; and (ii) three subsidiaries which are
regulated entities under the SFO and subject to the relevant
minimum paid-up share capital and minimum liquid capital
requirements under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)R"). Management
closely monitors, on a daily basis, the capital level of these
entities to ensure compliance with the minimum capital
requirements under the SF(FR)R and ICO.

Particularly for the financial guarantee operation, the Group
monitors regularly the residual balance of outstanding
guarantees for single customers and multiples of the total
outstanding guarantees in relation to net assets and paid-in
capital of the subsidiary in the Group engaging in guarantee
business, so as to keep the capital risk within an acceptable
limit. The decision to manage the net assets and paid-in
capital of the subsidiary in the Group to meet the needs of
developing guarantee business rests with the directors.

The Group has no other material exposure to capital
requirements externally imposed with regard to the Group
other than described above.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
strategy remained unchanged. The Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as total
borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

48.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 48. B N[E B E IR ()
The management considers the gearing ratio at the year ERERRNFHEANERABLENT
ended date is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Total borrowings BEERT 279,085 241,881
(Deficit) equity attributable to owners of NRAFVEE ARL (B4 xS
the Company (166,349) 148,200
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE N/ATRE A 163%
Note: Bf=E -
As at 31 December 2022, the calculation of gearing ratio is not R-ZE-_—F+-A=Z+—H BERAEER
meaningful as the Group was in capital deficiency position. RERNBMARL WEFEEAEEBEEENE
BT Ko
Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings of the Group BEEHEEASE CRITELAEMEER RiEKe
as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. B PSR P AE32#E 58 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

49. 2@ T H

() eRITESE

2022 —EgE-
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial
Financial assets at Financial
assets at amortised assets at
FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
BAYE
BAYE b EC FTAHAD
FFABEZ  RAIERHN Z2EWEZ
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER THER THERT FTHET
Equity investments EEREAFHEGA
designated at FVTOCI HE2EKE
R & - - 4,938 4,938
Profit guarantee and i ARE RSB e
incentive payment 188,021 - - 188,021
Early redemption option on {2 R BB AR FE &
convertible notes EERE 6,905 = = 6,905
Loans and interest FEWE F R F B
receivables - 337,380 - 337,380
Loans to and interest BERT—IBEER
receivables from a R N U E R B
non-controlling interest - 36,148 - 36,148
Loans to and interest EXT—HEBERT
receivables from R FE U E 7 8
an associate - 497 - 497
Trade and other receivables  EUEBR 7% &2
Hofth WK1 - 104,612 - 104,612
Deposits B - 10,048 - 10,048
Pledged bank deposit BEEIFEITER - 5,653 - 5,653
Restricted bank deposits R HIRITE R - 14,202 - 14,202
Cash and cash equivalents & RIREEEY - 26,280 - 26,280
194,926 534,820 4,938 734,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

9.5/ T E (@)
(a) ¢RMIASE (&)

Financial liabilities cRAaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R
A5 B
HemesE
HK$'000
THT

Trade and other payables and deposits received JRE A~ R 3K K2 L i P Y RRIE
AR B WEE 80,045
Borrowings BE 279,085
Lease liabilities HE&E 11,553
Amount due to non-controlling interests JE AN FEIE i M 2 2 TRIE 9,497
Convertible notes AR IR 189,992
570,172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

492 F T A (@)
(a) ¢RI AL E (&)

2021 —E -4
Financial assets TREE
Financial
Financial assets at Financial
assets at amortised assets at
FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
NS -]
BRAFE g e STAEAM
FFABRZ KAYERE  2EREZ
THEE THEE TREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FET FAET
Equity investments EEREAFHEGA
designated at FVTOCI HE2EKE
R & - - 3,505 3,505
Profit guarantee and i ARE RSB e
incentive payment 144,513 - - 144,513
Unlisted investment funds ~ 3F FHIREES 4,866 = = 4,866
Early redemption option on 1R R E B AT R B 1%
convertible notes BER 16,025 = = 16,025
Loans and interest FEW E B
receivables - 342,298 - 342,298
Loans to and interest ERT—REERER
receivables from a REWEF B
non-controlling interest - 140,531 - 140,531
Loans to and interest ERT—RHBELT
receivables from R FE WL H 7 8
an associate - 1,260 - 1,260
Trade and other receivables  FEUBR X &%
Hofth WK1 - 77,609 - 77,609
Deposits Be - 77,319 - 77,319
Cash held on behalf of clients K EF##EH IR & - 807 = 807
Restricted bank deposits BRI RITER - 38,188 = 38,188
Cash and cash equivalents & RIREEEBY) - 47,936 - 47,936
165,404 725,948 3,505 894,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

492 F T A (@)
(a) ¢RMIASE (&)
SEmamE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

R 5

B AN 51) BR &9
TRBE
HK$'000
FET

R ST BR R e L At B AN SRR A %
R €76
=

Trade and other payables and deposits received
90,798
241,881
16,769
10,306
175,280

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Amount due to non-controlling interests
Convertible notes

\\\\\\

e IR B 25 2 TR
AR

535,034

(b) EREREEERREE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk
and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

The Group's risk management policies are designed
to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and
adherence to limits. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and procedures to reflect changes
in markets and products.

REEB 2 ZF5AGEZ AR B E R B %
FXBE RN G AEREED
[FIA2 Z 80 [\ B2 2 L B 4B & o AR HE AL B
DEMEBNZL MELRRSE
B RAlE R 2 R it AR E
HEIRRE R K O 8 2 I rE S T
VT EREREHANEEMBRIRZE

THEE-

7N 5% 181 1) 7E R B B KSR DA s Bl Be
FrABER REEERR LR LT
HEE ARERRRYEFE LR
AR e R BT 8 5T H A s 12 R
RNMBFIARBRTIZ REME(-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4.8 T E m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTOCI, profit guarantee and incentive
payment, unlisted investment funds, unlisted trust
fund, early redemption option on convertible notes,
loans and interest receivables, loans to and interest
receivables from a non- controlling interest, loans to and
interest receivables from an associate, trade and other
receivables, deposits, cash held on behalf of clients,
restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities,
amount due to a non-controlling interest and convertible
notes. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group has entered into financial guarantee contracts
in which it has guaranteed the lenders the repayment of
loans entered into by customers of the Group. The Group
has the obligation to compensate lenders for the losses
they would suffer if customers fail to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group has taken measures to identify credit risks
arising from financial guarantees issued. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage along the approval
process, including pre-transaction, in-transaction and
post-transaction monitoring processes. The Group
conducts due diligence and evaluates customers by
internal credit assessment system during the pre-approval
process. Financial guarantees issuance is subject to
approval of the management.

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group conducts on-site inspection and ongoing post
transaction reviews focusing on various aspects, including
but not limited to customers’ product markets, operating
income, assets and liabilities, cash flows from operating
activities to detect potential risks. The Group takes
proactive preventive actions based on the risk analysis
and design contingency plans accordingly.

When a certain number of customers undertake the
same business activities, stay in the same geographical
locations, or bear similar economic features for their
industries, their ability to fulfill contracts will be affected
by the same economic changes. Concentration of credit
risk reflects the sensitivity of the Group’s operating results
to specific industries or geographical locations. As the
Group mainly operates its financial guarantee businesses
in the PRC, there exists a certain level of geographical
concentration risk for its guarantee portfolios in that
it might be affected by changes in the PRC economic
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4.8 T E m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has a credit policy in place for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts on an ongoing
basis. The Group only extends credit to customers
based on careful evaluation of the customers’ financial
conditions and credit history. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring
credit terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments and current abilities to
pay and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as to the economic environment.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as 9% and
40% (2021: 17% and 52% concentration of credit risk)
of loans and interest receivables from loan financing
business was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively as at 31 December
2022. The management is of the view that the allowance
made is adequate taking into account the historical
experience in the collection of loans and interest
receivables from these largest customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 9% and
34% (2021: 7% and 33% concentration of credit risk) of
trade receivables from loan financing business was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively as at 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The credit risk on trade receivables from product
issuers in insurance brokerage service are considered
as insignificant taking into account the good market
reputations and high credit ratings of the counterparties.

The credit risk on cash held on behalf of clients, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks located in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

Impairment assessment policies

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual
outstanding amounts regularly depending on individual
circumstances or market conditions.

The management is responsible in developing and
maintaining the processes for measuring ECL, the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9. The Group
applies simplified approach to measure ECL on trade
receivables; and general approach to measure ECL on
other financial assets classified at amortised cost. Under
the simplified approach, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Under the
general approach, financial assets migrate through the
following three stages based on the change in credit risk
since initial recognition: Stage 1: 12-month ECL, Stage 2:
Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired and Stage 3: Lifetime
ECL - credit-impaired.

For such financial assets classified as Stages 1 and 2,
the management assesses loss allowances using the
risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates
key parameters, including PD, LGD and EAD. For credit-
impaired financial assets classified as Stage 3, the
management assesses the credit loss allowances by
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from
the financial assets.

Financial guarantees carry similar credit risk to loans and
the Group takes a similar approach on risk management.
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

The Group conducted an assessment of ECL according
to forward-looking information and used complex
models and assumptions in its expected measurement
of credit losses. These models and assumptions relate
to the future macroeconomic conditions and customer’s
creditworthiness (for example, the likelihood of default
by customers and the corresponding losses). The
Group adopts judgement, assumptions and estimation
techniques in order to measure ECL according to the
requirements of accounting standards such as:

(i) Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since initial recognition at each reporting
date. While determining whether the credit risk
has significantly increased since initial recognition
or not, our Group takes into account reasonable
and substantiated information that is accessible
without exerting unnecessary cost or effort, including
gualitative and quantitative analysis based on the
historical data of the Group, credit rating grade, and
forward-looking information. Based on the single
financial instrument or the combination of financial
instruments with similar characteristics of credit risk,
the Group compares the risk of default of financial
instruments on the reporting date with that on the
initial recognition date in order to figure out the
changes of default risk in the expected lifetime of
financial instruments.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 49. R T B ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk when
one or more of the following quantitative, qualitative
or backstop criteria have been met:

e Quantitative criteria: At the reporting date, the
increase in remaining lifetime probability of
default is considered significant comparing with
the one at initial recognition.

e Qualitative criteria: Significant adverse change in
debtor’s operation or financial status.

For loans to margin clients and loans receivables,
the number of days past due and loan-to-collateral
value were used to estimate significant increase in
credit risk. Other financial assets at amortised cost
use number of days past due as determinant of credit
risk.

(i) Definition of credit-impaired financial asset

e Internal rating of the debtor indicating default or
near-default;

e Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
customer;

e The debtor leaves any of the receivables of the
Group overdue for more than 365 days;

e |t is becoming probable that the customer will
enter bankruptcy or other financial restructuring;

e The credit impairment on a financial asset may be
caused by the combined effect of multiple events
and may not be necessarily due to a single event.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 9.8 T E s

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment of
assets, the Group measures the impairment loss for
different assets with ECL of 12 months or the entire
lifetime respectively. The key measuring parameters of
ECL include probability of default (“PD"), loss given
default (“"LGD") and exposure at default (“"EAD"). The
Group takes into account the quantitative analysis
of historical statistics (such as internal rating grade,
manners of guarantees and types of collaterals,
repayments, etc.) and forward-looking information in
order to establish the model of PD, LGD and EAD.

e PD refers to the possibility that the debtor will
not be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment
over the next 12 months or throughout the entire
remaining lifetime. For loans to margin clients
and loans receivable, the Group estimates PD
by the internal credit ratings. For other financial
assets at amortised cost the PD is adjusted based
on the credit rating of comparable companies
operating in similar businesses.

e LGD refers to the Group's expectation of the
extent of the loss resulting from the default
exposure. Depending on the type of counterparty,
the method and priority of the recourse,
past default experience and the realisation
of collaterals, the LGD varies. The LGD is the
percentage of loss of risk exposure at the time of
default, calculated over the next 12 months or
over the entire remaining lifetime.

e EAD is the amount that the Group should be
reimbursed at the time of the default in the next
12 months or throughout the entire remaining
lifetime.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(iv) Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk
and the calculation of ECL both involve forward-
looking information. Through the analysis of
historical data, the Group identifies the key economic
indicators that affect the credit risk and ECL.

Credit risk exposure

Trade receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on accounts receivables individually or based on

provision matrix.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

rating

RESECGE

Description

o

49. 2/ T B (&)
(b) 2R EMEEEERKE (&)

=B R E G (48)
SERREEER (8)
(iv) RIREIEE #

1= & B B8 32 08I0 w0 BT 1 K2 B
EEBBENFED S RAELE

Fe-AEBEBETELBED
o BAlE e EERR RIFEHIE
EF?T@E’JF%%U%/@‘ETHTT

JE U BR K
AEBEZERRUKEENEREEE

BRI SR IB B AR [ TTRE R

AEBEBIEOABEERRERE
AN ER -

Basis of recognition of
ECL provision

BRAARCEBEERB AL

Grade A
AR
Grade B
BAk

Grade C

CH

Grade D
D4k

Grade E

E4

The counterparty has a low risk of default and

does not have any past-due amounts
RBHFEORR

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but

usually settles in full

BEHABRIREHAMRER HEREREEE

There has been significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

2 X B EAEAa A& 5

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
EHEREEEBEE - REERE
Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
¥ 2HEHBEEFRE-KREERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

BBAFREIINFRRZER BT HRR 2HEMEEBE-KREERE

T:l_f\f Nsﬁj:[l]ﬂﬂj:ﬂ_

There is evidence indicating the debtor is
credit-impaired

FRBEBRRAEBACDEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
cHEREEERE EEERE

Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no

realistic prospect of recovery

Eﬁﬁiﬁf\{,ﬁ“}\ﬁak}ﬂéﬂﬁ’ﬁﬁZlK;‘%El?é & B A

Ui [ SR IR O R S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As part of the Group’'s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix
within lifetime ECL. Debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts
of HK$45,202,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:

49.%F% FHQI
(b) <& &3 B

1= E/E

15 B /7

(%)

ERERBEREE (&)

ik O (48)

JE U R K

(%)

ERAEBEEER
$$l/ﬁﬁiﬁ§£@ﬁ%2%\ﬁfﬁﬁw

=g e

EEF R - TRANZHEH

2 2 K Bl e AT A (AR

/\ En EEZ__LB

J?Eﬁ?% £ EANRIERERRET G Z W

R EERBRMOER - NEE
Eﬂ,ﬁ:ﬁéﬁﬂifaﬁ EREHEREE
MEEBUER(R_FE-__F+=

A=+—H Z2# K MHEE /45,202,000

HK$60,230,000) were assessed individually. /%TE) (Z=Z=——%:60,230,000/&7T)
HEITE B -
2022
— =g
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEER RIREE EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FTET
Grade A AR 0.0 84 -
Grade B BAk 9.2 8,324 767
Grade C C#& N/ATE A - -
Grade D DA% 77.3 45,202 34,933
2021
—E-—F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHEE X BEREE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FHET
Grade A ALl 0.0 132 =
Grade B BAk 7.6 7,102 537
Grade C C# N/A 3 FH - -
Grade D DA% 66.1 60,230 39,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided HK$30,179,000 (2021: HK$36,340,000)
impairment loss for trade receivables, based on
the provision matrix. Impairment allowance of
HK$29,413,000 (2021: HK$33,397,000) was made on
debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired
debtors.

492 F T A (@)
(b) tRERESEEERKRE (&)

1= B /a5 R s EFF I (48)

EERERHO (&)

FEU AR K (&)

BMABREDRBEEABESHZE
H) R IR R 2 TR RT F Hi ST X3t
BEELBE 2K ASE HRNA BLF
ZHAEEERMELRAE - DR ERE
B 7€ H 2= B LA BE R 6 BRI O B W PR K
ZHEBERGRER-

HE_ZTZ-_—_"F+-_A=+—HILHF
§ ANEER S FEE MR E U RN
5+4230,179,0008 Tt (—&T = —
36,340,000/ ) 2 BB E B EE - 5L
BEEEREHENREERBEZEK
AR FXVE H B9 R (B #E 1 529,413,000%8
7T (Z& = —4%:33,397,000/& 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4.8 T E m)

(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 BE/E b R w E S (B)
EEREEHO (&)
FEWBR R (48)

T%Wm@ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%% 5 B
RZ2UNBHEEFHBE

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

240

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(Non-credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HEH
FEEE FEBR
(REERE) (BEERE) #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
As at 1 January 2021 N_E-_—F—H—H 4,810 21,871 26,681
Changes in financial instruments R-TE-Z—F—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2021: BRzemITAZE:
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EREEERE (4,155) 4155 -
— Impairment losses, net of —REEE (HkR
reversal recognised EHEREE) 2,943 33,397 36,340
Write-offs 5 - (23,528) (23,528)
Exchange realignment DEE 3, 8 B (3,061) 3,943 882
As at 31 December 2021 and R-T - —F
1 January 2022 TZRA=+—Hk
—ET--F—-H—H 537 39,838 40,375
Changes in financial instruments i S R =
recognised as at 1 January 2022: BRZeMIAR
— Transfer to credit-impaired —ERFEERE (495) 495 -
— Impairment losses, net of —REEE (HkR
reversal recognised ERREE) 766 29,413 30,179
Write-offs 3 - (31,688) (31,688)
Exchange realignment DEE 3, 8 B (41) (3,125) (3,166)
As at 31 December 2022 i =
+-A=+—H 767 34,933 35,700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49. 2/ T B (&)

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans and interest receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on loans and interest receivables individually.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

(b) = &= B2

EERBEREE (&)

1= B /a5 R s EFF I (48)
EERERHO (&)
R E TR A E

AEEREBREEBHBRRI L EWR
ERNANEEFETREMN G-

5 87 B AT £ ) PO 2 LR 2 9
TSI

Basis of recognition of

rating Description ECL provision
R AR 1S B PR bR BARHEERERBEE
Stage 1 There has not been a significant increase in credit  12-month ECL

risk since initial recognition and that are not

credit-impaired upon origination.
FIFEER B Y1 HERENEER
ﬁﬁﬁEAMEMIﬂ°

SWEBREEMARELE 2EARBEEEFRE-—REEM

(=]
Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

BEE 2HEMEERE-REERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

2HRMEERRE-CEERE

Amount is written off

Stage 2 There has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition but are not credit-
impaired.

2Pk By B ZERENEERRBELM
ERERDE D

Stage 3 There have been one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cashflows of that asset have occurred.

E3MEER BRI GHZEEMARKRR EREBEN T
N —HNFEEH-

Stage 4 There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.

FARBER Bl BEBAREBABARENMBEEE MASE S EEMH

= B PR Bl #) A BRI -

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss
rates based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the customers to the loans and interest receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided impairment loss of HK$10,130,000 (2021:
HK$64,784,000) for loans and interest receivables.

AN ) AR B MR S T 4 B
MEIOE L 2 0E Y BREE
AR R BAEET U ER LR

RO TRIED HIRIEA N L8P
SR I R F) 8.5 E I
B R B -

HE-_Z-_—_"F+-_A=+—HLHF
& ANEBEHEREREFEF R
EE1E 510,130,000 T (Z 2B = —
£F 1 64,784,000/ 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4.8 T E m)

(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1EEE R R EF G (8)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans and interest receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the exposure of ECL for loans
and interest receivables under the general approach:

EERERHO (&)

R ERLFE (&)

TRINTRE —RITERERETR K
NMEZEHEEBERA

2022
—E-—

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

EIRE SE2REEY E3RE At

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx TER FEx FTERT

Loans and interest receivables & U & Z & A1 2 193,054 68,514 291,425 552,993

Less: Impairment allowance R ERE S (2,221) (4,271) (209,121) (215,613)
Loans and interest receivables, JEUWE Z & F| 2 -

net of impairment allowance 0B 8 {8 B 18 190,833 64,243 82,304 337,380

2021
—E-—F

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

F1REER F2REER EIRER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET FAET FET

Loans and interest receivables  [E U E & F & 264,891 34,167 266,205 565,263

Less: Impairment allowance 38 : BB B (6,879) (4,942) (211,144) (222,965)
Loans and interest receivables, EWE K F 2. -

net of impairment allowance  F0BR A (B B & 258,012 29,225 55,061 342,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that other receivables and
deposits, other than default payment receivables, have no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. Default payment receivables related
to customers or other parties that in financial difficulties,
the management assessed that the receivables are not
expected to be fully recovered and were determined to
be stage 3 lifetime ECL credit-impaired.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits,
an impairment loss of HK$90,125,000 (2021:
HK$90,581,000) was recognised in the profit or loss.

Loans to and interest receivables from a non-controlling
interest

During the year, there is indicator significantly increases
the uncertainty of recoverability for the loans to and
interest receivables from this non-controlling interest.
In view of these circumstances, the directors have given
careful consideration and performed assessment on
the future recoverability of the loans to and interest
receivables from this non-controlling interest. The Group
has made impairment allowances of HK$117,594,000 in
total as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$116,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for loans to and interest receivables
from a non-controlling interest, an impairment loss of
HK$117,501,000 (2021: HK$68,000) was recognised in
the profit or loss.

492 F T A (@)
(b) tRERESEEERKRE (&)

1= B /a5 R s EFF I (48)
EERERHO (&)
H R WK IR R iR

EMERFERREME  EEE
KEBTHEECH BELBLEEE
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B r AT B 1T E BT B IR
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FEWCE A 5K B M FRERAREE
B = B 3 & K08 00 AN R B R IR
1218 AFEMEEE R RME &
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BRENNZME EEEBFEXSF
FE W R 1B B A B B E - W EE E
ZERMHRIAREIME R 2 HTRHIE
EFBR-CRAEFERE

HE_ZT-_—_F#+-_A=+—HL
FE - ANEE G EMEWEIE R IR
CHWBEHEERE RNEBEZERBE
E51890,125,0008 Tt (T = —F:
90,581,000/ 7T ) °

BT — IR IF RO s DA K R YL A

=]

15N

FR-BPRETWE R ZIBIEZR
ERRHMNERREREF ST E
EMAREN -ERNEBABR EEE
RIEEBE LT IEMZIBEIEERELRR
fH#) B FR FE WCE R B /9 R 2R A Y [
MR T —_F+-_A=+—H" =K
SEFIRBRERES 117,594,000
T (ZTEZ—%:116,00087T) °

HE - —"F+-_A=+—HIHF
B AEEFHERT —BIETRE
mAREREFENEHEESSE:
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans to and interest receivables from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associates. The Group’s credit risks in these
balances are mitigated through the value of the assets
held by these entities and the power to participate the
relevant activities of these entities. The management
believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12 months expected
losses method.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for loans to and interest receivables
from an associate, a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$18,000 (2021: HK$2,399,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 492/ T B ()

(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

=B ER KB E G (8)
EERERHO (&)

ST — S R RIA R EWE R B

REEFEHERBEARNRBERE -
AEERZEEHRNEERREBZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE
49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 49/ T H ()
(b) cREKREEBEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Other financial assets

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bank
balances, restricted bank deposit and cash held on
behalf of clients. The Group accounts for its credit risk
by appropriately providing for expected losses on a
timely basis. In calculating the expected loss rates, the
Group considers historical loss rates for each category
of other financial assets and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed
that the expected credit loss rate is immaterial under
12 months expected losses method. Thus, no loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost was
recognised.

Financial guarantee issued

At 31 December 2022, the total maximum amount
of financial guarantee issued was HK$1,135,245,000
(2021: HK$2,467,825,000). After considering the
deposits received from guarantee customers of amount
HK$8,582,000 (2021: HK$56,955,000), the maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of the financial
guarantees issued and outstanding amounted to
HK$1,126,663,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$2,410,870,000).

1= B /a5 R s EFF I (48)
EERERHO (&)

Hitt e mEE

REBHK AT ENEMEMEERR
RITHER XRBRTEFREAEP
FANRE AEEEBRKEE M
BB EREREEEEFER
e Nt ERBBEXE AEEEE
SRNNEMEREENBEBER
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=t+—H AEBERBE12EABEHE
BA A HEREEBERY TEKR-
Eit WERERIZEEKXAGTENEH
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EHHNBEERF

N-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8 2%
H R E R RS 2% A1,135,245,000
BT (ZEFE=-—%:2,467,825,000
BIL) R ERERKXRBEREF
% %68,582,0008 L (=& = —F:
56,955,000 L) WX €& BEE
BEHRAEEREERR_-_ZT ==
F+_-_A=+—BHE=EEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

(ir)

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk as most of its monetary assets
and monetary liabilities are denominated in the
functional currency of the individual group entity.
The management is of the opinion that the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
Accordingly, no foreign exchange risk sensitivity
analysis is presented. The significant balance carried
in the translation reserve account is occasioned by
the translation of the financial statements of the
Group’s subsidiaries into the presentation currency of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group at
each reporting date.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to borrowings, lease liabilities, convertible
notes and loans receivables. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to receivables from variable-rate cash and margin
clients, restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. However,
the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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(b) tREREEEERRE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 49. 2@ T A (®)
(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued) SRR (&)
(if)_Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIZEREE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivative financial instruments at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible changes in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2021:
100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the net effect of Group’s post-

TXHBRERED>TIIERIETE
%@Iﬂ%ﬁ¢%$%ﬁmﬂ”
[B\Be 1 EE TE o o AT TH R ER PR ¥R 45 HA
RKERBEENEMTAREREF
ERRBEMRE METEERE
A B B RE F = @& B 5 100
HEE(ZZ - —F:100&E2) N L
AXTHR HLAEEEHMNEKES
Bo g EMT A MAI R EHS
TER100E2 (Z T = —F: 100&
) M EEMEHERFTTE
BlAERRNEBEE S -_—_F+=
A=+—BLFENKEEZEIR
RF R E AR 111,934,000

tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 BT (ZTZ—%:2,595,000%
would decrease/increase by HK$1,934,000 (2021: TT) e
HK$2,595,000).

(iff) Equity price risk R 1B 7 S

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities which are
classified as financial assets at FVTOCI. The fair value
of these financial instruments will be affected either
positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the closing market prices of the relevant
listed equity securities. The Group’s listed investments
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
and in PRC. Listed investments held in the portfolio
have been chosen based on their longer term
growth potential and are monitored regularly for
performance against expectations. The management
manages this risk exposure by maintaining a portfolio
of investments with different risk and return profiles
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

AEEKRERI BIZAFETTA
EmerAKENEemEEN LT
e RE S BAmEASRERE- %
TeRmTAEMAFERLREA (K4
BIE)HBELETRABFRUMEZ
BEMII MK BEETE A&
By FMREREEBIM AR
BEm-RBEEGFRHEZLMERE
DERERRERBEIMEER
EHERHEAERERCRR-F
BEESBERRAREDRSEN
WEHEUNEBZERR TR
B E B R ERER R R
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4.8 T E m)

(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the
reporting period. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/
lower, and held other variables constant, the other
component of equity of the Group would increase/
decrease by HK$412,000 (2021: HK$292,000), as
a result of changes in the fair value of listed equity
securities.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined by
assuming that the price change had occurred at the
reporting date and has been applied to the Group's
investments at that date. In the management’s
opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent price risk as the exposure at the end of
the reporting period does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, and
to ensure compliance with SF(FR)R. In the management
of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents and credit facilities
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitors the current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants regularly to ensure sufficient
working capital are maintained and adequate committed
lines of funding from reputable financial institutions meet
its liquidity requirement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOL

For the year ended

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liguidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Liquidity table
As at 31 December 2022

IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE
49. 2 T H (@)
(b) cEEAMEEBEEREE (B)

mEBETERE (B)

TRERBEAMEASNIHBENR
BRERKGASENFTECRBES
BREBERAMARETIIT TRI
BNEBE/ANATRRAETRE

HHEE

R=B-—f+=-A=+-8

Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than 1-3 3 months 1year to More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 2 years 2 years cash flows amount
M RERH AFRRE
BEBAE SR-EA -Z=@F =fEAZ-F& -E£Z@E BEWF RELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR TER TER TERT
Non-derivative financial ~ £ & BAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables and FE {7 8% 7 & £ th JE
deposits received REREKES - 53,820 2,240 15,267 = = 71,327 71,327
Borrowings - fixed rate BE-T& 7.24% 1,652 3,132 95,514 183,365 17,321 300,984 279,085
Lease liabilities HEAR 6.59% 649 1,174 5,606 2,355 2,845 12,629 11,553
Amount due to R FEERER
non-controlling interests - 9,497 - - - - 9,497 9,497
Convertible notes ARRER 8.22% - - - - 234,000 234,000 189,992
65,618 6,546 116,387 185,720 254,166 628,437 561,454
Guarantees issued SHEENER
Maximum amount BRERRE
guaranteed - 352,774 51,762 729,744 811 154 1,135,245 1,135,245
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-ZT - —

FT-A=T—RHILFE

. A=Y s
49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 9.5 T E (%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) eREMREEEERBEE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B EEE (&)
Liquidity table (Continued) TEETx (B
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZFEZ_—F+H=+—H
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than 1-3 3 months 1 year to More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 2 years 2 years cash flows amount
T rESE ARRSE
ERA=E SRR —2=ff Z@AAE-F% —5ZmE BARF mEBE HEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET TR TR THT THT FET
Non-derivative financial FTEERAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables and &5 i 37 & E Aty fE
deposits received RARERE YIRS - 42,552 - 12,269 35,977 - 90,798 90,798
Borrowings - fixed rate EE-ER 7.99% 1,620 3,240 76,134 154,480 35,987 271,461 241,881
Lease liabilities HERRE 6.60% 321 860 5,442 6,585 5,514 18,722 16,769
Amount due to ERFEERER
non-controlling interests - 10,306 - - - - 10,306 10,306
Convertible notes THRERE 8.22% - - - - 234,000 234,000 175,280
54,799 4,100 93,845 197,042 275,501 625,287 535,034
Guarantees issued BIELMER
Maximum amount BRERRE
guaranteed - 103,187 90,071 1,848,916 425,651 - 2,467,825 2,467,825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

50.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 50. 2 FEEFTE
(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at (i) AREMEEZRAFTEFENESRE
fair value on a recurring basis ENRAFEE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair AEEBHEMEER S MEHREZ
value at the end of each reporting period. The following AVEFE - TREHRNAETZSE
table gives information about how the fair values of TREEZATENER (LARK
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the e fEERM & ASE) -
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 R-ZBZZH5+=ZA=+—-HHA¥
BEEHK
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& -t 1] E=R #at

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TET TET TET TET

Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BATESAEMEE
WHzemEE:
- Listed equity securities (note a) — ETIRRAE S (Ffzta) 4,938 - - 4,938
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEAERZ
— Profit guarantee and incentive  — i FI/{R & &
payment (note b) HEE (Kizkb) - - 188,021 188,021
— Early redemption option on —RERME A ®RER
convertible notes (note c) EERE (Matc) - - 6,905 6,905
Total FE 4,938 - 194,926 199,864
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HHAF
BEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ F_& E= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
Financial assets cHEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BAFEFAEMEZE
Wiz EREE
— Listed equity securities (note a) — E M RRANEH (Ff3Fa) 3,505 - = 3,505
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEFAERZ
— Profit guarantee and incentive  — & I/ {R 3& &
payment (note b) AEE (Mtb) - - 144,513 144,513
— Unlisted investment funds —FLMEREES (MFEd)
(note d) - 4,866 - 4,866
— Early redemption option on —REBE T RRER
convertible notes (note ) SRR (Matc) - - 16,025 16,025
Total st 3,505 4,866 160,538 168,909
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

50.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 50. A FEETE (&)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, financial
assets measured at FVTOCI amounting to HK$8,369,000
were reclassified from level 1 to level 3 as these listed
securities have been delisted.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Notes:

(@) The valuation techniques and key inputs used of the listed
equity securities, classified as the financial assets at FVTOCI,
for Level 1 fair value measurement are quoted bid prices in
an active market.

(b) The fair value of the profit guarantee and incentive
payment relating to the acquisition of Xin Yunlian Group
is based on the valuations performed by an independent
professional valuer, using a Monte Carlo simulation, which
are reviewed by and approved by the directors of the
Company.

As the guaranteed profits covers a period of more than
one year, there are more interactions to be assessed for the
results. Monte Carlo simulation is therefore adopted as the
simulation that produces distribution of possible outcome
values. By assuming probability distributions, variables can
have different probabilities of different outcomes occurring.
Probability distributions are a much more realistic way of
describing uncertainty in variables of the result.

A decrease in the probability of fulfilment of guaranteed
profits would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of profit guarantee and incentive payment
and a decrease in discount rate would result in an increase
in the fair value measurement of profit guarantee and
incentive payment, and vice versa.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the profit guarantee and incentive payment are
based on the management’s best estimates. The value of
the profit guarantee and incentive payment varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
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50.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-ZT - —F+-_A=+—HIEFE

50. N FEETE (#)

() AREMEERAFEFENSEME

fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The key inputs used of financial assets at FVTPL — profit
guarantee and incentive payment in relation to the
acquisition of the Xin Yunlian Group for the Level 3 fair
value measurement at the end of reporting period are as
follows:

Significant unobservable inputs

IETABREARE

Volatility g
Discount rate Wi =
Time (in year) RS (324E)

Due to the variety of basis of determination used in the
profit forecast of Xin Yunlian Group, it is not practicable to
provide any meaningful sensitivity in relation to the critical
assumptions concerning future profitability of the acquired
business and the potential impact on the fair value changes
on financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee and incentive
payments at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of redemption option on convertible notes
of HK$6,905,000 (2021: HK$16,025,000) is based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer,
using Crank-Nicolson finite-difference method, which are
reviewed and approved by the directors of the Company.

An increase in risk-free rate would result in decrease in
fair value measurement of early redemption option on
convertible notes, vice versa. An increase in volatility
would result in increase in fair value measurement of early
redemption option on convertible notes, vice versa.

The significant unobservable input in relation to early
redemption option on convertible notes for the level 3 fair
value measurement at the end of reporting period are as
follows:

Significant unobservable inputs

IBRFTAEERARE
Volatility S IS
Risk-free rate IR =

B FE (3R F)

Time to maturity (in year)

ENDFE(E)
s : (&)

(b)

(%)

RBERR RE=ZRQFEFEM
SEBUNBEHEREENR O ER

ABRZEREE—SHNRBRID
AT ZHASENAT:
2022 Range 2021 Range
—EC-FEHHE —E--FEHE
59.42% 68.28%
14.80% 4.64%
2.00 3.00

m A AR T E R EE N TR M EE
EMZBETR BAKAIERHRE B
AU BRCRBXEHZRKB NG

RERFEFABRZEREE 2
MEBLRBBEAFELS ZBER
ENBEABRKRMELETAMAERNHK
RE DT

BRARBEEEEEN QT
6,905,000t (= &E = —F:
16,025,000/ 70) I IREB L EE A
B Ef (& FHCrank-Nicolson’g [R 2 7 %k i
T URARRESEH R EMNG
BET-

EE R AR LTSS R T O A
REREEENQFEAERD R
ZIR O RIBIE NG SRR R E D A]
BRREBEEENQFEERM
RZINR -

MRBEPRR RE=RAFEFEM
FEEREBEENAUAKRERERRED
TEFAEEHABEBNT

2022 Range 2021 Range
“ROCHFHE 2 —E--FHE
34.29% 22.63%

4.31% 1.05%

2.58 3.58
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

50.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) The fair value of an unlisted investment fund established
in the Cayman Islands as at 31 December 2021 of
HK$4,866,000 is determined based on the net asset value
quoted by the fund administrator. The net asset value
of the fund is based on the quoted market price of the
underlying listed investment.

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

50. N F{EE = (&)
() AEEMEERATENBNSRE
EWATE (H)
Mizk: (&)

(d) NEASHERIZIFLITREESN
—E-—E+-A=+—8BMATE
4,866,000 L2 E RS ER AR
R BEEFEET ZEEHWEETF
BENERBEELMEENTISRELE

;'_Eo

(i) F=RAFEFAEZHRK

Financial
assets at
FvTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
BAFERA
Htt2E K E
ZEREE BERPEFABEZERERE
- Profit - Early
guarantee  redemption
- Unlisted and option on
- Equity investment - Unlisted incentive  convertible
interest fund  trust fund payment notes Total
-REER
-¥Ltm —kEm  -EFRE  TAREER
-RA&ER REES EREs 8- kA BERE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—-%F—f—H - 1,695 244 26,309 15,380 43,628
Transfers into level 3 BAE=® 8,369 - - - - 8,369
Disposal/redemption &/ EE = (542) (182) = = (724)
Realised loss recognised in profit or loss MEZERNE ZEEE - (1,177) = = = (1,177)
Change in fair value recognised BERANATEED
—in profit or loss -RER - - (65) 118,204 645 118,784
—in other comprehensive income -REMZ2ERE (8,487) = = = = (8,487)
Exchange realignment [ 5L 3% 118 24 3 - - 145
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—§+-A=+—-A S S S 144,513 16,025 160,538
Change in fair value recognised BRHATLES
~in profit or loss —RBE& - - - 43,508 (9,120) 34,388
At 31 December 2022 RZFEZZF+ZR=+—H - - - 188,021 6,905 194,926

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(i) EFUQXFEIIBHNEREEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZ T - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

51.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group and the
Company did not have any significant capital commitments.

52.GUARANTEE ISSUED

At 31 December 2022, the total maximum amount of
financial guarantees issued was RMB1,004,020,000
(approximately HK$1,135,245,000) (2021:
RMB2,011,431,000 (approximately HK$2,467,825,000)).
The total maximum amount of financial guarantees issued
represents the maximum potential loss amount that would
be recognised if counterparties failed completely to perform
as contracted.

53.CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent assets or liabilities as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 other than those described
in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements.

54.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the reporting period.

55.COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current period presentation.

51.8 AN IE

RIB__FR-_FE_—F+HA=1+—
B RNEBE RARQ RN EE R EKRE AR
’e

52.0 %% B AR

R-ZE-_—_F+_A=+—HB 2%tz
BERERm= B A ARKY1,004,020,0007T
(#91,135,245,0008 L) (ZZE=-—F: A
R #2,011,431,0007T ( 492,467,825,000/%
m)) ERLMEERESRBEAMWETF

ERBHE TRANKANBEEES
%ﬁo

3SR EBEMNEE

B E P BRERMFS2MMEIN R ZF

::E&_ZC:—EJr_H_Jr H 7

EEVTESEANAEEREE-
54.¥R5HA1E =18

B ¥R &S BB AR AR I E 2 AT R RN

AIMEAEIE-

55. L BB T

ETUHRBFEET D EUFE RNEREN
E75l)e
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBEHME

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
—E-CE —E-—F k<t 52 —hE T—N\F
t+=A=+-B +zZA=+—-H +zZA=+—-H +zZA=+—-HB +ZA=+-H
LEE HEE HEE HFE EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR THIT THT
RESULTS E4
Revenue N 201,951 284,867 392,320 151,005 152,595
Cost of sales HEKA (107,680) (122,441) (279,008) (62,402) (56,703)
Gross profit EH 94,271 162,426 113,312 88,603 95,892
Other income, gains and losses Hip A s RIE#E 75,491 163,848 37,544 63,476 30,923
Administrative and other THREMEERY
operating expenses (86,979) (109,561) (126,060) (141,642) (115,836)
Share-based payment expenses AR (S ZBR Y (1,787) (4,599) (13) = (40,313)
Provision for financial quarantees, ~ B EEREHE (KR ER)
net of reversal (70,516) (120,977) (122,544) (84,120) (1,302)
Finance costs R A (35,816) (29,244) (14,226) (8,232) (11,560)
Impairment loss, net of reversal AEEE (MEREE) (239,236) (176,049) (147,323) (18,384) (7,523)
Impairment loss on goodwil BB REES (117,963) (98,549) (32,722) (111,257) (7,143)
Impairment loss on intangible asset & EE 2 REEE - (1,618) (5,722) =
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {if F & & & 2 BB &8 (426) (12,981) (7,607) = =
Loss before tax BT A0 BB (382,961) (225,686) (301,257) (217,278) (56,862)
Income tax (expenses) credit PEH (R HE (14,964) 23,925 (21,021) 10,883 (1,741)
(Loss) profit for the year N (EB)EF (397,925) (201,761) (322,278) (206,395) (58,603)
Attributable to; AT AT
Owners of the Company AREHEAA (326,213) (202,592) (335,628) (206,395) (58,603)
Non-controlling interests FRRER (71,712) 831 13,350 = =
(397,925) (201,761) (322,278) (206,395) (58,603)
31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
o -3 —E-F S -3 T—NF T—-N\F
+=A=+-B +z=ZA=+-B +z=ZA=+-HB +z=ZA=+-B +=ZA=1+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FiET FEL THL THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
Total assets BEE 975,248 1,300,600 1,286,657 786,027 910,656
Total liabilities BERE (1,010,759) (933,457) (724,233) (334,290) (246,031)
Non-controlling interests RS (130,838) (218,943) (213,747) = =
(Deficit) equity attributable to owners KA A BE A A
of the Company e (B4 xR (166,349) 148,200 348,677 451,737 664,625
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